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SCOPE OF 
THIS REPORT

MICROmega’s first annual integrated report covers the group’s 
financial and non-financial performance for the financial year ended 
31 December 2011 and includes an outlook on the group’s economic, 
social and environmental position while setting out the challenges 
and opportunities for the year ahead. The board of directors of 
MICROmega trust that this report enables all stakeholders to make an 
informed assessment on MICROmega’s ability to enhance and create 
meaningful, profitable and sustainable value in the future.

The information reported on in MICROmega’s 2011 annual integrated 
report encompasses all subsidiaries and associated companies over 
which MICROmega has direct management control. The content of 
the annual report has been informed by stakeholder expectations, 
internal risk management processes, the principles of the King III 
report, the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the Companies Act and 
the International Financial Reporting Standards.

This inaugural annual integrated report evidences MICROmega’s 
commitment to aligning the group’s business practices with the 
principles of King III and MICROmega will ensure continual 
improvement on the application of the principles in the forthcoming 
years. 

2011
A look into the financial

statements of MICROmega 

Holdings Limited and its 

subsidiaries for the year ended 

31 December 2011

www.micromega.co.za
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OUR VISION, 
STRATEGY 
AND VALUES

Enabling investment opportunities through 
innovation and support services

OUR VISION

OUR STRATEGY

Our group operates across defined market sectors with 
interests in six core businesses. Within each business we 
reinforce our competitive positioning by:
• focusing on unique market offerings that create 

value, resulting in wealth generation;
• investing heavily in R&D and being first to market 

with product innovation;
• meeting the needs of our diverse customers and 

assisting them with continuously evolving market 
conditions and government regulations; and

• supporting this growing client base with sound 
management and highly skilled technical teams.

OUR VALUES

Our group is characterised by sound management, 
strongly supported by an experienced technical 
team. Communication is essential to ensuring our 
geographically widespread staff complement has a 
sense of unity. Strong and long-standing relationships 
with customers are testament to the exceptional service 
we pride ourselves on. 

Our business model, which leverages our diverse experience and 
technology, differentiates us from other investment companies. By 
applying our intellectual and technological capacity, combined with 
our hands on approach, ensures the continuing growth and success of 
our core operating subsidiaries.

To grow our business we continue to invest heavily in product 
innovation and provide exceptional service, backed by the specialised 
knowledge of our people.

OUR VALUE 
PROPOSITION

exceptional 
service 

growth 
and 

success

investment 
in product 
innovation 

experience 
and 

technology 

o
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MICROmega HOLDINGS LIMITED

GROUP AT A GLANCE
o

R775m
REVENUE

748
EMPLOYEES    

NOSA provides occupational health, safety and environmental 
risk management services and is the exclusive provider of both 
the NOSA Integrated Five Star Grading System and SAMTRAC.

MECS Africa is a service orientated business that alleviates the 
considerable burden of manpower management by offering an 
integrated human resource solution to a diverse client base.

MICROmega Securities is an inter-dealer broker (IDB), providing 
a specialist intermediary broking service to commercial banks, 
investment banks, stock brokers as well as reputable trading 
entities in the wholesale financial markets.

Deltec Power Distributors is a leading distributor of a wide 
variety of high quality imported maintenance-free batteries.

Sebata Municipal Solutions provides integrated technology 
solutions, enterprise management systems and multidisciplinary 
professional services to municipalities, public entities, Provincial 
Government and the private sector.

Turrito is a converged communication provider delivering 
MPLS networks, hosting facilities, internet and cloud computing 
services to the corporate and SMME markets. 
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Revenue  13.7% to R775.5m 

Profit from continuing operations  61.9% to R41.0m 

Headline earnings per share  27.2% to 20.94 cents 

Headline earnings per share: Continuing operations  28.7% to 38.98 cents 

Net asset value per share  4.5% to 307.11 cents 

RESULTS AT A GLANCE
o

* Turrito does not feature as it made a loss in 2011. Turrito is however 
expected to make a contribution in 2012.

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
VERSUS DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

CONTINUING OPERATIONS SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 
OF CONTRIBUTION TO EARNINGS BY COMPANY

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 
o

Sebata Municipal Solutions

MECS Africa

Deltec Power Distributors

NOSA

MICROmega Securities

-20

-10

0

10

20

30

40

Continuing 
Operations

Discontinued
Operations

Headline earnings 
for the year

37 322

R
 m

il
li

on
s

-17 277

20 045

MICROmega Holdings Limited – Annual Integrated Report 2011   5



INVESTMENT CASE
o

MICROmega is a holding company with controlling interests in a 
number of operating subsidiaries. Our businesses are primarily 
focused on the provision of information technology, financial, 
occupational health & safety and labour supply services. MICROmega 
is a public company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange under 
the support services sector. 

WHERE IS MICROmega TODAY? 
•  Advancing from a position of restructuring and consolidation 
•  Engaging stakeholders 
•  Driving strong growth 

OUR BELIEFS 
•  Long term sustainability 
•  Meet or exceed targets 
•  Wealth generation 

OUR METRICS 
•  Share gains 
•  Revenue growth 
•  Healthy cash flow 
•  Expanding operating margins 

Investing in innovation. Inspiring success

RIPPLE EFFECT™
The
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OVERVIEW OF GROUP OPERATIONS DURING 2011
• Building a base for earnings delivery
• Focus on information technology and our traditional support 

service operations
• Rationalisation of products and services was key to sustainability 

in our public sector client base
• Consolidation of our core businesses was integral to our ability to 

reduce overheads and grow margins
• Disposals or closure of non-profit making operations
• Investing in infrastructure was essential for us to effectively service 

our Southern African customers

PROSPECTS FOR 2012
• No overhang from discontinued operations carried over into 2012
• NOSA to deliver significantly higher revenues and improved 

margins now that our investment in domestic infrastructure is 
complete

• Cloud computing is projected to dominate earnings growth in 
2012

• Dividends under consideration
• Benchmark 2012 earnings of HEPS of 36 cents this year
• Increase MICROmega’s investment profile based on earnings 

growth in line with shareholder expectations

MICROmega continues to enhance its core businesses by investing 
in product development and being first to market with product 
innovation. We continue to focus on unique market offerings that 
create value and wealth generation. We continuously strive to meet the 
needs of our diverse customers facing evolving market conditions and 
stringent government regulations.

INVESTMENT CASE

The market opportunity How we can help

NOSA

• There is increased pressure on companies and 
executives to comply with occupational health, safety 
and environmental legislation, and to take greater 
responsibility for their staff and customer well-being.

• This increased focus on legislation has led to a greater 
emphasis on risk management solutions worldwide. 

• NOSA’s primary objective is to assist companies with reducing injuries and 
fatalities in the workplace by ensuring the work environment is safe. We 
accomplish this through assessment, consulting and training thereby meeting 
the specific needs of our diverse client base.

• Training: we provide comprehensive SETA accredited training courses to meet 
the demands required within the risk management field.

• Auditing: we take a holistic approach to occupational risk management 
and provide companies with comprehensive reports on their compliance to 
legislation and best practice.

• Consulting: we provide support for the development and maintenance of risk 
management systems.

• Certification: we provide certification against the ISO9000, ISO14000 and 
OHSAS18001 standards.

• We use media sales to create awareness for occupational risk management 
through DVDs, registers and posters.

MECS Africa

• There is ever increasing investment activity and 
capital expenditure on the African continent. As a 
result, there is an increased demand for skilled labour 
in the mining, engineering, construction, offshore oil 
and gas, petrochemical and power generation sectors.

• MECS labour supply and related support services are well positioned to take full 
advantage of the global skills shortage and skills demand imbalance. 

• MECS is able to deliver a truly integrated human resource management solution 
to its domestic and international client base, with in-house expertise that 
enables the management of a workforce around its key services: contractual 
manpower, recruitment, human resource and industrial relations management, 
payroll bureau, project logistics and employee benefits programmes.

• We are strategically well positioned to execute project support and day-to-day 
operations management through a comprehensive infrastructure across South 
Africa and site based support services across the African continent.

• As a company intimately in tune and experienced with labour markets and 
supporting services, we are well positioned to react effectively and timeously to 
the demands of manpower management. 

MICROmega Securities

• Given the nature of the inter-dealer broking business, 
earnings growth in this field continues to be directly 
related to market volatility and liquidity.

• Despite previous sentiment, there is still a strong 
need for voice aided electronic inter-dealer brokering 
services that provide anonymous market information 
and trading opportunities globally.

• There is now growth and expansion opportunities 
into the African markets, as well as opportunity 
to enhance South African financial markets in 
accordance with the International Organization of 
Securities Commissions (IOSCO).

• Our primary objective is to provide anonymous financial pricing and trading 
opportunities in the professional financial markets.

• We provide pre and post trade transparency to enhance local and international 
market participation and liquidity.

• We assist investment into South Africa by means of electronic information, 
advertising price liquidity and transparency in South African financial markets.

• Our company cooperates with the appropriate Regulators to ensure that our 
clients, participating in the financial markets, maintain international regulatory 
standards, and can participate on an equal footing in the extremely competitive 
local and international financial markets.

• We aspire to compliment the financial market with price discovery, integrity, 
professionalism and enhanced service capabilities, in conjunction with Tullett 
Prebon PLC.
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INVESTMENT CASE

The market opportunity How we can help

Sebata Municipal Solutions

• In line with the principles of co-operative government, 
national and provincial government must support 
and strengthen municipalities’ capacity to manage 
their own affairs.

• Significant focus has been placed on service delivery 
over the past few years and the pressure is ever 
increasing. 

• Good financial management is the foundation which 
municipalities rely on.

• Gone are the days of over investment in ICT support 
staff and unreliable systems.

• Service providers such as Sebata play a pivotal role in ensuring municipalities 
are able to deliver on their mandate and provide quality services to our 
communities. 

• Sebata has a unique and customised solution offering, specifically tailored 
for the South African local government market. Our track record exceeds 40 
years and we have pioneered a number of solutions over the years, such as: 
end to end integrated technology solutions, managed services and solutions, 
multi-disciplinary profession services, software development, spatial solutions, 
innovative solutions geared towards enhancing sustainable institutional 
performance and service delivery.

• Sebata’s meter reading solution and financial management system are perfectly 
suited to ensuring municipalities have the necessary tools to perform their 
functions. 

• Sebata have embraced cloud computing to a degree which will revolutionise 
ICT in Local Government. 

• Given the increase in available bandwidth in South Africa, our municipalities 
are in a position to exploit cloud computing to its full potential, and Sebata will 
be supporting these initiatives.

Deltec Power Distributors

• There is increased demand world-wide for safer, 
more environmentally friendly batteries with ‘Start-
Stop’ technology being implemented by vehicle  
manufacturers in order to meet legislated emissions 
targets. 

• Deltec offers the most comprehensive range of sealed and latest technology 
lead acid batteries of the highest quality direct to the market.

• Deltec is geared for the future with Johnson Controls, who, as market leaders, are 
involved in the development of a host of future technologies in the automotive 
battery industry worldwide. 

• Deltec, as the southern African agent for Johnson Controls, is well placed to 
provide these products to the local automotive market. 

Turrito Networks

• Connectivity has become an increasingly critical tool 
for business. In this competitive landscape, many 
SME’s and corporates are unsure of which service 
providers are able to deliver solutions that match their 
business needs. 

• Gartner Research predicts that virtualisation will 
be the highest impact trend in IT infrastructure and 
operations from 2012, with Desktop Virtualisation 
being the highest value segment in this space.

• The biggest barriers for customers entering Cloud 
Computing are risk, complexity and cost. These 
barriers need to be overcome in the early stages of 
deployment, in order to effectively delivery Cloud 
solutions to corporates with inherent legacy. 

• Turrito Networks provides services off an agnostic model, built from all of the 
largest Tier1 ISP’s in the country. This enables us to deliver any solution from 
any provider, and have an intricate understanding of what the industry has 
to offer. A single point of contact and access for all solutions, with the same 
high level Tier1 service level agreements, and an advanced first line support 
infrastructure to deliver exceptional service to all our valued customers.

• Turrito Networks delivers both public and private cloud virtualisation, with 
the ability to leverage existing hardware and infrastructure, whilst beginning 
the migration to their own Cloud Computing strategy. This is done through 
our protocol “Cloudware” which acts as the delivery mechanism, providing 
both operating systems agnostic delivery, as well as application delivery to the 
customer’s choice of devices; including tablets and smartphones. This ensures 
delivery of both desktop virtualisation, and more importantly, the ability to 
deliver the application layer only, delivering all the intended value from Cloud 
Computing services.

• We are able to virtualise customer’s private and public infrastructure within a 
few hours, at no risk to the customer, and with no added complexity to their 
environment. This enables our clients to benefit immediately from cloud 
delivery of their environments, whilst leveraging their current infrastructure, 
and ensures that customers see value from the onset of their cloud strategy. 
With Cloudware, we are able to deliver any legacy applications off any platform 
through to the customer’s selected devices, and enable the customer to act as 
their own Cloud Computing provider. In this light we conform to our client’s 
Cloud strategy, rather than forcing them to conform to ours.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
o

The primary objective of the year under review was to restructure 
and consolidate our core businesses to enable us to focus on our 
fundamental strengths and grow these primary businesses further. This 
included the continuation of the sale and closure of our unprofitable 
automotive businesses.

The demand for NOSA’s products and services continues to grow, 
driven largely by the increasing pressure on companies to comply 
with occupational health and safety legislative requirements, both in 
general industry and the mining sectors. 

Turrito provides networking and cloud computing services. It is a 
relatively new investment for the group and we hope to see a strong 
earnings contribution in the next financial year. Despite only going 
to market with the product in January 2012, the company has already 
entered the medium to large corporate market by signing a partnership 
agreement with Super Group Limited. There are “proof of concepts” at 
a number of other corporates currently underway. 

Our human resource management company, under the MECS Africa 
brand, delivered strong earnings as a result of a healthy diversification 
strategy of their product offering and greater expansion into Africa. 

Despite the positive contribution Deltec made to the group’s earnings, 
it remains within the group’s strategy to divest from the automotive 
sector in order to focus on the remaining core businesses.

In line with the committed position to dispose of companies that 
are not core to the group, BTM Manufacturing (Pty) Ltd was sold in 
October 2011. In addition, during the year under review, the business 
and assets of Pro-Fit were disposed of. This resulted in the release 
of working capital back into the group. Furthermore, post year end, 
90% of the group’s shares in Lubrication Equipment were sold to the 
company’s management. MICROmega retains a 10% interest in the 
company. 

The group’s inter-dealer broking operation continues to be a 
reliable contributor to group earnings and opportunities are being 
considered to expand the financial services contribution to group 
earnings.  

Furthermore, in line with our strategy to restructure the group and 
to take advantage of market opportunities in relation to our core 
businesses, MICROmega acquired a controlling interest in MIS 
Consulting in January 2012. MIS Consulting is an sms communications 
provider that will be integrated into the broader product offering 
currently being provided by MICROmega’s connectivity and cloud 
computing business unit. The group will enjoy an immediate earnings 
contribution from MIS Consulting, albeit initially small and scaling up 
over the next two years to fall in line with our shareholder expectations.

OUTLOOK
Last year I mentioned that I was cautious about the overall outlook for 
revenue and profitability for 2011. Looking back I believe that was the 
right approach as the results were significantly eroded by the impact 
cost of the restructuring. Despite this, we are pleased with the overall 
performance and the realigned portfolio of businesses will allow 
us to take advantage of various market opportunities in the coming 
financial year. 

Our share price increased by 205% during the 2011 financial year, which 
is indicative of a renewed confidence in the group. Going forward, we 
expect that the successful restructuring of the core businesses will 
result in sustained growth for the company and a more cash generative 
position for the group.

MICROmega will continue to pursue strategies that will allow the group 
to grow and capitalise on the market opportunities, whilst bedding 
down our core business portfolio.

APPRECIATION
In this year of challenges and change, I would like to thank my fellow 
board members and the management team for their continuous 
passion and commitment to the group, and look forward to working 
with you all in the year ahead.

DC King
Executive Chairman
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In the year under review consolidation of our six core businesses was 
integral to our ability to reduce overheads and enhance margins. The 
encouraging results for the year were therefore significantly eroded by 
the impact cost of the restructuring of the group that was announced last 
year. This entailed the disposal and closure of non-profit contributing 
businesses and a refocus of our investment into information technology 
and our traditional support service operations. We also concentrated 
on investing in infrastructure to effectively service our Southern African 
customers.

Our focus and attention is now solely on our current operations that 
enjoyed 62% growth in earnings. The discontinuation of a number 
of loss making operations is now finally behind us and whilst they 
significantly impaired the current results they will have no impact on 
earnings in 2012.

Discontinued operations reduced headline earnings by R17 million 
(18 cents per share). This was the financial cost of losses incurred 
by these businesses, as well as the cost of closure or disposal. We can 
confirm that as at 31 December 2011 the full impact cost of the disposal 
and closure of these companies has been fully accounted for and that we 
are not carrying any further direct or indirect operating costs or cost of 
closure into the 2012 financial year.

Headline earnings per share from continuing operations increased by 
28.7% to 38.98 cents for the year under review.

NOSA: NOSA enjoyed a 37% growth in earnings year on year. This 
growth was driven by the increasing demand for occupational health, 
safety and environmental services from both general industry and the 
mining sector.

MECS Africa: MECS Africa’s year on year growth of 274% exceeded 
expectation. This growth was attributed to the diversification of its 
product offering and expansion into Africa.

MICROmega SECURITIES: The growth in earnings was eroded by our 
operating investment in an equity derivatives brokering service that did 
not meet our expectations and was subsequently closed in November 
2011, as well as our ongoing investment into the establishment of 
inter-dealer brokering services into Africa. Despite this, MICROmega 
Securities saw a growth in revenue of 3.27% to R40.4 million. 

DELTEC POWER DISTRIBUTORS: Although Deltec continues to 
contribute to earnings growth (revenue increased 39.45% to R130 million 
in the year under review), as stated at the beginning of last year, we 
intend fully divesting from our automotive businesses. This will release 
capital and give shareholders a greater return from our core businesses.

SEBATA MUNICIPAL SOLUTIONS: Sebata Municipal Solutions enjoyed 
a 50% growth in earnings year on year. Whilst we were pleased with the 
contribution and growth from the private sector, we experienced delays 
in the implementation of systems to a number of our public sector 
customers.

TURRITO NETWORKS: Turrito is a new business that made no 
contribution to earnings in 2011. The cloud computing products 

developed over the past three years are housed within this business and 
have only been taken to market in 2012.

PROSPECTS
We are confident that the group is well positioned to deliver strong 
earnings growth in 2012. 

NOSA completed its investment in infrastructure in South Africa in 2011, 
enabling the business to deliver services from 25 regional offices that 
will underpin revenue and earnings growth going forward. Acceptance 
by client company directors that they are accountable for the safety of 
their employees and the enforcement of relevant legislation all result in 
a demand driven environment for the business. 

MECS Africa will continue to focus on improving its permanent 
placement division, as well as benefit from the continuous investment 
activity and capital expenditure programmes on the African continent 
in the year ahead.

Growth continues to be driven by market related volatility and liquidity 
for MICROmega Securities, however the company is exploring various 
opportunities into Asia to grow earnings further.

As mentioned Deltec Power Distributors continues to contribute to 
earnings growth for MICROmega, but plans are still underway to divest 
completely from the automotive business going forward.

Focus will be on product and technology development for Sebata 
Group in the year ahead, specifically on meter reading technology and 
Cloudware technology aimed at the municipal market.

Our investment in Turrito’s cloud computing solutions over the past 
three years will contribute to earnings in 2012. We remain uncertain as 
to the magnitude of the demand we will receive for our cloud products 
but we are confident that this business will provide strong earnings 
growth for the group going forward.

On the whole we are satisfied that the restructuring undertaken in 2011 
has resulted in a portfolio of good businesses with solid market traction. 
Our acquisitions and development of new products and services has, in 
past years, primarily been funded out of retained earnings. Our realigned 
portfolio will be more cash generative and thereby place the group in a 
position to commence the payment of dividends. In the year ahead we 
expect that shareholders will assess us on our current operations and I 
have little doubt that they will expect growth off the 36 cents per share 
base that our core businesses delivered in this year; and I am confident 
that we will be able to deliver successfully on these expectations.

APPRECIATION
I would like to extend my sincere thanks to my colleagues on the Board, 
and to my management team, who have assisted and supported the 
Board during this year of change and consolidation.

IG Morris
Chief Executive Officer

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S REPORT

o
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BUSINESS 
REVIEWS
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Our Brands: 

NOSA provides occupational health, 
safety and environmental risk 
management services and is the exclusive 
provider of both the NOSA Integrated Five 
Star Grading System and SAMTRAC. 

NOSA
www.nosa.co.za

Managing Director:
Justin Hobday

Board of Directors: 
DSE Carlisle (Chairman)

JR Hobday (Managing Director)

WG Streek 

GW Smith

RCE Glass



SALIENT FEATURES
•  Founded in 1951
• Acquired by MICROmega in 2005
• 25 wholly owned and operated offices in South Africa
• Wholly owned and operated offices in Swaziland, Mozambique, 

Namibia and Zambia
•  Skilled staff compliment of 200 in South Africa
•  35 000 people trained on short courses in South Africa during 2011, 

making NOSA one of the largest short course training institutions 
in South Africa

• SETA accredited
•  800 certificates of compliance issued by NOSA in South Africa in 

2011
•  63 private schools in South Africa adopted NOSA safety standards 

in 2011
•  An accredited NEBOSH centre
•  Received IOSH accreditation for its SAMTRAC Training Course in 

2011
•  Established an advisory forum comprising members from industry, 

Solidarity and the Department of Labour in 2011  
• Franchised offices in China and Brazil in 2011
• Hosts the largest occupational health and safety conference on the 

African continent 
•  Seven of the ten largest parastatals in South Africa use NOSA’s 

services
•  Bata Shoes branded their safety footwear range “NOSA” in 2011
• Bull Workwear branded their protective clothing range “NOSA” in 

2011

OVERVIEW
NOSA was formed in 1951 by the South African Government to reduce 
injuries and fatalities in the workplace. The business was acquired and 
restructured by MICROmega in 2005, with a strong focus on creating a 
national service provider that met the growing demand for 
occupational health and safety services. 

The four key revenue drivers within NOSA are training, auditing, 
managed services and certification. 

Training
NOSA is SETA and NEBOSH accredited, along with being ISO9001 
certified. We offer over 40 safety, health, environmental and quality 
training courses, including the industry leader SAMTRAC. 

Auditing
We provide holistic solutions which are based on more than 60 years of 
experience. The auditing services range from legal compliance audits 
to integrated health, safety and environmental audits, all of which 
have a proven track record of reducing the injury and fatality rates in 
the workplace. 

Managed Services 
We provide consulting services which include the design, implementa-
tion and review of business processes. 

Certification
We provide certification against the ISO9001, ISO14001 and 
OHSAS18001 standards to all industry sectors. 

We have 25 established offices and training centres across South Africa, 
along with offices in Mozambique, Namibia, Swaziland and Zambia. 
Through this network, NOSA is able to service its extensive client base 
from their “doorstep”, which has led to our business having a significant 
competitive advantage, and leading to a number of national contracts 
with blue chip clients.

We have a highly competent and experienced staff complement, 
enabling the business to meet the growing needs of its client base, 
particularly given the increased pressure on companies to comply with 
occupational health, safety and environmental legislation. 

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Earnings increased 37% year on year
• Revenue increased 26% to R155 million 
• Profit increased 35% to R22.8 million
• Growth driven by the increasing demand for occupational health, 

safety and environmental services from both general industry and 
the mining sector

• Opened 7 new offices during 2011 and established new operating 
divisions within the company

2012 AND AHEAD 
We understand that legislation is the key driver to NOSA’s growth 
and will ensure that it maintains the highest standards in order 
to retain its position in the market and achieve further growth. 
In addition, NOSA believes that educating our youth on the 
importance of Health, Safety and the Environment (HSE) through the 
development of an HSE schools program is key to the sustainability of 
the company. Furthermore, corporates are accountable for the safety of 
their employees, and this, combined with the enforcement of relevant 
legislation, has created a demand-driven environment for the business. 

The decision to franchise the NOSA product offering globally in 2012 
will allow multinationals requesting our products outside Africa, 
access to these products through well-capitalised and established local 
operators.

Having completed its investment in infrastructure in South Africa 
in 2011, NOSA is now able to deliver services from 25 regional 
offices which will underpin revenue and earnings growth going 
forward. We are now in a position to leverage our growth through the 
established infrastructure and credibility of the “NOSA” brand and will 
seek to fulfil the growing demand for NOSA services on the African 
continent.
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MECS Africa is a service orientated 
business that alleviates the considerable 
burden of manpower management by 
offering an integrated human resource 
solution to a diverse client base.

MECS AFRICA
www.mecs.co.za

Managing Director:
Roland Glass

Board of Directors: 
IG Morris (Chairman)

RCE Glass (Managing Director)

DSE Carlisle

DJ Case

JR Hobday

AE Sande

Our Brands: 



SALIENT FEATURES
• Founded in 1981
• Acquired by MICROmega in 2005
• Provides recruitment, contractual manpower and related support 

services
• Servicing the construction, engineering, mining, offshore oil and 

gas, petrochemical and power generation sectors
• Supporting 45 projects across 18 countries
• 15 African countries which include South Africa, Angola, Botswana, 

DRC, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, 
Senegal, Sierra Leone, Tanzania, Zambia, Nigeria and Zimbabwe

• Had a contractor base of 435 skilled employees across Africa, 
placing an additional 96 permanent staff during 2011

• Recruitment database consists of 20 000 candidates geared 
for the recruitment needs and skills shortages in the above 
sectors

• Bulk of labour supply includes both professional and technical 
disciplines from South Africa along with highly skilled artisans 
from India

OVERVIEW
MECS Africa (MECS) was formed in 1981, making the company one 
of the longest standing recruitment and labour brokering agencies 
servicing the industrial and resources sectors. We were acquired 
by MICROmega in 2005, enabling our business to meet the growing 
demand for our services and to reinvest in expanding our product 
range. 

MECS has more than 30 year’s experience in project support on the 
African continent, specialising in the following sectors:
• Mining
• Engineering
• Construction
• Offshore oil and gas
• Petrochemical
• Power generation

With the ever increasing investment activity on the African continent 
and the capital expenditure programs across the aforementioned 
sectors, our labour supply and related support services are well 
positioned to take full advantage of the global skills shortage and skills 
demand imbalance. 

We are able to deliver a truly integrated human resource management 
solution to our domestic and international client base, with in-house 
expertise that enables the management of a workforce around seven 
key services: contractual manpower, recruitment, human resource and 
industrial relations management, payroll bureau, project logistics and 
employee benefits programmes. The three core services are:

1. Contractual manpower
MECS contractual manpower solution provides clients with the 
ideal support to their domestic and African projects. Our key 
objective is to interface with our clients in a way that professionally 
alleviates the burden of recruitment, human resource and 

labour relations management and payroll bureau. Through an 
integrated contractual manpower solution, we are able to facilitate 
temporary workforce requirements, offering an end-to-end 
solution incorporating all our key services. Currently, we support 
45 different projects across 18 countries by way of recruitment and 
contractual manpower services. 

2. Recruitment
The capability of our recruitment originates in our comprehensive 
database of highly skilled local and foreign nationals. The key 
differentiator is a niche, specialist recruitment division that 
sources candidates who are screened and selected for their 
qualifications and high level of skill. This is based on our intimate 
industry experience and areas of specialty, specifically in the 
mining, petrochemical, offshore oil and gas, power generation, 
engineering and construction sectors. 

3. Project logistics
Through intimate knowledge of cross border projects, we offer 
holistic project management and logistical solutions for the 
mobilization of crews into Africa. The success of this complex 
service is a direct result of the comprehensive relationships we 
have with local and international service providers. Services are 
tailored for each project and include: on-site management, pre-
mobilisation medicals and inoculations, commercial flights, meet 
and greet facilitation, travel visas, work permits, accommodation, 
project inductions and medical emergency evacuation. 

MECS Africa is a member of the Temporary Employment Services 
Division (TESD), a division of the Steel and Engineering Industries 
Federation of South Africa (SEIFSA). In addition, we hold an executive 
position on the management team of the representative industry 
body. 

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Revenue increased by 29.81% to R255 million 
• Profit increased by 274% to R7.1 million
• Growth is attributed to the diversification of its product offering 

into permanent placements and expansion into Africa

2012 AND AHEAD
Beyond the core range of expertise, we continue to innovate and 
enhance our value proposition, taking pride in our service delivery to 
both contractors and clients. 

We will continue to focus on improving our permanent placement 
division during 2012 and will continue our investment in client and 
candidate acquisition for the skills shortages in the resources sector; 
including further development of skilled artisan labour supply from 
India to the African mining and construction sector. 

We believe we are well positioned to benefit from the investment 
activity and capital expenditure programmes currently being 
undertaken on the African continent but will also look into a new 
growth path of supplying labour to resources rich territories such as 
Australia and Canada. 
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MICROmega Securities is an inter-
dealer broker (IDB), providing a 
specialist intermediary broking service 
to commercial banks, investment banks, 
stock brokers as well as reputable trading 
entities in the wholesale financial 
markets.

MICROmega 
SECURITIES
www.micromegas.co.za

Managing Director:
Joe Vercueil

Board of Directors: 
IG Morris (Chairman)

A Vercueil (Managing Director)

DSE Carlisle

DJ Case

JG Pollock

Our Brands: 
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SALIENT FEATURES
• Founded in 1991
• Acquired by MICROmega in 1998
• Trade and co-operation agreement with the second largest IDB in 

the world, namely Tullet Prebon 
• Regulated by SARB, BESA, JSE and the FSB

OVERVIEW
South African Money Brokers was established in 1991 and was rebranded 
MICROmega Securities following its acquisition by MICROmega in 
1998. 

Today we have several subsidiaries, all of which operate as 
intermediaries in the wholesale financial markets, facilitating the 
trading activities of their clients. We do not take proprietary risk 
positions and are therefore not exposed to significant market price 
fluctuations, with its financial performance linked directly to liquidity 
and flows. 

TTSA, which is the largest of our subsidiaries, was established in 
1998 as a “principal” capital markets broking desk. The Rand foreign 
exchange desk, the REPO desk and the derivatives desk all form part 
of SA International and Capital Market Brokers. MICROmega Africa 
Money Brokers was set up in 2007 and is focussed on the spot and 
forward foreign exchange markets in various countries across the 
African continent.

MICROmega Securities is active in the following instruments:
• Foreign exchange – FEC and spot
• OTC derivatives 
• Fixed income securities
• Repurchase agreements 
• Money market instruments

We work closely with Tullet Prebon, the second largest IDB in the 
world, through a trade and co-operation agreement. Tullet Prebon 
is listed on the London Stock Exchange and brokers an average daily 
value that is approximately 42 times the average daily transaction 
value of the London Stock Exchange. The agreement allows us to 
enjoy Rand product pricing into London, along with access to 
international technical products to ensure a value added service to our 
clients. 

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Revenue increased by 3.27% to R40.4 million 
• Profit increased by 23.67% to R10 million 
• Earnings being eroded by an operating investment in an equity 

derivatives brokering service that did not meet expectations and 
was subsequently closed in November 2011, as well as our ongoing 
investment into the establishment of inter-dealer brokering 
services into Africa

• Margin growth can be largely attributed to the capital market desk 
and joint venture in London

2012 AND AHEAD
Our experienced staff have strong relationships with their clients, 
which have been forged over many years of working together, and 
these relationships are fundamental to the continued growth and 
success of the business.

Given the nature of our business, earnings growth continues to 
be directly related to market volatility and liquidity. It is 
expected that the global economic uncertainty will continue to 
impact market liquidity and therefore impact on the revenue of 
MICROmega Securities; however we will continue to explore different 
avenues, including opportunities into Asia through the Australian repo 
desk.
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Deltec Power Distributors is a leading 
distributor of a wide variety of high 
quality imported maintenance-free 
batteries.

DELTEC 
POWER 
DISTRIBUTORS
www.deltecpower.co.za

Managing Director:
Colin Eddey

Board of Directors: 
IG Morris (Chairman)

CE Eddey (Managing Director)

DSE Carlisle

D Roby

P Selby

J Stroebel

Our Brands: 



SALIENT FEATURES
• Founded in 1979
• Acquired by MICROmega in 2004
• Has a market share of 9% of the South African automotive battery 

market
• Regional distribution and retail centres in Sandton, Rustenburg, 

Cape Town and Pinetown are serviced by the national distribution 
centre in Alrode, Alberton

• Principal brands include VARTA, OPTIMA and DELTEC 
(Delphi) 

• VARTA supply 83% of the European original equipment market

OVERVIEW
Deltec Power Distributors (Deltec) is a leading distributor of 
maintenance and lead-free batteries. The company was founded in 
1979 and was acquired by MICROmega in 2004.

Deltec supplies batteries for the following applications: 
• Automotive  
• Stand-by / UPS
• Marine and leisure
• Solar power and communications 
• Golf carts
• Scrubbing / floor cleaning machinery
• Motorcycles
• Traction equipment

We have long term relationships with the majority of our suppliers 
who are located in Germany, United States, China and South 
Korea. Johnson Controls is one of our primary suppliers and is 
the largest automotive battery manufacturer in North America. 

Johnson Controls in Europe, which operates under the Varta brand, is 
also the largest automotive battery manufacturer in Europe. 

Our product range continues to broaden which has allowed us to 
achieve strong growth in the UPS and mining sectors of the market. 
Our product range is supported by internationally certified quality 
and environmental standards with excellent local and international 
technical support and local customer service levels.

Our strategy around opening additional distribution centres in Durban, 
Rustenburg and Alrode over the past 18 months has had a positive 
impact on turnover and earnings. Accordingly, we will continue to 
open distribution centres in key regions across South Africa. Deltec 
has also experienced solid growth from our agents in neighbouring 
countries, particularly given the increased demand for sustainable 
energy solutions such as solar power in these markets. 

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Revenue increased 39.45% to R130 million 
• Profit increased 43.17% to R8.7 million
• A broader product range resulted in growth in market share in the 

UPS and mining sectors

2012 AND AHEAD 
We will focus on further expansion into the SADC region during 2012 
and on satisfying the increase in demand for sustainable energy 
solutions. Although Deltec continues to contribute to earnings 
growth, as stated at the beginning of last year, MICROmega intends 
fully divesting from the automotive businesses which will release 
capital and give shareholders a greater return from remaining core 
businesses.
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Sebata Municipal Solutions provides 
integrated technology solutions, 
enterprise management systems and 
multidisciplinary professional services to 
municipalities, public entities, Provincial 
Government and the private sector.

SEBATA GROUP
www.sebata.co.za

Managing Director:
Dylan Strydom

Board of Directors: 
IG Morris (Chairman)

DL Strydom (Managing Director)

DJ Case

DSE Carlisle

L Cloete

T Vutha

Our Brands: 



SALIENT FEATURES
• Founded in 1972
• Acquired by MICROmega in 2005
• Restructured over the past 18 months
• Staff complement of 230 with a presence in each of South Africa’s 

provinces
• Provides services to 190 local government institutions in the SADC 

region 
• Municipal enterprise management system rolled out to 104 

municipalities in South Africa and 51 in Namibia
• Largest (by market share) Integrated Municipal Financial 

Management Systems (FMS) supplier in South Africa
• Largest (by market share) Integrated Municipal Financial 

Management Systems (FMS) supplier in Namibia
• Largest (by market share) Municipal Electronic Document 

Management (EDMS) supplier in South Africa
• Market share extends to 190 municipalities, public departments 

and utility companies
• Incorporates one of the largest meter reading companies in South 

Africa
• STS Association of South Africa accredited 
• Payroll Authors group member
• Institute for Municipal Financial Officers member
• Accredited by the Information Technology Association of South 

Africa
• Microsoft Gold Partner

OVERVIEW
Sebata is an amalgamation of a number of public sector focussed 
businesses that were acquired by MICROmega between 2004 and 
2005. Our solutions are innovative and are based on a thorough 
understanding of the service delivery requirements of our clients. 
We adopt an integrated model that addresses all components of 
an organisation namely: strategy, people, processes, technology, 
and customer requirements. This enables Sebata to effectively and 
efficiently assist our clients in achieving their objectives and to 

overcome specific business, organisational and policy challenges. 

Our team are experts in their field and their experience covers 
accounting, auditing and risk management, corporate and 
municipal finance, change management, engineering, human 
resource management, ICT infrastructure design, configuration, 
implementation and maintenance, software development, systems 
development, administration, project management, organisational 
restructuring and strategic planning.

Sebata’s services extend to over 190 local government institutions 
and public utilities in SADC and, given the nature of these services, 
the relationships with our clients are predominantly long standing. 
We continue to leverage these relationships in order to increase the 
number of products and services being supplied to our clients. This 
is particularly relevant due to the difficulties local government is 
encountering in delivering adequate services to their constituents. 

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Revenue decreased by 2.1% to R100.4 million 
• Profit increased by 50% growth to R8.7 million with 40% of its 

revenue being annuity based
• The contribution to revenue growth arose mainly from the private 

sector due to the delays experienced by Sebata Municipal Solutions 
in the implementation of systems to a number of our public sector 
customers, particularly due to the municipal elections during 
2011

2012 AND AHEAD
There will be a strong focus on product development in 2012, 
particularly in respect of automated meter reading. We also anticipate 
further expansion into neighbouring countries. The appointment of 
value added resellers on cell phone meter reading technology is an 
additional stream of revenue that we are focusing on. Furthermore, 
we will also consider taking the Cloudware product into the municipal 
market.
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Turrito is a converged communication 
provider delivering MPLS networks, 
hosting facilities, internet and cloud 
computing services to the corporate and 
SMME markets. 

TURRITO 
NETWORKS
www.turrito.com

Managing Director:
Brian Timperley

Board of Directors: 
IG Morris (Chairman)

BP Timperley (Managing Director)

LA Jardim (Sales Director)

DSE Carlisle

DJ Case

Our Brands: 



SALIENT FEATURES
• Founded in 2008
• Acquired by MICROmega in 2010
• Provides connectivity and cloud computing solutions to SMME’s, 

corporates and multinationals
• Partners with 15 of the largest tier 1 networks and services providers 

in South Africa
• Delivers connectivity solutions to some of the largest corporate 

and blue chips in South Africa
• Completed the largest hosted exchange (outsourced email) rollout 

on the Vodacom network in 2011
• Delivering cloud computing services to over a dozen large 

corporate companies in South Africa within the last 2 months 
• Partnered with MTN Business in South Africa and Africa and 

developed both their ‘Desktop-as-a-Service’ and ‘Application 
Delivery’ solutions

OVERVIEW
Turrito Networks was founded in 2008 and was acquired by MICROmega 
in 2010. Since acquisition the business has grown tremendously both 
in revenue and in the range of products and services offered. 

We have two major product offerings: 1. the converged communication 
offering whereby we deliver MPLS networks and hosting facilities, and 
2. the cloud computing offering which focuses on the effective delivery 
of customised cloud computing solutions.

1. The converged communication offering 
Through our network agnostic partner model we are able to deploy 
solutions that match the needs and requirements of our clients. 
There is a single point of accountability and contact to our clients 
for all industry requirements. Turrito’s converged communication 
offering targets largely small and medium enterprise (SMME’s), as 
there is a gap in this market.

2. Cloud computing 
This offering focuses on the effective delivery of customised 
cloud computing solutions to a broad range of clients. The 

company’s unique product architecture and design has pioneered 
the deployment of stateless computing devices which are able 
to deliver internet access, free and open source software and 
proprietary software through a common interface. Cloudware 
facilitates full desktop virtualisation, where users have access to 
their own virtual operating systems and applications, which are 
accessed from the cloud using any internet medium, and are not 
bound to any physical device. This delivery system optimizes the 
user experience by visually replicating their user session, as if it were 
residing on their local terminal or device. However, all applications 
and data exist on a central server environment, allowing for better 
security, delivery, performance and management from a central 
location. The technology can be deployed within a customer’s 
existing “private cloud” or into the more commonly known “public 
cloud”.

The potential of the Cloudware business is promising and the feedback 
from clients has been very positive. The flow of revenue is annuity based, 
with monthly license fees making it an attractive business model. 

Our team is well positioned to support its growing client base, 
with a highly skilled and competent technical team led by a sound 
management team. We are continually innovating and developing our 
products to ensure that we remain at the forefront of technological 
advancements. 

2012 AND AHEAD
Turrito is a new business that made no contribution to earnings in 
2011. The cloud computing products developed over the past three 
years are housed within the business and have only just been taken 
to market in 2012. Our products are unique and, since the launch of 
our first product this year, we have secured twenty public sector clients 
and a number of large multinationals. We are currently performing 
proof of concept trials at a number of institutions and corporates in 
South Africa. We remain uncertain as to the magnitude of the demand 
we will receive for our cloud products however, we are confident, 
based on the current reception, that this business will provide strong 
earnings growth for the group in future periods.
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APPLICATION OF THE KING III PRINCIPLES

The King III report became effective for all JSE listed companies with a 
financial year-end beginning on or after 31 March 2010 and therefore 
the 2011 financial year is the first financial year in respect of which 
MICROmega is required to report in accordance with the principles of 
integrated reporting as set out in the King III report.

In accordance with the “apply or explain” principle, the directors 
believe that MICROmega complies with the principles of King III, 
other than principles 2.16, 2.18 and 9.3 and has partially applied 
principle 3.2. Where the principles have not been applied or 
MICROmega has considered the best practice recommendations are 
not in the best interests of the group at present, such non-application 
will be highlighted and explained. MICROmega aims to achieve 
sound corporate governance by ensuring the principles of fairness, 
accountability, responsibility and transparency are attained.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND RESPONSIBLE LEADERSHIP

The board of directors of MICROmega acknowledges the relationship 
between sound governance, company profitability, long-term 
equity performance and sustainability practices, which together 
ensure an enduring and viable business venture for all stakeholders. 
MICROmega remains committed to achieving the highest standards of 
accountability, transparency and integrity in all matters concerning its 
stakeholders.

In accordance with the unitary board structure commonly used 
by South African companies, the board of directors consists of 
four executive directors and two non-executive directors, one of 
which is an independent non-executive director, with the executive 
directors maintaining effective control over MICROmega’s strategy, 
financial performance, governance procedures, growth and corporate 
affairs. 

At the end of the financial year, the board of directors comprised of:

• DC King – Executive Chairman, appointed 17 January 2011;
• IG Morris – Chief Executive Officer, appointed 1 June 2004;
• DSE Carlisle – Executive managing director, appointed 16 March 

2009;
• DJ Case – Executive financial director, appointed 1 April 2010;
• PV Henwood – Independent non-executive director, appointed 

23 June 2008; and
• RC Lewin – Non-executive director, appointed 18 February 2004. 

Dave King, the original founder of the group, was re-appointed to the 
board as the Executive Chairman in January 2011. Dave is responsible 
for the overall strategic direction of the group and works closely with 
executive management in discharging his responsibilities. 

Greg Morris is the Chief Executive Officer of the group, responsible 
for the day-to-day management of the company and the corporate 
finance transactions of the group and works closely with the Executive 
Chairman in developing the business strategy for the group. He is also 
a director of numerous MICROmega subsidiaries.

Duncan Carlisle, the executive managing director of the group provides 
first line support to Greg Morris. Duncan has been with the group 
since 2001 and fulfilled a number of operational roles in the group 
prior to his appointment as NOSA managing director in 2005. Duncan 
is responsible for the extraction of earnings of the group companies 
and revenue growth across all sectors. He is a director of numerous 
MICROmega subsidiaries.

David Case is the executive financial director of the group. David has 
been with the group since 2006 and has held the role of chief financial 
officer since 2007. David is responsible for the financial management 
and financial control environment within the group. He is a director of 
numerous MICROmega subsidiaries.

Peter Henwood is the lead independent non-executive director of 
MICROmega. Peter is a former audit partner of KPMG Inc. and brings 
significant expertise and experience to the board of directors. Peter is 
the chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Risk Committee. The board of 
directors believes that Peter has maintained his independence 
throughout the period.

Ross Lewin is a non-executive director of the group. Ross has had 
a successful career in the engineering and information technology 
sectors. Ross is chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a 
member of the Audit Committee. Ross holds directorships on the 
boards of a number of international companies.

There were no additional changes to the board of directors, other than 
the appointment of DC King as Executive Chairman, during the 2011 
financial year.

There is a clear division of responsibilities amongst the board 
members and no one director has unfettered decision making powers. 
The continued practice of appointing an Executive Chairman has been 
considered by the board of directors and the board is of the opinion 
that the Executive Chairman is well placed to provide the necessary 
leadership and to develop and promote MICROmega’s strategy. If 
and when the Executive Chairman has a conflict of interests, Peter 
Henwood, the lead independent director will assist the board in 
dealing with the conflict and shall provide the board of directors with 
independent advice and leadership where any perceived or actual 
conflict of interests exists.

During the 2011 financial year, the formalised roles of the Executive 
Chairman and Managing Director were amended in order to establish 
a formalised role for the Chief Executive Officer. The amended roles 
were approved on 25 March 2011. In conjunction with the formalisation 
of the above mentioned roles, the delegation of authority within 
MICROmega which provides guidance on the application of levels of 
authority with respect to statutory regulations, human resources, legal 
matters and contracts, capital expenditure, operational expenditure, 
travel and personal expenditure, finance and marketing and public 
relations was also reviewed and updated. These documents assist in 
ensuring that there is a clear division of responsibility between the 
members of the board, the board of directors and the management of 
the group as well as an appropriate balance of power.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Greg Morris, Duncan Carlisle and David Case are responsible for 
the day-to-day management of MICROmega and are non-executive 
directors to a majority of the subsidiaries of MICROmega. The board of 
directors believes that at present there is a natural succession plan in 
place amongst the executive directors. The role of Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer are separate.

At the time of preparing this report, the recruitment process to appoint 
additional independent non-executive directors as members of the 
board is ongoing. The board of directors, as a whole, is involved in the 
process of nomination, selection and the appointment of additional 
directors to the board and potential directors are selected on the basis 
of their skill, knowledge, business acumen and contribution to the 
company. All board appointments are made in a formal and transparent 
manner with input being provided by all members of the board. 

The board of MICROmega meets on a regular basis in order to review 
the strategic direction of the group, to evaluate performance and to 
assess any risks with which the businesses might be faced. During 
the 2011 financial year the board of directors met four times and 
attendance thereat is set out in the table below:

Attendance at board meetings during 2011:

Board Members
25 

March 
2011

5 
August 

2011

26 
October 

2011

1 
December 

2011

DC King    A

IG Morris    

DSE Carlisle    

DJ Case    

PV Henwood    

RC Lewin    

By Invitation

J Wessels – KPMG   - -

L White – KPMG A A - -

B Adam – Nexia SAB&T - - - -

S Kleovoulou – Nexia SAB&T - - - -

 = Present / A = Apologies

In accordance with the provisions of the board charter, which includes 
the delegation of authority amongst the executives of the group and the 
responsibilities of the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Director, the role and responsibilities of the board collectively is to: 

• act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate governance;
• provide effective leadership in the best interests of the company 

and stakeholders;
• retain full and effective control over the company;
• approve the company strategy and business plans;
• identify and mitigate risk; 
• ensure that the company is and is seen to be a responsible 

corporate citizen by having regard to not only the financial aspects 
of the business of the company but also the impact that business 
operations have on the environment and the society within which 
it operates.

During the 2011 financial year the board of directors discharged, inter 
alia, the following responsibilities:

• reviewed and approved the interim and audited results of the 
group;

• reviewed and approved the Code of Ethics, the Credit Control 

Policy, the Whistle Blowing Policy, the Non-audit Services Policy, 
the IT Policy, the Social Media Policy and the Disclosure and 
Communication Policy;

• reviewed and updated the roles of the Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director; together with the delegation of 
authority;

• conducted a King III gap analysis and worked towards 
implementing those principles not yet achieved; 

• reviewed and approved the 2012 budgets for each subsidiary; and
• reviewed and updated the company’s memorandum of 

incorporation in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, which amended version shall be tabled at the annual general 
meeting for approval by shareholders.

In addition, at each board meeting a subsidiary of the group is invited 
to present to the board of directors on its business in order to provide 
the directors with an opportunity to understand the direction that 
each business is taking and to allow for discussion and improvements 
thereon.

Board evaluations for the 2010 financial year and board and individual 
evaluations for the 2011 financial year have been provided to the board 
members in order for the board members to evaluate the performance 
and processes undertaken by the board and the individual members 
of the board. The 2010 evaluations indicated mostly positive results 
with the directors noting that they are satisfied with the level of detail 
provided on MICROmega’s progress and management throughout the 
year, although a greater focus on strategic reviews of the business was 
recommended. All directors acknowledged the need to address the 
board composition as a priority. Results of the 2011 evaluations are 
expected to be dealt with at the board meetings scheduled during 2012. 
Director’s annual declarations of interests for all members of the board 
of directors as well as subsidiary managing directors are concluded 
at the beginning of each financial year and a second declaration of 
interests in contracts is tabled at each board meeting.

The board of directors is cognisant of the importance of ensuring 
that the businesses are conducted in an ethical manner and that the 
board of directors, management and employees are committed to 
maintaining a high ethical standard of behaviour at all times. The Code 
of Ethics was approved by the board at the first board meeting of 2011 
wherein MICROmega’s core values of innovation, excellence, integrity 
and responsibility are entrenched and which provides all employees 
with guidelines on how to apply the values to day-to-day business. 
In addition, the Whistle Blowing Policy was approved and the Ethics 
Hotline was established. The board of directors is satisfied that to the 
best of their knowledge there has been no material breach of the Code 
of Ethics during the 2011 financial year.

The subsidiaries of MICROmega are required to implement all 
MICROmega policies and the governance framework adopted by the 
holding company is filtered down to the subsidiaries.

BOARD COMMITTEES 

Three committees have been established in order to assist the 
board of directors in discharging its collective responsibilities for 
corporate governance and certain of the board’s responsibilities have 
been delegated to these committees. The committees are the audit 
committee, the risk committee and the remuneration committee. 
The audit and risk committee was split into two separate committees 
in March 2011 and their reports can be found on pages 39 and 27 
respectively and the remuneration committee report can be found on 
page 28. The committees are accountable to the board of directors. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Company Secretary
The board of directors have access to a suitably qualified and 
experienced company secretary in accordance with the requirements 
of section 88 of the Companies Act and the principles of King III. During 
the 2011 financial year, the company secretary assisted the board in 
drafting policies, provided training on the Consumer Protection Act 
and the new Companies Act to the board and the managing directors 
of the subsidiaries, advised on corporate governance requirements 
and ensured that all administrative company secretarial duties are 
performed. All the managing directors of the subsidiaries also have 
access to the company secretary.

Governance of Information Technology
The governance of information technology (“IT”) is overseen by the 
risk committee and during the year under review an IT policy was 
approved and distributed to all employees and a further policy on the 
protection of the intellectual property specifically in relation to the IT 
companies was being developed. In addition, certain IT risks, such 
as business continuity and disaster recovery, licensing and access to 
information were reviewed and mitigated where possible. 

Stakeholder Relationships
In line with the principles of King III, the board of directors appreciates 
that the company’s reputation is enhanced when the company’s 
performance is linked to the interests and expectations of stakeholders 
and to this end the board of director’s endeavours to provide 
stakeholders with timely, relevant and factual information regarding 
MICROmega’s strategy, policies and management and financial 
performance. The board of directors has delegated the task of managing 
certain stakeholder relationships to the executive management of 
each subsidiary, as interaction between the majority of stakeholders 
is primarily done at subsidiary level, with the risk committee having 
oversight responsibilities thereon while the board of directors remains 
the ultimate custodian for improved stakeholder relations. The 
board of directors maintains full control of all communication with 
shareholders, investors and analysts. An information disclosure policy 
has been adopted by the board of directors to ensure that proper 
procedures are adhered to when communicating with the media, 
investors, analysts, clients and the general public as well as internally 
amongst employees and also aims to ensure that the disclosure of 
price sensitive information to the public is done in a comprehensive 
and lawful manner. The board of directors has initiated an improved 
stakeholder communication process which aims at ensuring that 
transparent and appropriate disclosure of the company’s strategy is 
effectively disseminated and hopes to see the benefits thereof in the 
forthcoming financial year.

Stakeholder engagement
Effective stakeholder engagement is critical to the sustainability of 
MICROmega and the executives of MICROmega ensure that honest 
and clear communication is provided to all stakeholders by engaging 
with stakeholders in the following manner:

• The JSE Limited Listings Requirements regulates investor 
communication and ensures that investors are fairly and timeously 
informed of the company’s price-sensitive information through 
SENS announcements and associated press releases. The company 
has also began publishing voluntary announcements via the 
SENS news service and in the press in order to keep shareholders 
up to date on developments within the group. In accordance 
with MICROmega’s Information Disclosure Policy, the Chairman 
and the Chief Executive Officer of MICROmega also provide 
media interviews as and when required. The integrated 
report and interim results release provide stakeholders with 
further details on MICROmega’s performance, while all 
shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general 
meeting as well as all other shareholder meetings that may 
be held throughout the year. The company website, www.
micromega.co.za, also provides stakeholders with information on 
the company.

• MICROmega management engages with its employees in several 
ways and each subsidiary takes full responsibility for ensuring 
regular and open communication. All new employees participate 
in MICROmega’s employee induction program and internal 
newsletters are circulated by some of the business units. The 
company intranet is also available for use by all employees and 
provides employees with access to all company policies and 
procedures.

• Relationships with clients are built on trust and continuous 
personal contact. The provision of superior services and 
products is central to the business and MICROmega strives to 
ensure that clients receive excellent service on all levels and 
product quality is continually improved upon and suitable for 
the client’s specific needs. Relationships with suppliers and 
MICROmega’s business partners are actively developed, effectively 
managed and MICROmega strives to ensure the responsible 
provision of goods and services while maintaining a high standard 
of integrity. 

• Industry regulators monitor compliance with, inter alia, the JSE 
Limited Listings Requirements, legislation administered by the 
Financial Services Board and the Companies Act and MICROmega 
engages with the various industry regulators as and when required. 
A culture of compliance is fostered among employees. Ongoing 
communication with MICROmega’s sponsors is maintained to 
ensure that MICROmega is in the forefront of reporting to investors 
and the market in general.

Directors Going Concern Statement
After making due inquiries, the directors are satisfied that 
MICROmega has adequate resources available to continue to operate 
for the foreseeable future and there is no reason to believe that the 
MICROmega group will not continue in operation for the forthcoming 
year. The annual financial statements presented on pages 31 to 
121 have accordingly been prepared on a going concern basis. The 
directors are responsible for the final approval of the annual financial 
statements and the group’s auditor, Nexia SAB&T are responsible for 
auditing and for highlighting key risks which may affect the going 
concern of the MICROmega group.

A culture of compliance is fostered 

among employees. Ongoing communication with 

MICROmega’s sponsoring brokers to ensure that 

MICROmega is in the forefront of reporting to 

investors and the market in general.

Relationships with clients are built on trust and 

continuous personal contact. The provision of 

superior services and products is central to the 

business and MICROmega strives to ensure that 

clients receive excellent service on all levels and 

product quality is continually improved upon and 

suitable for the client’s specific needs.
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In March 2011, the risk committee was formed after a decision was 
taken by the audit committee to align with best practice and the 
principles of King III and split the audit and risk functions into two 
separate committees. The risk committee provides an oversight 
function in respect of policies and activities relating to the risk 
management framework as well as oversees compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements and reports to the board of directors 
thereon.

Membership of the risk committee is comprised of both executive and 
non-executive directors and members of senior management and the 
membership is as follows:

• DSE Carlisle – Chairman 
• PV Henwood – ex-officio member (Chairman of the Audit 

Committee)
• DJ Case
• DL Strydom
• A Vercueil
• CE Eddey
• WG Streek
• RCE Glass

The risk committee is required to meet twice a year and attendance 
thereat is set out below.

Attendance at risk committee meetings during 2011:

Committee Member 4 August 2011 23 November 2011

DSE Carlisle  

PV Henwood  

DJ Case  

CE Eddey  A

DL Strydom  

A Vercueil  

WG Streek A A

RCE Glass A A

By Invitation

RC Lewin  -

 = Present / A = Apologies

Commencing in 2012, sub-committee meetings are to be held in 
respect of the six business units four times a year to enhance risk 
management and to ensure that risk management remains a priority 
throughout the year.

The risk committee performs its duties and responsibilities in 
accordance with the committee’s terms of reference, which were 
approved at the first risk committee meeting held on 4 August 2011. 
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually and updated as and 
when required. 

The risk committee’s terms of reference requires the committee 
to develop a methodology for the identification, evaluation and 
mitigation of the following risks and to oversee the implementation of 
a system of monitoring changes in such risks:

• Access to product 
• Access to working capital/liquidity 
• Business Interruption
• Compliance with King III and JSE Limited Listings Requirements
• Credit Risk 
• Currency Risk 
• Customer Retention 
• Fraud, Corruption and Theft 
• Insurance Risk 
• Intellectual Property Protection 
• Legal Compliance 
• Litigation Reserves
• Other commitments and contingencies
• Product and environmental liability
• Reputational Risk 
• Skills Retention 
• Solvency 
• Transformation and BEE 
• Valuation of assets, liabilities and warranties

The MIRACLES risk assessment methodology, has been utilised by the 
group since 2010 as an effective risk management tool. In addition, 
every subsidiary’s risk matrix is considered at each committee meeting 
to assess, address and monitor particular areas of concern. 

During the 2011 financial year, the risk committee approved the 
committees terms of reference, allocated risk categories to the 
appropriate risk committee members, reviewed the group’s risk matrix 
and took steps to mitigate areas of high risk, reviewed the group’s 
information technology exposures and agreed on the development of 
a policy to protect the group’s intellectual property and reviewed the 
group’s financial exposures. 

The risk committee is pleased with the progress made during its initial 
year of operation and believes it will add substantial value to the 
business in the forthcoming years. 

DSE Carlisle
Chairman of the risk committee
1 March 2012

RISK 
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In accordance with sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act and 
the principles of King III, the remuneration committee presents its 
report for the 2011 financial year, which includes the remuneration 
policy, upon which the shareholders will be requested to cast a non-
binding advisory vote thereon at the company’s annual general 
meeting.

The remuneration committee performs its duties and responsibilities 
in accordance with the committee’s terms of reference, which are 
reviewed annually and updated as and when required. The role 
of the remuneration committee is to assist the board to ensure 
that MICROmega remunerates directors and employees fairly and 
responsibly and that the disclosure of director remuneration is 
accurate, complete and transparent.

The remuneration committee’s terms of reference require the 
committee to inter alia:

• oversee the administration of remuneration at all levels in the 
company;

• ensure that the remuneration policy promotes the achievement of 
strategic objectives and encourages individual performance;

• ensure that the remuneration policy is put to a non-binding 
advisory vote at the annual general meeting of shareholders once 
every year;

• review the outcomes of the implementation of the remuneration 
policy to determine whether the set objectives are being 
achieved;

• ensure that the mix of fixed and variable pay, in cash, shares 
and other elements, meets the company’s needs and strategic 
objectives;

• satisfy itself as to the accuracy of recorded performance measures 
that govern the vesting of incentives;

• ensure that all benefits, including retirement benefits and other 
financial arrangements, are justified and correctly valued;

• consider the results of the evaluation of the performance of the 
executive chairman and other executive directors, both as a 
directors and as executives in determining remuneration;

• select an appropriate comparative group when comparing 
remuneration levels;

• regularly review incentive schemes to ensure continued 
contribution to shareholder value and that these are administered 
in terms of the rules;

• consider the appropriateness of early vesting of share-based 
schemes at the end of employment; and

• advise on the remuneration of non-executive directors.

The remuneration committee is comprised of two non-executive 
directors, Ross Lewin, the Chairman of the remuneration committee, 
and Peter Henwood. The members of the board of directors and 
independent external auditors attend the meetings by invitation. 
Where the remuneration of a board member is to be discussed, that 
board member is recused from the meeting. The remuneration 
committee is required to meet at least twice a year and attendance 
thereat is set out below.

Attendance at remuneration committee meetings during 2011:

Committee Member 25 March 2011 1 December 2011

RC Lewin – via telecon  

PV Henwood  

By Invitation

DC King  A

IG Morris  

DSE Carlisle  

DJ Case  

J Wessels – KPMG  -

L White – KPMG A -

 = Present / A = Apologies

During the 2011 financial year, the remuneration committee reviewed 
the fees paid to non-executive directors, approved the bonuses payable 
to the managing directors based on performance during the 2011 
financial year, tabled the possibility of including share based payments 
as a long-term incentive and approved annual increases and bonuses 
for all employees.

Remuneration philosophy
MICROmega’s remuneration philosophy is based on the premise of 
developing a high performance culture whereby senior executives 
and employees are rewarded and motivated for sustained quality 
performance. Senior executives are rewarded in accordance with the 
performance measurement system implemented during the year 
under review and employees are rewarded by way of annual incentives 
based on performance of the group and their own individual 
performances. Annual increases are benchmarked on inflation 
projections and the current package and performance of each 
individual.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Managing Directors:
During the year under review, the performance measurement 
system approved by the remuneration committee during the 
previous year was applied to all the managing directors of the 
subsidiaries of MICROmega. This system is based on financial 
performance, economic sustainability and strategic initiatives; 
and performance targets are based on each company’s budget and 
performance initiatives for the year. Remuneration is based on a 
total cost to company for each director with the fixed pay portion of 
the remuneration being the basic monthly salary and the variable 
portion being the short-term incentives provided by the performance 
measurement system. Performance bonuses are payable to the 
managing directors at the end of March based on audited financial 
statements.

Financial targets account for 75% of the performance measurement 
and require each managing director to achieve forecast earnings as per 
the approved budget, ensure proper working capital management and 
credit control and improve the company’s return on equity. Economic 
stability is the second principle within the performance measurement 
system and accounts for 25% of the performance measurement. 

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE REPORT
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In order to achieve the economic stability target each company is 
required to meet the following requirements:

• compliance with group policies and procedures;
• legal compliance;
• client relationship management;
• supplier relationship management;
• annual improvement of B-BBEE scores;
• corporate social responsibility initiatives;
• enhancement of the company brand;
• human resources management;
• new clients secured during the financial year;
• ensuring internal risk assessments are completed on a monthly 

basis; and
• staff development programmes and succession planning.

In addition to these two targets, the performance measurement system 
requires each company to develop a set of strategic initiatives which 
will be monitored by the executives of MICROmega. 

Executive directors:
The remuneration packages for executive directors are market related 
and any performance bonuses and incentives are awarded based on 
the individual director’s performance during the year and subject to 
approval by the remuneration committee and the board of directors. 
Performance bonuses are payable to executive directors at the end of 
March based on audited financial statements. Further details on the 
remuneration of executive directors can be found in note 31 to the 
annual financial statements.

Non-executive directors:
The non-executive directors of MICROmega are remunerated for their 
services by way of a monthly base fee together with an attendance fee 
for each meeting attended. As required by section 66 of the Companies 
Act, the remuneration paid to the non-executive directors was 
authorised by shareholders by way of a special resolution at the annual 
general meeting held on 15 July 2011, which special resolution is valid 
for a period of two years. MICROmega provides neither short-term or 
long-term incentives nor any compensation for loss of office to non-
executive directors. During the year under review, the fees paid to the 
non-executive directors were as follows:

• R5 000 per month as a base fee;
• R10 000 for attendance at each board meeting;
• R5 000 for attendance at each audit committee meeting; 
• R5 000 for attendance at each remuneration committee meeting; 
• R5 000 for attendance at each risk committee meeting.
• R5 000 for chairing each audit committee meeting; 
• R5 000 for chairing each remuneration committee meeting; and

Employees:
MICROmega’s staff remuneration policy is applicable to all employees 
other than managing directors, executive directors and non-executive 
directors and is based on a remuneration system aimed at rewarding 

overall contribution or performance rather than on status or position. 
Performance bonuses are at the discretion of management and based 
on the following:

• individual performance and contribution to the subsidiary during 
the financial year;

• the necessity of competitive remuneration;
• whether employees are currently receiving a contractual 13th 

cheque;
• the subsidiary’s financial performance during the financial year;
• the subsidiary’s future financial requirements;
• general business conditions, strategies and investment 

opportunities;
• cash flows and availability of cash; and 
• net debt levels.

The average remuneration paid to the top three earners of MICROmega, 
who are not directors of the company, on a cost to company basis, 
including bonuses is R2 593 225.71, while the amount paid in 2010 was 
R1 573 879.45.

Other benefits
MICROmega employees may elect to join the MICROmega provident 
fund which is an umbrella fund established and managed by 
Momentum FundsAtWork. In addition all employees are encouraged 
to join the company appointed medical aid scheme, Discovery Health, 
and to contribute to the life cover insurance through Discovery Life.
 
MICROmega Share Incentive Scheme
The MICROmega Share Incentive Scheme provides MICROmega 
employees with the opportunity to acquire an interest in the equity 
of the company, thereby creating further incentive to advance 
MICROmega’s interests and promoting an identity of interests between 
employees and the shareholders of the company.  

RC Lewin
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
1 March 2012

MICROmega’s remuneration philosophy is based 
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through Discovery Life.
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The board of directors of MICROmega recognises that the principles of 
sustainable development can only be achieved if it is integrated with 
the financial performance of the company. Due to the nature of the 
group structure and the independent management of the day-to-day 
operations of the various subsidiaries, each subsidiary is responsible 
for implementing its own initiatives that will ensure sustainable 
management throughout the business. 
 
ENVIRONMENT
All business activities impact the environment and given the diverse 
nature of the businesses operated by the subsidiary companies, 
some of the companies are classified as medium impact companies 
while others, the majority of the subsidiaries, are classified as low 
impact companies, in accordance with the environmental impact 
criteria set out in the JSE SRI Index. Most of the activities undertaken 
by MICROmega’s subsidiaries are classified as support services, 
information technology and financial services, which do not have a 
significant environmental impact. The main sustainability focus of 
these low impact companies is on energy and water conservation, 
recycling and limiting paper usage, and creating employee awareness 
of environmental responsibility. 

During the year under review the businesses located at MICROmega’s 
head office, at 66 Park Lane Sandton, have monitored their electricity, 
water and paper consumption, in an attempt to minimise wastage and 
improve waste disposal and recycling opportunities. 

For the twelve months ending 31 December 2011, the following 
resources were consumed:

Electricity Consumption (Kwh) 

Monthly Annually CO2(kg) No of Trees*

6 983 025 83 796 296 86 310 185 229 585.1

Paper Consumption (Reams) 

Monthly Annually Weight (Tons) No of Trees*

362 4 344 9.991 24.8

* The above calculations were determined by utilising the carbon 
calculator found at http://www.trees.co.za/carbon-offset-calculator/
carbon-calculator.html. 

Water Consumption (Kilolitres)

Monthly Annually

424.75 5 097

Reducing the electricity, paper and water consumption remains a 
priority for MICROmega. In the year ahead we aim to further reduce 
our water, electricity and fuel consumption and move towards 
developing a methodology to measure and monitor resource usage. 
Business travel and petrol consumption will be monitored in the 2012 
year and the emissions assessed accordingly.

MICROmega actively monitors printer usage within the organisation 
and encourages the responsible use of resources. Ensuring that less 
energy is used on a daily basis is supported by management and staff 
is encouraged to turn off lights and air conditioners that are not being 
used, as well as switch computers off before leaving the office. Going 
forward, MICROmega aims to make use of resource consumption 

figures to enable meaningful data comparisons and to introduce 
further energy saving initiatives. These efforts to pursue energy saving 
initiatives also assist the group in reducing costs and having more 
disposable income.

Due to the nature of the businesses, BTM Manufacturing Proprietary 
Limited (BTM) and Deltec Power Distributors Proprietary Limited 
(Deltec) are considered to have a greater impact on the environment; 
however this impact is controlled and reduced where possible.

BTM was sold during the 2011 financial year and it is expected that this 
will result in a large reduction in water and electricity consumption. 
BTM manufactures and supplies bull bars, tow bars, bumpers, roll 
bars and side steps to vehicle manufacturers and distributors. Products 
are manufactured according to stringent safety and quality standards 
and the company is ISO and SANS accredited. Recycled steel is 
used where possible and proper disposal of chemical waste is carried 
out. 

Deltec is a distributor of imported high quality lead calcium 
maintenance-free batteries and the product range is supported by 
internationally certified quality and environmental standards. Deltec 
only supplies sealed batteries to clients which eliminates the needs for 
employees to wear protective clothing and limits the negative effects of 
lead acid leakage. The “one-for-one” system used successfully in South 
Africa for the collection of old batteries is implemented by Deltec, and 
batteries are disposed of to a recognised lead smelter. Deltec is also 
shifting its focus to the supply of renewable energy products, such as 
solar panels and solar lighting systems to clients.

SOCIAL
MICROmega is committed to treating all stakeholders with respect, 
dignity and fairness, while empowering its employees and the 
communities in which it operates.

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS
The long-term sustainability of MICROmega is dependent on several 
factors, a crucial factor being its relationship with its employees. The 
company ensures that its core values of innovation, service excellence, 
integrity and responsibility are instilled throughout the business 
units and in the day-to-day operations of the company. All employees 
abide by a code of conduct which ensures that a comfortable work 
environment is maintained.

MICROmega endeavours to promote a fair and open work environment 
where communication is encouraged. Furthermore, all executives of 
the company adhere to an open door policy.

MICROmega complies with, inter alia, the Basic Conditions of 
Employment Act 75 of 1997, the Labour Relations Act 66 of 1995 and 
the Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993.

Employee wellness programmes are arranged by MICROmega allowing 
employees access to health care and health assessments, and fitness 
activities are encouraged. Social events are also organised on a 
monthly basis to encourage integration and communication between 
the employees of the various subsidiaries.

SUSTAINABILITY 
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Recognising that South 
Africa is a diverse 
nation in need of 

assistance in all facets 
of society, in 2011 we 

took the opportunity to 
invest in a multitude 
of different charities, 
consciously choosing 

to spread our scope of 
assistance across these 
various areas of need. 
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
MICROmega strives to attract and retain high caliber individuals and 
focuses on developing its employees through internal and external 
training. We support the skills development of our employees by 
providing financial assistance to enhance their qualifications through 
further education, providing in-house training, and offering staff 
the opportunity to attend external training courses presented by 
accredited trainers. 

During the year under review MICROmega spent R905 064.03 (2010: 
R639 778.59) on external staff training. 

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND BROAD-BASED BLACK ECONOMIC 
EMPOWERMENT (“B-BBEE”)
MICROmega is an equal opportunity employer and subscribes to the 
Codes of Good Practice issued under the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Act 53 of 2003, as amended. 

Each subsidiary in MICROmega is responsible for improving its 
B-BBEE score and to ensure that employment opportunities are 
provided within the communities in which they operate.

MICROmega’s employee demographics for the 2011 financial year-end 
are as follows:

Classification
31 December 2011 31 December 2010

Male Female Male Female

White 202 162 198 143

African 242 88 228 86

Coloured 12 14 23 13

Indian 13 15 13 14

Total 469 279 462 256

At the end of the 2011 financial year 51% of the staff have been 
categorised as historically disadvantaged individuals, slightly down 
from the prior year (2010: 53%). Of the total staff compliment 37% are 
female, an increase from 2010: 35%.
 
Staff movements during the 2011 financial year-end:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

Opening Balance 718 768

Appointments 184 117

Resignations (21) (107)

Resignations due to sale 
of BTM

(99) _

Dismissals (10) (8)

Expiry of Contract (6) (11)

Retrenchment (6) (34)

Death (2) (5)

Absconded (8) (2)

Retired (2) 0

Closing Balance 748 718

The above movements reflect a staff turnover of 21% (2010: 22%).

HEALTH & SAFETY
The health and safety of every employee within the organisation is a 
top priority for MICROmega. Given the sector in which NOSA operates, 
we view ourselves as somewhat of a role model to all our stakeholders 
in this regard. Accordingly, at an absolute minimum all subsidiaries 
operate in accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 
of 1993.

Given the diversity of the various business sectors covered by our 
group, each subsidiary is required to implement and maintain 
sector specific health and safety controls to ensure that any risks are 
effectively mitigated. To this end, the Risk Committee has elected one 
of its members to manage all health and safety risks within the group.

MICROmega recognises that HIV/AIDS still remains one of the greatest 
socio-economic challenges to South Africa. As such, we encourage our 
employees to act responsibly and we support a workplace that is free 
of prejudice. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
MICROmega and its core businesses are not only dedicated to investing 
in innovation and inspiring success within the corporate playing field, 
but also in our approach to our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR).

Recognising that South Africa is a diverse nation in need of assistance 
in all facets of society, in 2011 we took the opportunity to invest in a 
multitude of different charities, consciously choosing to spread our 
scope of assistance across these various areas of need. 

When deciding the most effective way to make an impact, we assessed 
each charity individually and identified a trend in their need for 
financial assistance to facilitate their sustainability for the year. We 
believe that it is equally important for a successful corporate to share 
not only their time but their financial means with those that will use 
the finances to create safe, secure and inspiring platforms for the less 
fortunate needing the help. 

Sustainability in our current economic climate is a never ending 
challenge for most NGO’s within South Africa, and the context of 
the word is continually evolving and changing for them. We believe 
it is important to be in touch with these ever changing needs, and 
facilitate them with an awareness and dedication to making a real and 
measurable difference. 

With this in mind, during the 2011 financial year, the MICROmega group 
contributed R825 021 (2010: R591 811) to the following organisations 
by way of donations, fund raisers and free training in 2011:
• Hearts of Hope
• Hospice    
• Johannesburg Children’s Home  
• Alzheimer’s South Africa   
• United Cerebral Palsy Association 
• Chubby Chums   
• Meals on Wheels  
• Salvation Army   
• Abraham Kriel Children’s Home 
• Johannesburg SPCA   
• SAP Widow & Children  
• ST Giles    
• SA Guide Dogs Association  
• Agape   
• Daktari Wild Life Institution 
•  Save the Rhino

With a passion for investment, innovation and service we endeavour to 
continue our CSR footprint within South Africa. 

REPORT ASSURANCE
MICROmega has not obtained independent third-party assurance of 
this sustainability report for the 2011 reporting period. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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CERTIFICATION BY 
COMPANY SECRETARY

In accordance with the provisions of section 88(e) of the Companies Act, 
71 of 2008, (“the Act”), I hereby confirm that, in respect of the financial 
year ended 31 December 2011, MICROmega Holdings Limited has lodged, 
with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, all applicable 
returns and notices as are required in terms of the Act, and that all such 
returns are true, correct and up to date.

T de Mendonca
Company Secretary
1 March 2012
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The Board of directors (“the directors”) are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity of the consolidated annual financial statements and related financial information included in the annual 
integrated report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company and the group as 
at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the group and places 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board sets 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 
level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied 
and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated annual financial statements. However, any 
system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast for the year ended 31 December 2012 and, in the light of this review and the current 
financial position, they are satisfied that the company and group have or have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company and the group’s annual financial statements. These 
annual financial statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 35.

The financial statements set out on pages 36 to 123, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the board on 1 March 
2012 and were signed on its behalf by: 

  
 DC King IG Morris
 Executive Chairman Chief Executive Officer

DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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The directors present their report for the year ended 31 December 2011. This report forms part of the audited group and separate financial 
statements of MICROmega Holdings Limited (“financial statements”).

1. General review
The group’s business and operations and the results thereof are clearly reflected in the attached consolidated annual financial statements.

2. Nature of the business
MICROmega is a holding company with controlling interests in a number of operating subsidiaries. Our businesses are primarily focused on 
the provision of information technology, financial, occupational health & safety and labour supply services. MICROmega is a public company 
listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange under the support services sector.

Through the interests held by the company, the group provides the following services and products:

• NOSA
NOSA provides occupational health, safety and environmental risk management services and is the exclusive provider of both the 
NOSA Integrated Five Star Grading System and SAMTRAC.

• MECS Africa
MECS Africa is a service orientated business that alleviates the considerable burden of manpower management by offering an 
integrated human resource solution to a diverse client base.

• MICROmega Securities
MICROmega Securities is an inter-dealer broker (IDB), providing a specialist intermediary broking service to commercial banks, 
investment banks, stock brokers as well as reputable trading entities in the wholesale financial markets.

• Deltec Power Distributors
Deltec Power Distributors is a leading distributor of a wide variety of high quality imported maintenance-free batteries.

• Sebata Group
Sebata provides integrated technology solutions, enterprise management systems and multidisciplinary professional services to 
municipalities, public entities, Provincial Government and the private sector.

• Turrito Networks
Turrito is a converged communication provider delivering MPLS networks, hosting facilities, internet and cloud computing services 
to the corporate and SMME market.

These services are provided globally and extend across a diverse client base, inclusive of both the private and public sectors.

3. Dividends
No dividends were declared or recommended during the year or the previous year.

4. Share capital
There were no changes in the issued share capital of the group during the year under review.

During the year the group repurchased 2 167 016 treasury shares on the open market at an average price of 176 cents to be utilised to settle 
future vendor payments.

5. Property, plant and equipment
The changes in the property, plant and equipment during the year or any changes in the policy relating to their use are set out in the attached 
financial statements and do not, in our opinion, require further comment. 

6. Events subsequent to the year end
There were no subsequent events after the reporting date.

REPORT OF 
THE DIRECTORS
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7. Directors
The directors of the group during the accounting period and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Mr DC King .................................................Executive Chairman  
Mr IG Morris ...............................................Chief Executive Officer 
Mr DSE Carlisle ..........................................Managing Director 
Mr DJ Case ..................................................Financial Director 
Mr PV Henwood .........................................Non-executive Director 
Mr RC Lewin ...............................................Non-executive Director

8. Company secretary
The company secretary of the group is T De Mendonca, whose business and postal addresses are:
66 Park Lane
Sandton
2196

Private Bag X9966
Sandton
2146

9. Discontinued operations
The group continues to classify Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited as discontinued operations. There are ongoing discussions and negotiations 
around the remaining assets, including the plant & machinery and inventory.  

During September 2011 the group disposed of its entire interest in BTM Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited, a manufacturer of towbars and 
other bolt on accessories for the automotive market. The business and assets of ARDA Professional Machining Services (Proprietary) Limited 
were disposed of as part of the transaction.

During October 2011 the group disposed of 90% of its interest in Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) Limited, an oil piping solutions 
company.

During November 2011 the group disposed of the business and assets of Automobile Radio Dealers Association 1989 (Proprietary) Limited, a 
company specialising in auto electrical accessories distribution.

10. Special resolutions
In addition to the special resolutions contained in the notice to the 2010 Annual General Meeting, the following special resolutions were 
passed: 

- all the subsidiaries passed special resolutions in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act relating to the authority to provide 
financial assistance to subsidiary and associated companies;

- certain subsidiaries changed their company names;
- ARDA Professional Machining Services (Proprietary) Limited disposed of its business and assets as part of the BTM Manufacturing 

(Proprietary) Limited transaction;
- Automobile Radio Dealers Association 1989 (Proprietary) Limited disposed of its business and assets; and
- MICROmega Securities (Proprietary) Limited was granted the authority to issue shares to a director.

11. Subsidiaries and associated companies
During January 2011 the company disposed of its interests in MICROmega Revenue Management Solutions (Proprietary) Limited and 
Intermap (Proprietary) Limited to Sebata Municipal Solutions (Proprietary) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary.

  Number   Shares at cost  
   of shares Percentage less accumulated Due by /(to) 
  in issue holding impairment subsidiaries
  % R’000 R’000
  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

MICROmega Securities (Proprietary) Limited 
and its subsidiary companies 5 275 035 100 100 81 405 78 704 (20 380) (18 824)

MICROmega Treasury Solutions (Proprietary) Limited 943 100 100 -      - - -
MICROmega Revenue Management Solutions 

(Proprietary) Limited and its subsidiary companies 100 - 100 -       3 038 - 2 271
MICROmega Properties 2 (Proprietary) Limited 13 500 100 100 92    92    461 454
MICROmega Investment Portfolio (Proprietary) Limited 13 500 100 100 92 92 328 328
SA Meter Reading Services (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 180 180 - -

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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  Number   Shares at cost  
   of shares Percentage less accumulated Due by /(to) 
  in issue holding impairment subsidiaries
  % R’000 R’000
  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Intermap (Proprietary) Limited 100 000 - 100 - 3 481 - (4 970)
Deltec Power Distributors (Proprietary) Limited 

and its subsidiary company 100 100 100 14 788 14 788 4 440 2875
Sebata Municipal Solutions (Proprietary) Limited 

and its subsidiary companies 392 100 100 8 015 8 014 (5 390) (19 165)
MICROmega National Certification Authority (Proprietary) Limited 120 100 100 - - (18 330) (2 195)
NOSA (Proprietary) Limited and its subsidiary companies 120 100 100 - - 10 047 (10 932)
Riskworks (Proprietary) Limited 200 60 60 - - - -
MICROmega Quality Assurance (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 - - - -
MECS Africa (Proprietary) Limited and its subsidiary companies 4 500 100 100 4 931 4 930 10 408 8 778
Swazi Occupational Safety & Health (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 406 406 (71) (71)
BTM Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited 

and its subsidiary company 100 - 100 - 11 671 - 20 676
Automobile Radio Dealers Association 1989  

(Proprietary) Limited and its subsidiary company 16 100 100 - 1 314 10 367 9 388 
Tiseletso (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 - - 271 261
Mzimkhulu Financial Investments (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 - - 92 32 578
Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) Limited 5 000 10 100 - 10 990 - (1 599)
Stable-Net Solutions (Proprietary) Limited 120 100 100 530 500 13 958 13 232
MICROmega Technologies (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 85 31 - 8 304 8 528
Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited 1 100 100 100 5 222 5 223 17 097 12 722
Ocneblok Properties (Proprietary) Limited 100 50 50 3 746 3 747 - -
Sciam Professional Solutions (Proprietary) Limited 100 50 50 - - 5 389 3 389
MICROmega Financial Services (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 1 1 (3 486) (3 873)
Tipulinx (Proprietary) Limited 100 - 74 - 1 - -
Extriblox (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 1 1 - -
Arbez Advanced Solutions and Services (Proprietary) Limited 1000 50 50 - - - -
NOSA Namibia (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 - - 549 549
SAMTRAC Limited 100 100 100 4 4 - -
MICROmega Publications (Proprietary) Limited 100 51 51 511 510 109 170
Chlorotorque (Proprietary) Limited 100 - 100 - 1 - 1
Chloroway (Proprietary) Limited 100 100 100 1 1 - -
Turrito Networks (Proprietary) Limited 100 60 51 1 1 1 080 -
Quandovert Sec 21 (Proprietary) Limited - - 100 - 1 - -
Cloudware (Proprietary) Limited 100 60 60 - - 5 702 4 419
Kyostax (Proprietary) Limited 100 50 50 - - 5 957 7 530
MICROmega Services and Support SPRL 100 100 - 271 - - -
Beatrix Events (Proprietary) Limited 1000 50 - - - (180) -
Symphony Trade & Invest 32 (Proprietary) Limited 100 60 - - - 1 354 -
    120 228 147 691 48 076 66 787

    
With the exception of Swazi Occupational Safety & Health (Proprietary) Limited, which is domiciled in Swaziland; SAMTRAC Limited, which 
is domiciled in the United Kingdom; NOSA Namibia (Proprietary) Limited, which is domiciled in Namibia; and MICROmega Services and 
Support SPRL, which is domiciled in the Democratic Republic of Congo, all of the above entities are domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. 

All the above entities have the same year end as MICROmega Holdings Limited.

The earnings of the subsidiaries attributable to MICROmega Holdings Limited was R66 579 777.
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In accordance with section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act and the 
principles of King III, the audit committee presents its report for 
the 2011 financial year to the board of directors and to all company 
stakeholders. 

The audit committee is comprised of two non-executive directors, 
Peter Henwood, the Chairman of the audit committee, and Ross Lewin. 
At the time of preparing this report, the recruitment process to appoint 
additional independent non-executive directors as members of the 
audit committee is ongoing. Peter Henwood CA (SA) is a former audit 
partner of KPMG Inc., who has over 40 years of experience in the audit 
environment. He has been registered as a Chartered Accountant for the 
last 36 years. Ross Lewin BSc.Eng (Hons) is an engineering professional 
who has had a successful career over more than 20 years in the 
engineering and information technology service provision fields. As a 
founding member of various companies, he has successfully assumed 
financial responsibility for those companies whilst overseeing rapid 
and substantial growth. Ross also holds directorships on the boards of 
a number of international companies.

At the committee meeting held during March 2011, the committee 
agreed to split the audit and risk functions into two separate 
committees as the management of risk is principally an operational 
matter which required certain employees of MICROmega to form a 
part of the risk committee. The audit committee terms of reference 
were accordingly amended and approved by the committee and the 
board of directors in August 2011.

The executive directors and representatives from the independent 
external auditor, Nexia SAB&T, are invited to attend the audit 
committee meetings. The audit committee is required to meet at least 
twice a year but met four times during the 2011 financial year and the 
attendance thereat is set out in the table below:

Attendance at audit committee meetings during 2011:

Committee Member
25 

March 
2011

5 
August 

2011

26 
October 

2011

1 
December 

2011

PV Henwood    

RC Lewin – via telecon    

By Invitation

DC King    A

IG Morris    

DSE Carlisle    

DJ Case    

J Wessels – KPMG   - -

L White – KPMG  A - -

B Adam – Nexia SAB&T - -  -

S Kleovoulou – Nexia SAB&T - -  -

 = Present / A = Apologies

Nexia SAB&T were appointed as the external auditors of the company 
with effect from 24 August 2011.

In accordance with the committee’s approved terms of reference, the 

audit committee discharged, inter alia, the following responsibilities 
during the 2011 financial year:

• reviewed the interim results, annual financial statements, 
trading updates, SENS announcements and other similar 
documents and provided comments thereon to the board of 
directors;

• made submissions to the board on matters concerning 
MICROmega’s accounting policies, financial controls and 
reporting;

• generally reviewed the company’s financial risk management 
and controls and held discussions with the independent external 
auditor in this regard;

• satisfied itself with the appropriateness of the expertise and 
adequacy of resources of the finance function, including the 
appropriateness and expertise of the financial director, David 
Case;

• monitored the company’s combined assurance model and 
ensured that significant risks facing the company were 
adequately addressed;

• approved the internal audit charter and the internal audit plan 
at the committee meeting held on 25 March 2011;

• approved the submission of the Code of Ethics, the Credit Control 
Policy, the Whistle Blowing Policy, the Non-audit Services Policy 
and the IT Policy to the board of directors for final approval;

• nominated Nexia SAB&T for appointment as the independent 
external auditor of the company in place of KPMG Inc.;

• ensured that Nexia SAB&T maintained its independence and 
objectivity;

• assessed the quality and effectiveness of the audit process, 
reviewed and approved the budgeted audit fee for the 2011 
financial year and approved the fees paid to the independent 
external auditor for the 2010 financial year;

• reviewed the directors’ report to be included in the financial 
statements prior to endorsement by the board of directors; and

• evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions in the 
annual integrated report and the clarity and completeness of the 
proposed financial and sustainability disclosures.

In order to ensure that the audit committee performed in accordance 
with the responsibilities laid out in the committee’s terms of reference, 
a checklist of matters to be considered at each meeting is drafted and 
circulated to the members. This checklist guides the formation of the 
agenda for each meeting and the completed checklist forms part of the 
minutes of the audit committee.

Independent External Auditor appointment and independence
KPMG Inc. was the company’s independent external auditor until 
24 August 2011 whereafter Nexia SAB&T was appointed, following the 
audit committee’s approval. The decision to change auditors was based 
on a cost savings initiative within the MICROmega group.  The audit 
committee duly satisfied itself that, in accordance with section 94(8) of 
the Companies Act, Nexia SAB&T, the external auditor of MICROmega 
is independent of MICROmega and that the appointment of Nexia 
SAB&T was made in accordance with applicable legislation. 

At the audit committee meeting held on 26 October 2011, the audit 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
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committee approved the terms of engagement and the fees payable 
to Nexia SAB&T for the 2011 audit and recommended, subject to 
shareholder approval being obtained at the subsequent annual 
general meeting, Nexia SAB&T for appointment as the external auditor 
of MICROmega for the ensuing financial year. 

The group has a formal policy on the provision of non-audit services 
by the independent external auditor which specifies those services 
that the auditor is prohibited from providing to MICROmega as well 
as those that require pre-approval by the audit committee. During the 
year under review, Nexia SAB&T did not provide any non-audit services 
to MICROmega, while the MICROmega Ethics Hotline is currently 
being provided by KPMG Inc.

Commentary on the financial statements and accounting practices 
of MICROmega
The audit committee checklist prepared for each meeting, assists 
committee members in ensuring that MICROmega complies with 
required accounting practices and all relevant matters are timeously 
brought to the attention of the audit committee. 

Input from the independent external auditors at committee meetings 
provides committee members with greater insight into the financial 
management of the company. 

The audit committee is therefore satisfied that the financial statements 
of the company comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are consistent with the previous annual financial 
statements and that no matters of significance have been raised during 
the 2011 financial year. 

Evaluation of MICROmega’s finance function
The audit committee has considered the appropriateness of the 
expertise and experience of the financial director, David Case, together 
with MICROmega’s finance team and is satisfied that David Case and 
the finance team have the necessary knowledge, skills and expertise to 
perform the finance function for the group.

Internal Audit and the Internal Control System
MICROmega’s internal audit department provides the group with 
an independent and objective assurance function and operates in 
accordance with the internal audit charter and internal audit plan 
approved by the board of directors in March 2011. The internal 
audit department reports directly to the audit committee and has 
unrestricted access to the chairman of the audit committee. The 
internal auditor provides the audit committee with updates as to the 
progress made by the department and brings any significant risks or 
issues to be considered to the attention of the audit committee at every 
audit committee meeting or when required.

MICROmega’s internal audit department has operated successfully 
for over a year in accordance with the internal audit plan, which is 
structured as a 3 year strategic internal audit rolling plan, together with 
a focused annual internal audit plan. 

During the 2011 financial year, internal audit performed planned 
engagements on the revenue management and accounts receivable 
for the group as well as several ad hoc management requests on 
stock control, overtime and claims payments in several subsidiary 
companies.

The board of directors is responsible for the internal financial controls 
and systems in use throughout the group and the internal audit 
department has assisted the board of directors in evaluating the 

effectiveness of these internal controls. The identification of possible 
risks and the implementation of adequate internal financial controls is 
delegated to the managing directors of each subsidiary while the board 
of directors has ultimate authority and responsibility for ensuring that 
systems of internal financial controls are effectively implemented 
and monitored. The audit committee is satisfied that during the 2011 
financial year MICROmega maintained adequate systems of internal 
control over the financial reporting of the group and has ensured that 
group assets were adequately safeguarded and nothing has come 
to the attention of the committee members that indicate a material 
breakdown in the functioning of the group’s internal control systems.

Whistle blowing
The whistle blowing policy was approved by the board of directors 
on 5 August 2011 and thereafter distributed to all employees of the 
MICROmega group. MICROmega has implemented the whistle blowing 
policy in order to demonstrate its commitment to working towards a 
culture of fairness, openness and transparency. In conjunction with 
the whistle blowing policy, the MICROmega Holdings Ethics Hotline, 
which is independently operated by KPMG Inc., has been established 
with the aim of promoting an honest work ethic and providing all 
employees with a mechanism to anonymously bring any unethical 
business practices to the attention of management. All reports 
received from the Ethics Hotline are forwarded to the designated 
representatives at MICROmega and to the audit committee for review 
and consideration as to whether the action taken by the designated 
representatives was appropriate or whether further action is required. 
A register of all calls or reports made to the Ethics Hotline shall be kept 
by the company secretary. No reports were received from the Ethics 
Hotline during the 2011 financial year. 

Going concern assessment
The audit committee reviews the going concern status of MICROmega 
by considering the documentation prepared by management and 
the assurance provided by the financial director at each meeting 
and therefore supports the going concern statement of the board of 
directors.  

Combined Assurance Model
MICROmega’s combined assurance model aims to optimise the 
assurance coverage obtained on the risks affecting the group.

Within MICROmega the following assurance providers provide 
assurance on the group’s risk:

• subsidiary management assurance;
• internal assurance via the executive management;
• Internal audit;
• External audit; 
• Audit committee; and 
• Risk committee.

The management team of each MICROmega subsidiary addresses the 
risks on the day-to-day operations of that business while a monthly 
management meeting is held with MICROmega executive directors. 
The internal audit department examines, evaluates and reports on 
the activities and appropriateness of the systems of internal control, 
risk management and governance processes, while the external 
auditor performs the annual audit in accordance with international 
auditing standards and reports in detail on the results of the audit to 
the subsidiary management, the audit committee and the board of 
directors. Lastly, the risk committee is responsible for assessing risk 
for the entire risk universe of MICROmega and the audit committee 
is responsible for monitoring the appropriateness of the combined 
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assurance model. The audit committee is satisfied that the current 
combined assurance model utilised by MICROmega ensures that 
significant risks facing the group are adequately addressed.

Integrated reporting assurance
In accordance with the principles of King III, the audit committee 
is required to oversee MICROmega’s annual integrated report and 
reporting process while the board of directors is responsible for 
ensuring the integrity of the integrated report.

The audit committee fulfilled its oversight role in respect of 
MICROmega’s annual integrated report and the reporting process and 

considered and assessed the information disclosed in the integrated 
report against the financial, operational, governance and other 
information known to the audit committee and is satisfied that the 
information is reliable and consistent with the financial results.  

PV Henwood
Chairman of the Audit Committee
1 March 2012
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 Group Company
  2011 2010 2011 2010
 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ASSETS   

Non-current assets  275 202 262 828 156 364 211 798

Property, plant and equipment 5 147 033 141 332 8 665 10 099 
Intangible assets 6 70 318 62 902 -  1 000 
Investment in subsidiaries 7 -  -  120 228 147 691 
Investment in associates 8 2 038 2 476 -  -  
Other investments 9 1 573 6 695 1 500 6 594 
Amounts owing by subsidiary companies 16 -  -  14 321 46 071 
Loans receivable 10 23 606 24 677 4 000 -  
Deferred tax assets 11 30 634 24 746 7 650 343

Current assets  244 156 242 036 100 559 86 891

Inventories 13 43 793 51 631 953 915 
Retirement benefits 14 21 381 26 844 -  -  
Trade and other receivables 15 134 467 113 330 639 1 389 
Amounts owing by subsidiary companies 16 -  -  87 601 82 626 
Current portion of loans receivable 10 13 539 3 539 6 765 -  
Cash and cash equivalents 17 23 742 20 963 3 571 885 
Income tax receivable  642 1 043 1 030 1 076 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 12 6 592 24 686 -  - 

Total assets  519 358 504 864 256 923 298 689

EQUITY   

Share capital and share premium 18 187 022 190 797 192 792 192 757 
Non-distributable reserves 19 16 653 14 410 2 861 2 535 
Retained earnings  85 911 78 280 (7 315) 32 312

Total equity attributable to owners of the company  289 586 283 487 188 338 227 604 
Non-controlling interests  24 303 16 189 -  - 

Total equity  313 889 299 676 188 338 227 604
   
LIABILITIES   
   
Non-current liabilities  76 480 69 877 1 775 317

Borrowings 20 65 192 56 576 1 775 317 
Deferred tax liabilities 11 11 288 13 301 -  - 

Current liabilities  128 989 135 311 66 810 70 768

Bank overdraft 17 9 065 11 844 -  -  
Current portion of borrowings 20 14 418 31 886 770 233 
Trade and other payables 22 99 066 82 286 11 660 7 836 
Amounts owing to subsidiary companies 23 -  -  53 846 61 910 
Deferred vendor payments 21 534 789 534 789 
Provisions 24 5 906 8 506 -  -  

Total liabilities  205 469 205 188 68 585 71 085

Total equity and liabilities  519 358 504 864 256 923 298 689

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

 Group Company
  2011 2010 2011 2010
 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue 25   775 483   682 314   28 301   16 850 

Revenue from continuing operations 25   690 985   547 781   28 301   16 850 
Revenue from discontinued operations 25, 34  84 498   134 533   -    -  

Cost of sales   (520 318)  (451 437)  -    -  

Gross profit   255 165   230 877   28 301   16 850 

Gross profit from continuing operations   241 295   211 198   28 301   16 850 
Gross profit  / (loss) from discontinued operations 34   13 870   19 679   -    -  

Other income 26   10 788   4 005   (435)  32 
Distribution expenses   (6 429)  (6 068)  (133)  (72)
Administrative expenses 29   (246 279)  (217 052)  (33 180)  (20 936)
Other (expenses) / income  27   (2 848)  -    (44 329)  9 426 

Results from operations   10 397   11 762   (49 776)  5 300 
Results from continuing operations   49 516   36 868   (49 776)  5 300 
Results from discontinued operations   (39 119)  (22 074)  -    -  

Finance income  32   5 731   6 703   2 956   2 581 
Finance expenses 32   (7 076)  (5 997)  (114)  (81)

Net finance (expense) / income   (1 345)  706   2 842   2 500 

Share of loss of equity accounted associates   (628)  (724)  -    -  

Profit before income taxation   8 424   11 744   (46 934)  7 800 

Profit before taxation from continuing operations   47 823   35 760   (46 934)  7 800 
Loss before taxation from discontinued operations 34   (39 399)  (24 016)  -    -  

Income tax expense 33   3 413   (3 936)  7 307   296 

Profit for the year   11 837   7 808   (39 627)  8 096 

Profit from continuing operations   40 975   25 316   (39 627)  8 096 
(Loss) / Profit from discontinued operations 34   (29 138)  (17 508)  -    -  

Other comprehensive income     
Foreign currency translation differences   (4)  12   -    -  
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment   8 214   16 099   -    -  
Realisation of revaluation reserve through disposal   90   (49)  -    -  
Income tax on other comprehensive income   (1 299)  (4 507)  -    -  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax   7 001   11 555   -    -  

Total comprehensive income for the year   18 838   19 363   (39 627)  8 096 

Profit attributable to:     
Equity holders of the company   7 386   5 673   (39 627)  8 096 
Non-controlling interests   4 451   2 135   -    -  

Profit for the year   11 837   7 808   (39 627)  8 096 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:     
Equity holders of the company   10 527   11 432   (39 627)  8 096 
Non-controlling interests   8 311   7 931   -    -  

Total comprehensive income for the year   18 838   19 363   (39 627)  8 096 

Earnings per share      
Basic earnings per share (cents) 35  7.72 5.86 -41.39 8.36
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 35  7.64 5.83 -40.99 8.32

Continuing operations     
Basic earnings per share (cents)  38.15 23.95 -41.39 8.36
Diluted earnings per share (cents)  37.78 23.83 -40.99 8.32

f



44   MICROmega Holdings Limited – Annual Integrated Report 2011

     Foreign Deal Share-
      Reva- currency  diffe- based   Non-
   Share  Share luation translation   rences payments Retained  controlling Total
  capital premium reserve  reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

Balance at 1 January 2010 970  190 470  3 984  21  1 000  3 191  66 959  266 595  13 455  280 050 
Total comprehensive income for the year       
Profit for the year -   -   -   -   -   -   5 673  5 673  2 135  7 808 
Other comprehensive income -   -   5 376  12  -   -   371  5 759  5 796  11 555 

Foreign currency translation differences -   -   -   12  -   -   -   12  -   12 
Revaluation of property -   -   5 796  -   -   -   -   5 796  5 796  11 592 
Realisation of revaluation reserve

through disposal -   -   (420) -   -   -   371  (49) -   (49)

Total comprehensive income for the year -   -   5 376  12  -   -   6 044  11 432  7 931  19 363 
Transactions with owners,

recorded directly in equity      
Contributions by and distributions to owners (5) (638) -   -   -   826  -   183  394  577 

Treasury shares purchase (5) (639) -   -   -   -   -   (644) -   (644)
Share-based payment transactions -   1  -   -   -   826  -   827  -   827 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations -   -   -   -   -   -  -   - 1 174  1 174 
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (780) (780)

Changes in ownership interests 
in subsidiaries -   -   -   -   -   -   5 277  5 277  (5 591) (314)

Acquisitions on non-controlling  
interests without a change in control -   -   -   -   -   -   5 277  5 277  (5 591) (314)

Total transactions with owners (5) (638) -   -   -   826  5 277  5 460  (5 197) 263 

Balance at 31 December 2010 965  189 832  9 360  33  1 000  4 017  78 280  283 487  16 189  299 676 

Balance at 1 January 2011 965  189 832  9 360  33  1 000  4 017  78 280  283 487  16 189  299 676 
Total comprehensive income for the year    -  -  
Profit for the year -   -   -   -   -   -   7 386  7 386  4 451  11 837 
Other comprehensive income -   -   1 739  (4) -   -   1 406  3 141  3 860  7 001 

Foreign currency translation differences -   -   -   (4) -   -   -   (4) -   (4)
Revaluation of property -   -   3 055  -   -   -   -   3 055  3 860  6 915 
Realisation of revaluation reserve 

through disposal -   -   (1 316) -   -   -   1 406  90  -   90 

Total comprehensive income for the year -   -   1 739  (4) -   -   8 792  10 527  8 311  18 838 
Transactions with owners,

 recorded directly in equity      
Contributions by and distributions 

to owners (22) (3 753) -   -   -   508  -   (3 267) (1 298) (4 565)

Treasury shares purchase (22) (3 788) -   -   -   -   -   (3 810) -   (3 810)
Share-based payment transactions -   35  -   -   -   508  -   543  -   543 
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (1 298) (1 298)

Changes in ownership interests 
in subsidiaries -   -   -   -   -   -   (1 161) (1 161) 1 101  (60)

Acquisitions on non-controlling 
interests without a change in control -   -   -   -   -   -   (1 161) (1 161) 1 101  (60)

Total transactions with owners (22) (3 753) -   -   -   508  (1 161) (4 428) (197) (4 625)

Balance at 31 December 2011 943  186 079  11 099  29  1 000  4 525  85 911  289 586  24 303  313 889 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011
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    Share-based  
  Share  Share payments Retained  
 capital premium reserve  earnings Total
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

Balance at 1 January 2010 1 008 191 748 2 018 24 216 218 990 
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year -  -  -  8 096 8 096 

Total comprehensive income for the year -  -  -  8 096 8 096 
Transactions with owners, 

recorded directly in equity     
Contributions by and distributions to owners -  1 517 -  518 

Share-based payment transactions -  1 517 -  518 
     
Total transactions with owners -  1 517 -  518 

Balance at 31 December 2010 1 008 191 749 2 535 32 312 227 604 

Balance at 1 January 2011 1 008 191 749 2 535 32 312 227 604 
Total comprehensive income for the year     
Profit for the year -  -  -  (39 627) (39 627)

Total comprehensive income for the year -  -  -  (39 627) (39 627)
Transactions with owners, 

recorded directly in equity     
Contributions by and distributions to owners -  35 326 -  361 

Share-based payment transactions -  35 326 -  361 

Total transactions with owners -  35 326 -  361 

Balance at 31 December 2011 1 008 191 784 2 861 (7 315) 188 338 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011
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 Group Company 
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cash flows for operating activities

Cash generated / (utilised) by operating activities 43.1 31 289 36 213 1 407 (2 242)
Finance income   5 731 6 703 2 956 2 581 
Finance costs  (7 076) (5 997) (114) (81)
Taxation paid 43.2 (13 759) (14 817) 46 (2 198)
     
Net cash inflows / (outflows) from operating activities  16 185 22 102 4 295 (1 940)
     
Cash outflow from investing activities

Expenditure to maintain operating capacity     
Property, plant and equipment acquired  (17 485) (68 820) (6 854) (9 848)
Intangible assets acquired  -  (101) -  -  
Proceeds of disposals of property, plant and equipment  5 364 1 528 6 331 40 
Proceeds of disposals of intangible assets  1 247 -  1 000 -  
Proceeds of disposals of non-current assets held for sale  16 356 -  -  -  
     
Expenditure for expansion     
Acquisition of subsidiaries 43.3 (2 957) (7 812) (3 034) (577)
Disposal of subsidiaries 43.4 16 095 -  33 877 -  
Internally generated intangible assets  (20 885) (9 368) -  -  
Investments sold / (acquired)  6 524 51 6 561 -  
Loans receivable granted  (8 003) -  (6 765) -  
Loans receivable repaid  2 884 1 757 -  -  
     
Net cash used in investing activities  (860) (82 765) 31 116 (10 385)
     
Cash flows from financing activities

Treasury shares repurchased  (3 810) (644) -  -  
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (1 298) (780) -  -  
Borrowings (repaid) / raised  (4 404) 45 537 1 995 489 
Deferred vendor payments repaid  (255) (337) (255) (337)
Subsidiary company loans (repaid) / raised  -  -  (8 064) 30 085 
Subsidiary company granted  -  -  (26 401) (17 345)
     
Net cash generated by financing activities  (9 767) 43 776 (32 725) 12 892 
     
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  5 558 (16 887) 2 686 567 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   9 119 26 006 885 318 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 14 677 9 119 3 571 885 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011
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1. Reporting entity
 

MICROmega Holdings Limited is a company domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The address of the company’s registered office is 
66 Park Lane, Sandton. The consolidated financial statements of the group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011, comprise the 
company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “group” and individually as “group entities”) and the group’s interest in associates. 
The group’s activities range across a broad spectrum of sectors (see the segment report and the report of the directors).

2.  Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 
its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the AC 500 standards issued by the Accounting 
Practices Board or its successor, the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2012.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; and
• Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value; and
• Available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value; and
• The defined benefit asset is recognised as the net total of the plan assets, plus unrecognised past service cost and unrecognised 

actuarial losses, less unrecognised actuarial gains and the present value of the defined benefit obligation; and
• Owner occupied land and buildings are revalued to fair value where there is indication that there is a change from the prior year.

The methods used to measure fair value are discussed further in note 4.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in ZAR (South African Rand), which is the company’s functional currency. 
All financial information presented in Rand has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise indicated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with IFRSs, requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

• Notes 3(d)(iii) & 5 – useful lives and residual values
• Note 6 – measurement of the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
• Notes 9, 15, 16, 21 & 37 – valuation of financial instruments
• Note 11 – utilisation of tax losses
• Note 21 – lease classification
• Note 24 – provisions and contingencies
• Note 36 – measurement of shared-based payments
• Note 38 – business combinations

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

f
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, and have been 
applied consistently by group entities.

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control exists when the group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that 
presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date the control ceases. Investments in subsidiaries are 
carried at cost less impairment adjustments in the company’s separate financial statements. 

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the 
group. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the 
aggregate of the fair values at the date of the exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.

(ii) Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity accounted investees) 
Associates are those entities in which the group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 
policies. Significant influence is assumed to exist when the group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of 
another entity. 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are recognised initially 
at cost. The group’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The 
consolidated financial statements include the group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of equity 
accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the group, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date that the significant influence ceases. When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in 
an equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to nil and 
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group has an obligation or has made payments on 
behalf of the investee.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted 
associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of group entities at exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 
between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payment 
during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised 
in profit or loss.

(ii) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are 
translated to Rand at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Rand 
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or 
in full, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss 
on disposal.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the 
foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net 
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investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented within equity in the 
foreign currency translation reserve.

(c) Financial instruments

(i) Non-derivative financial assets
The group initially recognises loans and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets 
designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the group becomes a party to 
the contractual agreements of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual right to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the 
group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

The group has the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity 
financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets
If the group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they are classified as held-to-maturity. 
Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
Any sale or reclassification of more than a insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale before 
maturity, will prevent the group from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two 
financial years.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale and that are not 
classified in any of the previous categories. The group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified 
as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, 
other than impairment losses (see note 3(h)(i)) and foreign currency differences in available-for-sale equity instruments (see 
note 3(b)(i)), are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve within equity. When an 
investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such upon 
initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the group manages such investments and 
makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the group’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy. Upon initial recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise instalment sale assets and trade and other receivables. Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities
The group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date 
at which the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

The group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings, deferred vendor payments, bank 
overdrafts, and trade and other payables.
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Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

(iii) Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options 
are recognised as a deduction from equity.

Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable 
costs, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a 
deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold or re-issued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an 
increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred to / from retained earnings.

(d) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land and buildings, are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Land and buildings are revalued at regular intervals, not exceeding 3 years, by independent 
valuers. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items of property, plant and equipment. The cost 
of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the items of property, plant and equipment to a working condition for its intended use, and the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral 
to the functionality of the equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the group and its cost can be measured reliably. 
The carrying value of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis to the expected residual value over the estimated useful lives 
of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and 
their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
• Buildings   21 – 50 years
• Plant and equipment  5 – 15 years
• Motor vehicles  4 – 5 years
• Furniture and fittings  5 – 10 years
• Office equipment  5 – 10 years
• Computer equipment  2 – 5 years
• Computer software  2 – 3 years
• Leasehold improvements Over the period of the lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. Useful lives are affected by 
technology innovations, maintenance programmes and future economic benefits. Residual value assessments consider issues 
such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. Consideration is also given to the 
extent of current profits and losses on the disposal of similar assets.

(e) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group’s interest in 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess is negative (gain 
on bargain purchase), it is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transaction with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders 
and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount 
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investee, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated to 
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity accounted investee.

(ii) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new technical knowledge and understanding, is 
recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. 
Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically 
and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the group intends to, and has sufficient resources to 
complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour 
and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditure is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.

(iii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(iv) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

(v) Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than 
goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as 
follows:

• Brand names    Indefinite
• Computer software   3 - 5 years
• Customer relationships   2 - 4 years
• Patents, trademarks and other rights 10 years to indefinite
• Intellectual property   Indefinite

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the reporting date.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit 
to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible 
assets but they are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired, and it is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(f) Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon 
initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to 
that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on the group’s statement of financial position.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average cost 
principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 
In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on 
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normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and selling expenses.

Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories. 

(h) Impairment

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A 
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicated that one or more events had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows from that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment 
loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset 
recognised previously in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, 
the reversal is recognised in the profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is 
recognised directly in equity.

(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for 
use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are largely independent from other 
assets and groups.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generated units are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the group on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill 
acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss 
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale 
rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets (or 
components of a disposal group) are remeasured in accordance with the group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets (or 
disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal 
group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to 
inventories, financial assets or deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the group’s accounting policies. 
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Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit 
or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are not 
depreciated.

(j) Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services 
are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available. Contributions to a defined contribution plan that are made more than 12 months after the end of 
the period in which the employees render the service are discounted to their present value.

(ii) Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan other than a defined contribution plan. The group’s net obligation in respect 
of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; those benefits are discounted to determine the present value. 
Any unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The calculation is performed annually by 
a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the group, the recognised 
asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan 
or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits 
vest immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The group recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in profit or loss. 

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date or to provide termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 
recognised as an expense if the group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, 
and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, 
then they are discounted to their present value. 

(iv) Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is 
provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonuses or profit-sharing plans if the group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

(v) Share-based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase 
in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised as 
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options, for which the related service and non-market conditions 
are met.

In the event of expiry of vested share options the applicable amount held in the non-distributable reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings.

(k) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

The group recognises an onerous contract as a contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract 
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of 
exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. 
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The group recognises the present obligation under the contract as a provision.

(l) Revenue

(i) Goods sold
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade 
discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably. Discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised. 

(ii) Services
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the 
reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.

(m) Government grants

Grants that compensate the group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods 
in which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the group for the cost of an asset are recognised in profit or loss on a 
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

(n) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease 
payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

(o) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial 
assets, and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in 
profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the group’s right to 
receive payment is established, which in the case of listed securities is the ex-dividend date.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised on financial assets and losses on forward exchange contracts 
that are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 

(p) Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the 
initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate expected to be applied to the temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary 
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differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the relevant 
dividend is recognised.

(q) Earnings per share

The group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprises share options granted 
to employees.

The group calculates headline earnings per share (HEPS) data for its ordinary shares. Headline earnings is determined by excluding 
certain items from profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders through making use of the table and requirements contained in 
Circular 03/2009.

(r) Segment reporting

The group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is internally provided to the Executive Chairman, 
who is the chief operating decision maker. A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing 
related products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment 
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the other segments. The group’s primary 
format for segment reporting is based on business segments. The business segments are determined based on the reporting business 
units. 

No secondary geographical segment analysis has been included as geographical location does not play a significant role in the group’s 
operations and thus this information will not be beneficial.

Segment revenue
Segment revenue represents the gross value of services invoiced and goods sold excluding value added taxation, which is directly 
attributable and reasonably allocated to each business segment.

Investment income is included in the segment where the business activity holding the investment is situated.

Segment results
Segment results equal segment revenue less segment expenses before any adjustment to minority interests.

Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets and liabilities include direct and reasonable allocable operating assets, investments in associates and liabilities. 
Segment assets comprise total assets less deferred tax assets, investments in associates, tax receivable assets and loans receivable from 
group companies. Segment liabilities comprise total liabilities less deferred tax liabilities, tax payable liabilities and loans payable to 
group companies.

(s) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements of the group for the year ended 31 December 2011, the following Standards and 
Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

 Standard/Interpretation Effective date
IFRS 1 amendment ....... First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards ..........Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 July 2011*
IFRS 7 amendments ...... Financial Instruments: Disclosures ................................................................Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 July 2011*
IFRS 9 ............................. Financial Instruments ......................................................................................Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 January 2015*
IFRS 10 ........................... Consolidated Financial Statements ................................................................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2013*
IFRS 11 ........................... Joint Arrangements...........................................................................................Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 January 2013*
IFRS 12 ........................... Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities .........................................................Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 January 2013*
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 Standard/Interpretation Effective date
IFRS 13 ........................... Fair Value Measurement ...................................................................................Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 January 2013*
IAS 1 amendments ........ Presentation of Financial Statements .............................................................Annual period commencing on or 
  after 1 July 2012*
IAS 12 amendment ........ Income Taxes .....................................................................................................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2012*
IAS 19 amendment ........ Employee Benefits ............................................................................................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2013*
IAS 27 amendment ........ Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements .........................................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2013*
IAS 28 amendment ........ Investments in Associates ................................................................................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2013*
IAS 32 amendment ........ Financial instruments: Presentation ...............................................................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2013*
IFRIC 20 ......................... Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine ..........................Annual period commencing on or
  after 1 January 2013*

*  All Standards and Interpretations will be adopted at their effective date (except for those Standards and Interpretations that are not 
 applicable to the group).

The following standards are not applicable to the business of the entity and will therefore have no impact on future financial statements: 
IFRS 1 amendment, IFRS 11, IAS 19 amendment, IAS 32 amendment and IFRIC 20. The directors are of the opinion that the impact of 
the application of the remaining Standards and Interpretations will be as follows:  

IFRS 7 Amendment
The amendments to IFRS 7 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 December 
2012.

In terms of the amendments additional disclosure will be provided regarding transfers of financial assets that are:
• not derecognised in their entirety and
• derecognised in their entirety but for which the company retains continuing involvement.

The further amendments will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 December 2013.

In terms of these amendments entities are required to disclose gross amounts subject to rights of set-off, amounts set off in accordance 
with the accounting standards follows, and the related net credit exposure.

The amendments will have no impact on the group’s disclosure about financial instruments.

IFRS 9
IFRS 9 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 December 2015. The standard will be 
applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions.

IFRS 9 addresses the initial measurement and classification of financial assets and will replace the relevant sections of IAS 39.

Under IFRS 9 there are two options in respect of classification of financial assets, namely, financial assets measured at amortised cost 
when the business model is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and when they give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets are measured at fair value.

Embedded derivatives are no longer separated from hybrid contracts that have a financial asset host.

There will be no significant impact on the financial statements.

IFRS 10 & IFRS 12
IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 December 2013. The 
standard will be applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions.

IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 have been issued to replace IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31. The new standards provide additional guidance to assist in 
the determination of control where this is difficult to assess.

There will be no impact on the financial statements.
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IFRS 13
IFRS 13 is a new standard dealing with fair value measurement and will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial 
reporting period ending 31 December 2013.

The standard defines fair value and sets out a single framework for measuring fair value. It does not replace any of the fair value 
requirements of existing standards but rather presents clarity over fair value measurements and sets out the disclosure requirements 
for fair value adjustments.

The impact on the financial statements would be on disclosures and at it is not foreseen that there would be any material impact on 
the treatment of fair value accounting.

IAS 1 Amendment
The amendment to IAS 1 contains new requirements to group together items with other comprehensive income that may be reclassified 
to the profit or loss section of the income statement in order to facilitate the assessment of their impact of the overall performance of 
an entity. The group will be required to adopt it for the first time for its financial reporting period ending 31 December 2013.
No assessment has been done on the impact of the amendment on the financial statements.

IAS 12 Amendment
The amendment to IAS 12 provides a rebuttable presumption that an investment property will be recovered in its entirety through sale. 
The group has early adopted this statement in the current year and the effect on the income statement can be seen in note 33 – Income 
tax expense.

4. Determination of fair values

A number of the group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. 
Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values. The market 
value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer 
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently 
and without compulsion. The fair value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the market approach and cost 
approaches using quoted market prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when appropriate.

(ii) Intangible assets
The fair value of patents and trademarks acquired in a business combination is based on the discounted estimated royalty payments 
that have been avoided as a result of the patent or trademark being owned. The fair value of customer relationships acquired in a 
business combination is determined using the multi-period excess earnings method, whereby the subject asset is valued after 
deducting a fair return on all other assets that are part of creating the related cash flows. The fair value of other intangible assets is 
based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of assets.

(iii) Inventories
The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and 
sell the inventories.

(iv) Investments in equity and debt securities
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets 
is determined by reference to their quoted closing bid prices at the reporting date. In the absence of a quoted price the multi-period 
excess earnings method is used. The fair value of held-to-maturity investments is determined for disclosure purposes.

(v) Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of 
interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

(vi) Share-based payment transactions
The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include share price on 
measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for 
changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instrument (based on the rules of the 
share incentive scheme) expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market 
performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.
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5.  Property plant and equipment      

  2011   2010
  Accumulated   Accumulated
  depreciation   depreciation
  and   and
 Cost /  impairment Carrying Cost /  impairment Carrying
 Valuation losses value Valuation losses value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

Land and buildings 124 443 1 679 122 764 107 797 498 107 299
Plant and equipment  2 239 1 374 865 16 739 7 887 8 852
Motor vehicles 14 380 5 672 8 708 12 053 5 669 6 384
Furniture and fittings 9 762 3 298 6 464 8 102 2 988 5 114
Office equipment  4 179 2 382 1 797 3 967 2 212 1 755
Computer equipment 13 708 9 726 3 982 20 604 15 628 4 976
Computer software 1 315 1 142 173 1 517 1 034 483
Leasehold improvements 3 790 1 510 2 280 8 223 1 754 6 469
 173 816 26 783 147 033 179 002 37 670 141 332 

Included in the figures above are the following in terms of assets leased under finance leases.

  2011   2010
  Accumulated   Accumulated
  depreciation   depreciation
  and   and
   impairment Carrying   impairment Carrying
 Cost losses value Cost losses value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

Leased assets      
Office equipment held under 

finance leases (refer note 21) 124 122 2 124 98 26 
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5.  Property plant and equipment (continued)      

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

 Carrying   Disposals    Carrying
 value at the    through    value
 beginning    disposal of    at end
 of the year  Additions Disposals subsidiaries Transfers Revaluation Depreciation of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

2011
Land and buildings 107 299  2 004  (128) -   6 600  8 214  (1 225) 122 764
Plant and equipment 8 852  569  (5 362) (932) -   -   (2 262) 865
Motor vehicles 6 384  5 600  (263) (816) -   -   (2 197) 8 708
Furniture and fittings 5 114  2 554  (172) (175) -   -   (857) 6 464
Office equipment 1 755  731  (3) (37) -   -   (649) 1 797
Computer equipment 4 976  2 463  (45) (416) -   -   (2 996) 3 982
Computer software 483  143  -   -   (212) -   (241) 173
Leasehold improvements 6 469  3 421  (489) -   (6 600) -   (521) 2 280
 141 332  17 485  (6 462) (2 376) (212) 8 214  (10 948) 147 033 

 Carrying   Additions  Transfers to   Carrying
 value at the   through  non-current Impair-  value
 beginning   business  assets held ment  at end
 of the year  Additions combinations Disposals  for sale reversal Depreciation of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

2010
Land and buildings 30 534  52 544  9 500  (880) -   16 099  (498) 107 299
Plant and equipment 10 731  488  -   -   -   -   (2 367) 8 852
Motor vehicles 5 755  2 813  -   (429) -   -   (1 755) 6 384
Furniture and fittings 3 028  2 692  -   (2) -   -   (604) 5 114
Office equipment 1 705  613  -   (12) -   -   (551) 1 755
Computer equipment 5 553  3 214  -   (131) -   -   (3 660) 4 976
Computer software 484  284  -   -   -   -   (285) 483
Leasehold improvements 1 081  6 172  -   (40) -   -   (744) 6 469
 58 871  68 820  9 500  (1 494) -   16 099  (10 464) 141 332
      
Certain property, plant and equipment is encumbered as stated in note 20 – Borrowings.

A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the group.
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5.  Property plant and equipment (continued)      

  2011   2010
  Accumulated   Accumulated
  depreciation   depreciation
  and   and
   impairment Carrying   impairment Carrying
 Cost losses value Cost losses value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

Motor vehicles 3 016  553 2 463  918  270 648 
Furniture and fittings 4 444  974 3 470  2 862  640 2 222 
Office equipment  745  335 410  640  268 372 
Computer equipment 2 075  950 1 125  2 278  827 1 451 
Leasehold improvements 1 331  134 1 197  6 150  744 5 406
 11 611 2 946 8 665  12 848  2 749  10 099

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:   

 Carrying    Carrying
 value at the     value
 beginning     at end
 of the year  Additions Disposals Depreciation of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

2011
Motor vehicles 648  2 179  (50) (314) 2 463 
Furniture and fittings 2 222  1 655  (71) (336) 3 470 
Office equipment 372  166  (1) (127) 410 
Computer equipment 1 451  278  (3) (601) 1 125 
Leasehold improvements 5 406  2 576  (6 677) (108) 1 197 
 10 099  6 854  (6 802) (1 486) 8 665 
   

 Carrying    Carrying
 value at the     value
 beginning     at end
 of the year  Additions Disposals Depreciation of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

2010
Motor vehicles 147  652  - (151) 648 
Furniture and fittings 173  2 125  -   (76) 2 222 
Office equipment 194  257  (8) (71) 372 
Computer equipment 169  1 488  -   (206) 1 451 
Leasehold improvements 194  5 326  -   (114) 5 406 
 877  9 848  (8) (618) 10 099 
   
Certain property, plant and equipment is encumbered as stated in note 20 – Borrowings. 

A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the company.  
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5.  Property plant and equipment (continued)   

 Group Company 
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

     
Land and buildings comprise of the following:     
     
Land and buildings situated on Erf 581 and Erf 582, Elsburg Extension 1, 
Registration Division I.R. the province of Gauteng.  1 555 3 383 -  -  
     
At cost  911   911   -     -   
Additions at cost  713   713   -     -   
Revaluations  20   1 803   -     -   
Depreciation  (89)  (44)  -     -   
     
The land and buildings are jointly owned by MICROmega Properties 2 
(Proprietary) Limited and MICROmega Investments Portfolio (Proprietary) 
Limited.

The directors revalued the property to an amount received on a signed 
offer just prior to the financial year end.

Land and buildings situated on Portion 1 of Erf 90, Sandown Ext 2. 80 000 66 500 -  -  
     
At cost 47 128 47 128 -   -   
Additions at cost 11 734 5 262 -   -   
Revaluations 22 149 14 267 -   -   
Depreciation (1 011)  (157)  -   -   
     
The effective date of the revaluation was 24 January 2012. The valuation 
was performed by J.D. Malakou, valuer M.I.V.S.A.

Residential land and buildings situated on Erf 278, Hyde Park Ext 47. 11 930 9 480 -  -  
     
At cost and revaluations 11 496 9 500 -   -   
Additions at cost 504 -   -   -   
Depreciation (70)  (20)  -   -   
     
The property was valued prior to acquisition on 12 December 2011. 
The valuation was performed by J.D. Malakou, valuer M.I.V.S.A.

Factory and office buildings situated on remaining Extent of Stand 140 
Wynberg.  3 935 2 336 -  -  
     
At cost 1 203   1 203   -     -   
Additions at cost 419   419   -     -   
Revaluations 2 378   759   -     -   
Depreciation (65)  (45)  -     -   
     
The directors valued the property based on the value that the property has 
been mortgaged to. The financing occurred in the current year.

Factory and office buildings situated at 6 Liebenberg Street, Alrode,
Erf 1599.  25 344 25 600 -  -  
     
At cost  21 700   21 700   -     -   
Additions at cost  -     -     -     -   
Revaluations  4 132   4 132   -     -   
Depreciation  (488)  (232)  -     -   
     
The effective date of the revaluation was 22 January 2011. The valuation 
was performed by J.D. Malakou, valuer M.I.V.S.A.
Total  122 764 107 299 -  -  
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6.  Intangible assets

   2011    2010
  Accumulated    Accumulated
  amortisation    amortisation
  and  Carrying   and Carrying
 Cost impairment  value Cost  impairment value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

Patents, trademarks and other rights 7 910 49 7 861 1 176 18 1 158 
Brand names 3 246 1 701 1 545 9 689 1 701 7 988 
Computer software, internally generated  17 970   2 217   15 753   11 444   1 011   10 433 
Computer software, under development  16 497   -     16 497   9 215   -     9 215 
Intellectual property 250 -  250 250 -  250 
Customer relationships 603 603 -  3 296 3 250 46 
Goodwill 35 104 6 872 28 232 57 843 24 031 33 812
 81 580 11 442 70 138 92 913 30 011 62 902 

The carrying amount of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows:

  Carrying  Additions Dispo-
   value  through sals    Carrying
  at the   business through    value at
  beginning  Addi- combi- business  Impair- Amorti- end of
  of the year  tions nations divesture Transfers ments sation year
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

2011
Patents, trademarks and other rights  1 158  6 734  -   -   -   -   (31) 7 861
Brand names  7 988  375  -   -   -   (6 818) -   1 545
Computer software, internally generated   10 433   6 494   -     -     212   -     (1 206)  15 933 
Computer software, under development   9 215   7 282   -     -     -     -     -     16 497 
Intellectual property  250  -   -   -   -   -   -   250
Customer relationships  46  -   -   -   -   -   (46) - 
Goodwill  33 812  -   2 897  (4) -   (8 473) -   28 232
   62 902   20 885   2 897   (4)  212   (15 291)  (1 283)  70 318 

  Carrying  Additions  
   value  through Purchase     Carrying
  at the   business price     value at
  beginning  Addi- combi-  adjust-  Impair- Amorti- end of
  of the year  tions nations ments Transfers ments sation year
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

2010
Patents, trademarks and other rights  1 067  101  -   -   -   -   (10) 1 158
Brand names  9 689  -   -   -   -   (1 701) -   7 988
Computer software, internally generated   7 315   3 620   -     -         -     -     (502)  10 433 
Computer software, under development   3 467   5 748   -     -        -     -     -     9 215 
Intellectual property  250  -   -   -     -   -   -   250
Customer relationships  324  -   -   -     -   -   (278) 46
Goodwill  39 322  -   547  -    -   (6 057) -   33 812
  61 434  9 469  547  -     -   (7 758) (790) 62 902
    
The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets were assessed for impairment at 31 December 2011 by calculating the fair value of the cash 
generating units (CGU’s) to which the goodwill and other intangible assets relate.  The valuations of the CGU’s reflected fair values in excess 
of the attributable tangible assets, intangible assets and related goodwill.
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6.  Intangible assets (continued)

Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows of the CGU’s generated from the continuing use of the intangible assets and 
was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected on actual operating results and the 5 year business plan. Cash flows were extrapolated into perpetuity using 

a terminal growth rate of 2%. Management believes that this was justified due to the nature of the business industries the subsidiaries 
operate in.      

•  Revenue was projected for each subsidiary related to the intangible asset. The anticipated revenue growth included in the cash flow 
projections was 5%.      

• A pre-tax discount rate of 12.18% (2010: 13.03%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount of the intangibles. The discount 
rate was estimated as the company’s weighted average cost of capital which was based on a debt leveraging of 9% (2010: 9%) and a 
required rate of return on equity estimated at the R157 bond rate increased at a market rate of 6.72% (2010: 7.68%).   
   

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industries in which the group 
operates and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).

   2011    2010
  Accumulated    Accumulated
  amortisation    amortisation
  and  Carrying   and Carrying
 Cost impairment  value Cost  impairment value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

Patents, trademarks and other rights -  -  -   1 000 -   1 000
 -  -  -   1 000 -   1 000
  
  Carrying   Carrying
  value at the    value
  beginning   Amorti- at end
  of the year  Disposals sation of year

  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
   
COMPANY

2011   
Patents, trademarks and other rights  1 000  (1 000) -   - 

  1 000  (1 000) -   - 
   
   
  Carrying   Carrying
  value at the    value
  beginning   Amorti- at end
  of the year  Additions sation of year

  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
   
COMPANY

2010
Patents, trademarks and other rights 1 000  -   -   1 000
  1 000  -   -   1 000
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7.  Investment in subsidiaries

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Shares at cost -  -  136 671 181 114
Impairment of investments -  -  (16 443) (33 423)
 -  -  120 228 147 691
     
Each investment is reviewed annually for impairment by assessing the carrying value of the investment against the value in use. 

Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows generated from the subsidiary and was based on the following key 
assumptions:

• Cash flows were projected on actual operating results and the 5 year business plan. Cash flows were extrapolated into perpetuity using 
a terminal growth rate of 2%. Management believes that this was justified due to the nature of the business industries the subsidiaries 
operate in.     

•  A pre-tax discount rate of 12.18% (2010: 13.03%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount of the investments. The discount 
rate was estimated as the company’s weighted average cost of capital which was based on a debt leveraging of 9% (2010: 9%) and a 
required rate of return on equity estimated at the R157 bond rate increased at a market rate of 6.72% (2010: 7.68%).   
  

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industries in which the group 
operates and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).
   
A list of the subsidiaries is included in the director’s report.

8.  Investment in associates      
 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Carrying value of investment:     
Shares at cost 320 320 -  -  

Carrying value at beginning of the year 2 476 3 747 -  - 
Equity accounted losses in the current year (628) (724) -  -
Dividend received from associate -  (143) -  -
Movement in loan to associate 190 (404) -  -  
 2 038 2 476 -  - 

GCM Meter Reading Services (Proprietary) Limited

50% interest in the unlisted shares of GCM Meter Readings Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, a company involved in meter reading services.

Carrying value of investment:     
Shares at cost 1 1 -  -
Equity accounted earnings since acquisition 31 31 -  -
Loans from associate (11) -  -  -
 21 32 -  -  
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8.  Investment in associates (continued)
      

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Summary financial information of GCM Meter Reading Services 
(Proprietary) Limited

Assets     
Current assets 63 69 -  -  
 63 69 -  -  

Equity and liabilities
Equity and reserves 63 63 -  -   
Current liabilities -  6 -  -  
 63 69 -  -  

Revenue -  -  -  -
Net loss before tax -  -  -  -  

GCM Meter Reading Services (Proprietary) Limited ceased trading in 2008 
and is now dormant.

Petrolmecs LDA

Summary financial information for equity accounted investees not 
adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the group:

49% interest in the unlisted shares of Petrolmecs LDA, a company 
incorporated in Angola, providing labour solutions.

Carrying value of investment:    
Shares at cost 319 319 -  -
Equity accounted losses (2 055) (1 427) -  -
Loan to associate 3 753 3 552 -  -
 2 017 2 444 -  -  

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at rates determined periodically 
at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The loan is repayable at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors. In the absence of contractual 
repayment dates, the fair value and carrying value of the loan is deemed 
to be similar.

Summary financial information for equity accounted investees not 
adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the group:

Assets    
Non-current assets 648 751 -  -
Current assets 18 661 13 720 -  -
 19 309 14 471 -  -  

Equity and liabilities    
Equity and reserves (4 277) (2 381) -  -
Non-current liabilities 4 415 3 436 -  -
Current liabilities 19 171 13 416 -    
 19 309 14 471 -  -  

Revenue 8 632 21 163 -  -
Loss before tax (1 282) (1 214) -  - 
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9.  Other investments     
     

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss     
Listed shares 73 101 -  - 
Unlisted investments 1 500 6 594 1 500 6 594
 1 573 6 695 1 500 6 594
    
The group held the following investments:

Number of ordinary shares

Listed shares    
Kelly Group Limited 2 600 2 600 -  - 
Sanlam Limited 3 610 3 610 -  - 

Prices of listed shares    

    2011 2010 
   R R

Kelly Group Limited   4 4
Sanlam Limited   29 28
    
The fair value of investments in listed shares is obtained with reference to the closing value of the shares at the period end on the JSE Limited. 
The balance of listed shares represents funds held in the trading margin account. A sensitivity analysis has not been performed as the effect 
of changes in economic conditions on listed investments held is not considered material to group results.

  2011  2010  2011  2010 
Fair value of unlisted investments R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 

Unlisted investments
Local investments 1 500 6 594 1 500 6 594
 1 500 6 594 1 500 6 594
    
 
The local investment in unlisted shares for the current year represents 10% of the issued share capital of Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) 
Limited, a previously wholly owned subsidiary in which control was relinquished during the year. The amount is shown net of impairment 
of R3 597 333.

The prior year investment in the international subsidiaries of NOSA International (Proprietary) Limited has been reclassified during the 
current year.   Control was obtained over these dormant entities during the year and all registered trade marks transferred to the group.  The 
international subsidiaries were deregistered upon transfer.

The recoverable amount of unlisted investments is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis, considering current economic 
conditions at reporting date.

Fair value hierarchy    
The group has not presented a fair value hierarchy as the only items that are fairly valued every year are the investments in shares listed 
on the JSE Limited and the value is immaterial. These shares are classified as level 1 fair value as their values are derived from the prices. 
The unlisted investments are currently carried at cost less any accumulated impairments.   
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10.  Loans receivable      
    

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Mguka Trading Close Corporation 242 242 -  -
The loan is secured by equity securities in a number of private companies. 
The loan is interest free and is repayable over a period of 2 years.

Ian Gregory Morris -  2 038 -  -
The loan was repayable through the settlement of the GIM Holdings 
(Proprietary) Limited mortgage bond, over the remaining term of the 
bond. It was unsecured and bore interest at a rate of prime minus 2%.

Instalment sale assets 24 900 25 936 -  -
Assets under instalment sale agreements are repayable over 3 to 5 years at 
effective interest rates ranging from prime lending plus 3% per annum to 
prime lending plus 4.5% per annum. The loans are secured by the assets 
subject to the agreements. 

Orestizone (Proprietary) Limited 4 000 -  4 000 -
The loan is secured by 90% of the issued share capital of Lubrication 
Equipment (Proprietary) Limited. It bears interest at prime lending rate 
and is repayable over 60 months.

Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) Limited 6 765  - 6 765 -
The loan is secured by 90% of the issued share capital of Lubrication 
Equipment (Proprietary) Limited. The loan is interest free and repayable 
by the 31 January 2012.  

ARDA Durban (Proprietary) Limited 1 238 -  -  - 
The loan is secured by the full issued share capital of the loanee and 
personal suretyships provided by its directors. The loan is interest free and 
repayable in equal instalments over 12 months.  
 
 37 145 28 216 10 765 -  

Less: Portion recoverable within 12 months included in current assets (13 539) (3 539) (6 765) -  

 23 606 24 677 4 000 -  

All loans are Rand denominated. 
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11.  Deferred taxation    
   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:    
    
Deferred tax assets    
Property, plant and equipment (1 093) (6 030) -  -  
Intangible assets (4 821) (2 000) -  -  
Investments 1 181 778 1 007 -  
Loans receivable 907 327 -  -  
Prepayments -  (55) -  -  
Income received in advance 555 665 -  -  
Accrual for straight lining of leases 1 901 1 682 1 404 229 
Finance lease liabilities 2 8 -  -  
Allowances for credit losses 1 929 1 710 -  -  
Accruals for leave pay 1 425 1 191 496 65 
Provisions 1 653 1 710 -  -  
Tax loss carry-forwards 26 995 24 760 4 743 49 
 30 634 24 746 7 650 343 
    
Deferred tax liabilities    
Property, plant and equipment (8 291) (12 972) -  -  
Intangible assets -  (13) -  -  
Investments (1 071) -  -  -  
Accrual for straight lining of leases (2 119) (1 524) -  -  
Allowances for credit losses -  139 -  -  
Accruals for leave pay 23 47 -  -  
Provisions 1 671 -  -  
Tax loss carry-forwards 169 351 -  -  
 (11 288) (13 301) -  -  
    
 19 346 11 445 7 650 343 
    
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset when the income tax relates to the same legal entity or fiscal authority or they intend to settle 
the assets and liabilities on a net basis.   

The movements in the deferred tax amount on the statement of financial position can be reconciled as follows (amounts are shown on a net 
basis):    
 
 Carrying    Disposal on Carrying
 value at the    Directly business value
 beginning  Recognised through combi- at end
 of the year  in profit equity nations of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

2011
Property, plant and equipment (19 002) 10 915  (1 299) 2  (9 384)
Intangible assets (2 013) (2 808) -   -   (4 821)
Investments 778  (668) -   -   110 
Loans receivable 327  580  -   -   907 
Prepayments (55) 55  -   -   -
Income received in advance 665  (110) -   -   555 
Accrual for straight lining of leases 158  (376) -   -   (218)
Finance lease liabilities 8  (6) -   -   2 
Allowances for credit losses 1 849  127  -   (47) 1 929 
Accruals for leave pay 1 238  278  -   (68) 1 448 
Provisions 2 381  (727) -   -   1 654 
Tax loss carry-forwards 25 111  10 469  -   (8 416) 27 164 
 11 445  17 729  (1 299) (8 529) 19 346 
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11.  Deferred taxation (continued)    
   

 Carrying    Acquisition Carrying
 value at the    Directly on business value
 beginning  Recognised through combi- at end
 of the year  in profit equity nations of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

2010
Property, plant and equipment (14 402) 1 027  (4 507) (1 120) (19 002)
Intangible assets (90) (1 923) -   -   (2 013)
Investments 545  233  -   -   778 
Loans receivable 160  167  -   -   327 
Prepayments (22) (33) -   -   (55)
Income received in advance 646  19  -   -   665 
Accrual for straight lining of leases -   158  -   -   158 
Finance lease liabilities 150  (142) -   -   8 
Allowances for credit losses 1 744  105  -   -   1 849 
Accruals for leave pay 1 259  (21) -   -   1 238 
Provisions 253  2 128  -   -   2 381 
Tax loss carry-forwards 17 933  7 178  -   -   25 111 
 8 176  8 896  (4 507) (1 120) 11 445 
   
 Carrying   Carrying
 value at the    value
 beginning  Recognised at end
 of the year  in profit of year
    R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

2011
Investments  -   1 007  1 007 
Accrual for straight lining of leases  229  1 175  1 404 
Accruals for leave pay  65  431  496 
Tax loss carry-forwards  49  4 694  4 743 
  343  7 307  7 650 

 Carrying   Carrying
 value at the    value
 beginning  Recognised at end
 of the year  in profit of year
    R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

2010
Accrual for straight lining of leases  -   229  229 
Accruals for leave pay  47  18  65 
Tax loss carry-forwards  -   49  49 
  47  296  343 
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12.  Non-current assets classified as held for sale

  2011     2010
  Accumulated    Accumulated
  depreciation    depreciation
  and    and
  impairment  Carrying  impairment Carrying
 Cost losses value Cost losses value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Plant and equipment  44 935 38 424 6 511 73 820 49 205 24 615 
Furniture and fittings 47 47 -  47 47 -  
Office equipment  358 302 56 358 302 56 
Computer equipment 1 174 1 149 25 1 164 1 149 15
 46 514 39 922 6 592 75 389 50 703 24 686 

The plant and machinery of Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited, a manufacturer of pistons, is presented as a disposal group held for sale following 
the commitment of the group’s management, on 15 December 2008 to sell the plant and machinery and cease manufacturing following the 
down-turn in the automotive sector. 
    
An offer has been received for all the remaining plant and equipment, which has been impaired down to its realisable value on acceptance 
of the offer.

The carrying value of non-current assets held for sale can be reconciled as follows:

 Carrying      Carrying
 value at the      value
 beginning      at end
 of the year  Additions Disposals Impairments Depreciation of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2011
Plant and equipment 24 615  -   (16 366) (1 738) -   6 511
Furniture and fittings -   -   -   -   -   - 
Office equipment 56  -   -   -   -   56
Computer equipment 15  10  -   -   -   25
 24 686  10  (16 366) (1 738) -   6 592

 Carrying      Carrying
 value at the      value
 beginning      at end
 of the year  Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2010
Plant and equipment 28 115  -   -   (3 500) -   24 615
Furniture and fittings 3  -   -   -   (3) - 
Office equipment 165  -   -   -   (109) 56
Computer equipment 137  -   -   -   (122) 15
 28 420  -   -   (3 500) (234) 24 686
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13.  Inventories 
   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

The amounts attributable to the different categories are as follows:  
  
Raw materials 6 000 6 258 -  -  
Consumables 1 036 1 085 953 915 
Work in progress 231 2 059 -  -  
Manufactured finished goods 7 256 18 460 -  -  
Merchandise 37 152 35 815 -  -  
Goods in transit 3 409 3 338 -  -  
 55 084 67 015 953 915 
  
Inventory write-downs (adjustments to carrying value for obsolete and 
slow moving inventory) (11 291) (15 384) -  -  
 43 793 51 631 953 915 

 

14.  Retirement benefits
  

Defined benefit plan  
Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, makes contributions to a defined benefit plan that provides pension benefits for 
employees upon retirement. The plan entitles a retired employee to receive an annual payment equal to 2% of the employee’s highest annual 
salary for each year of pensionable service.  
  
The pension fund has been closed and finalised for liquidation in the current year. The preliminary liquidation accounts have been submitted 
to the Financial Services Board on 1 December 2011. The measurement and disclosures of the fund have been based on these preliminary 
liquidation accounts and not on a projected unit credit method as per IAS 19.  

 
 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Statement of financial position reconciliation  
Present value of funded obligations 22 919 15 284 -  -  

Active members 9 370 9 281 -  -  
Current pensioners 8 903 5 606 -  -  
Accounts payable 395 -  -  -  
Outstanding benefits payable 3 984 -  -  -  
Liquidation expenses reserve account 267 -  -  -  
Risk reserve account -  397 -  -  

Present value of unfunded obligations -  -  -  -  
Total present value of the defined benefit obligation  22 919 15 284 -  -  
Fair value of plan assets (44 300) (42 128) -  -  
Total employer surplus (21 381) (26 844) -  -  
  
Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation  
Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 15 284 15 003 -  -  
Interest cost - 1 365 -  -  
Current service cost 50 495 -  -  
Employee contributions paid into the plan 39 151 -  -  
Increase in amount required for pensioners to perpetuity 3 297 -  -  -  
Correction of benefits paid following liquidators audit 3 984 -  -  -  
Increase in sundry payables 265 -  -  -  
Benefits paid by the plan -  (1 041) -  -  
Actuarial gain on obligation -  (689) -  -  
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 22 919 15 284 -  -  
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14.  Retirement benefits (continued)  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Movement in the present value of plan assets  
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 42 128 33 880 -  -  
Actual / expected return on plan assets 2 127 3 289 -  -  
Contributions paid into the plan 45 351 -  -  
Benefits paid by the plan -  (1 041) -  -  
Actuarial gain / (loss) on plan assets -  5 649 -  -  
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 44 300 42 128 -  -  
  
Surplus / (expense) recognised in profit or loss  
Current service cost (50) (495) -  -  
Interest cost -  (1 365) -  -  
Increase in amount required for pensioners to perpetuity (3 297) - - -
Correction of benefits paid following liquidators audit (3 984) - - -
Increase in sundry payables (265) - - -
Actual / expected return on plan assets 2 127 3 289 -  -  
Actuarial gains / (losses) -  6 338 -  -  
Contributions paid into the plan 6 200 -  -  
Income recognised in profit or loss (5 463) 7 967 -  -  
  
Membership statistics 2011 2010  

Number of members 5  6 
Annual salary (R’000) - 2 530 
Salary weighted average age - 57.50
Salary weighted average service - 16.30
Number of pensioners 11  10 
Annual pension (R’000) - 535 
Pension weighted average age - 73.60 
  
Actuarial assumptions    

General inflation rate - 5.60%
Discount rate - 8.46%
Expected investment return - 9.60%
Salary inflation - 6.13%
  
The general inflation rate was calculated taking into account the difference between the yield on the R186 fixed interest government bond 
and the R197 index linked government bond.  
  
The discount rate was based on the yield of the R186 government bond.  
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15. Trade and other receivables

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Trade and other receivables 120 309 105 328 359 305
VAT receivable 4 557 1 648 -  - 
Prepayments 8 427 5 386 106 1 076
Deposits 1 174 968 174 8
 134 467 113 330 639 1 389
   
At 31 December 2011 group trade receivables are shown after impairment adjustments of R8 998 741 (2010: R9 117 847). 

The trade receivables of certain subsidiary companies have been ceded as security for banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries, (see 
note 17 – Cash and cash equivalents).

 
16.  Amounts owing by subsidiary companies  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Unencumbered loans  
ARDA Professional Machining Services (Proprietary) Limited -  -  13 -  
Automobile Radio Dealers Association 1989 (Proprietary) Limited -  -  10 354 9 388 
BTM Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited -  -  -  20 676 
Cloudware (Proprietary) Limited -  -  5 702 4 419 
Deltec Power Distributors (Proprietary) Limited -  -  4 440 2 875 
EMPOWERisk (Proprietary) Limited -  -  281 281 
Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited -  -  17 097 12 722 
Kyostax (Proprietary) Limited -  -  5 957 7 530 
MICROmega Investment Portfolio (Proprietary) Limited -  -  328 328 
MICROmega Properties 2 (Proprietary) Limited -  -  461 454 
MICROmega Publications (Proprietary) Limited -  -  109 170 
Mzimkhulu Financial Investments (Proprietary) Limited -  -  92 32 578 
NOSA (Proprietary) Limited -  -  9 766 -  
NOSA Namibia (Proprietary) Limited -  -  549 549 
Sciam Professional Solutions (Proprietary) Limited -  -  5 389 3 389 
Sebata Municipal Solutions (Proprietary) Limited -  -  628 -  
Symphony Trade & Invest 32 (Proprietary) Limited -  -  1 354 -  
Tiseletso Investments (Proprietary) Limited -  -  271 261 
Turrito Networks (Proprietary) Limited -  -  1 080 268 
  
Encumbered loans  
MICROmega Revenue Management Solutions (Proprietary) Limited -  -  -   2 271 
MECS Africa (Proprietary) Limited -  -   15 789  8 778 
  
Interest-bearing loans  
MICROmega Technologies (Proprietary) Limited -  -  8 304 8 528 
Stable-Net Solutions (Proprietary) Limited -  -  13 958 13 232 

 -  -   - 101 922  128 697 
  
Less: Portion recoverable within 12 months included in current assets -  -  (87 601) (82 626)
  
 -  -  14 321 46 071 
  
Amounts owing by subsidiary companies are carried at amortised cost.  
  
The loan to MECS Africa (Proprietary) Limited has been ceded to FirstRand Bank Limited as security for facilities granted to MECS Africa 
(Proprietary) Limited.  
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16.  Amounts owing by subsidiary companies (continued)

The loans to Stable-Net Solutions (Proprietary) Limited and MICROmega Technologies (Proprietary) Limited are unsecured, bear interest at 
the prime overdraft rate and have no fixed terms of repayment.  
  
The loans to Mzimkhulu Financial Investments (Proprietary) Limited, Tiseletso Investments (Proprietary) Limited and Stable-Net Solutions 
(Proprietary) Limited have been subordinated until such time that their assets fairly valued exceed their liabilities.  
  
The remaining loans are unsecured and bear interest at rates determined periodically at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The loans 
are repayable at the discretion of the Board of Directors. In the absence of contractual repayment dates, the fair values and carrying values of 
these loans are deemed to be similar.  

17.  Cash and cash equivalents   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

The amounts attributable to the different categories are as follows:
Cash on hand 173 349 -  1
Current account balances 12 162 13 934 188 878
Call account balances 11 407 6 680 3 383 6
 23 742 20 963 3 571 885
   
Bank overdrafts used for cash management purposes (9 065) (11 844) -  - 
 14 677 9 119 3 571 885
   
The following security has been provided in respect of facilities made available to group companies:

Deltec Power Distributors (Proprietary) Limited   
• Trade and other receivables and a general notarial covering bond on inventories were pledged as security for First National Bank 

Limited overdraft facilities of the company. At year end the overdraft amounted to R 7 364 441.52 (2010: R 9 802 068).

MECS Africa (Proprietary) Limited   
• A suretyship, upon terms and conditions acceptable to First National Bank Limited for R8 million by MICROmega Holdings 

Limited. 
• Cession in favour of First National Bank Limited given by MICROmega Holdings Limited of any and all of its rights in and to its loan 

account held in the company.   
• Trade accounts receivables have been ceded for banking facilities granted. 

MICROmega Securities (Proprietary) Limited and its subsidiary companies   
• Fixed deposits held with FirstRand Bank Limited amounting to R520 000 have been ceded as security for the facilities granted to the 

company.   
• A guarantee to the amount of R100 000 has been given to FirstRand Bank Limited as security for facilities.  
• A suretyship in the amount of R679 000 in favour of the bank facilities granted by First National Bank Limited. 

NOSA – MICROmega National Certification Authority (Proprietary) Limited   
• A guarantee to the amount of R211 139 has been given to FirstRand Bank Limited as security for rental of premises.
• Absa Bank Limited holds a contingency to the value of 39 000.

NOSA – NOSA (Proprietary) Limited   
•  The company has a settlement facility from First National Bank Limited of R2 000.   
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18.  Share capital and share premium   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Authorised   
200 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each 2 000 2 000 2 000 2 000
Issued   
Balance at beginning of year – 100 802 677 (2010: 100 802 677) 965 970 1 008 1 008
   
Balance at end of year  965 970 1 008 1 008
Less treasury shares repurchased during the year (22) (5) -  - 
   
Balance at the end of year 943 965 1 008 1 008

Share premium   
Balance at beginning of year 189 832 190 470 191 749 191 748
Share options exercised 35 1 35 1
   
Balance at end of the year  189 867 190 471 191 784 191 749
Less treasury shares repurchased during the year (3 788) (639) -  - 
   
Balance at end of the year 186 079 189 832 191 784 191 749
   
 187 022 190 797 192 792 192 757
   
The directors are authorised, until the forthcoming annual general meeting, to dispose of the unissued shares for any purpose and upon 
such terms and conditions as they deem fit, subject to the provision of section 38 and 41 of the Companies Act and the JSE Limited Listings 
Requirements.

The group has also issued share options (see note 36 – Share-based payments).

19.  Non-distributable reserves  
  
The group had the following non-distributable reserves at year end:  
  
Revaluation reserve  
The revaluation reserve comprises all revaluation surpluses relating to the revaluation of owner occupied properties.   
  
Foreign currency translation reserve  
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations.  
  
Deal differences reserve  
The deal difference reserve comprises a retention amount to cover any unmatched trades that may occur in the broking businesses. 
 
Share-based payments reserve  
The share-based payments reserve represents the vested fair value of services provided in exchange for share options.   



76   MICROmega Holdings Limited – Annual Integrated Report 2011

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

20. Borrowings   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Instalment sale liabilities 12 703 19 550 2 545 550
Liabilities under instalment sale agreements repayable over periods from 
two years and four months to four years at effective interest rates ranging 
from prime lending rate less 1.25% to prime lending rate plus 1% per 
annum. The liabilities are secured by property, plant and equipment with 
a carrying value of R 7 262 338 (2010: R7 767 438) together with a cession of 
revenue streams associated with revenue generating equipment financed 
by instalment sale agreements.

Finance lease liability 5 43 -  - 
Liability under a finance lease agreement repayable within 1 year at an 
effective interest rate of prime lending rate plus 1.5% per annum. Secured 
by property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of R2 372 (2010: 
R26 136).

Mortgage bonds 58 962 44 372 -  - 
Mortgage bonds repayable over 106-142 months at a rate of prime minus 
1% to prime minus 0.15% and are secured by property with a value of 
R95 865 000.

Anglo American Corporation 2 000 2 000 -  - 
The loan is interest free and currently is repayable upon the existence of 
sufficient cash reserves in Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited. The loan is 
unsecured.

Daimler Chrysler South Africa -  14 946 -  - 
The loan from DCSA was repayable on the basis of units invoiced in relation 
to the total units per the contract. It was settled during the current year 
with the disposal of the non-current asset that was provided as security 
on the loan.

Warren Friedland 5 940 7 440 -  - 
The loan is interest free, unsecured and repayable in the ordinary course 
of business.

John Newbury Investments (Proprietary) Limited -  111 -  - 
The loan was unsecured, bore interest at the prime bank lending rate and 
was repaid in the current year.

  79 610 88 462 2 545 550
   
Less: Amounts payable within 12 months included in current liabilities (14 418) (31 886) (769) (233)

 65 192 56 576 1 776 317

All the liabilities are Rand denominated. 

Please refer to note 5 – Property, plant and equipment, for disclosure on assets held under finance leases.

The fair values of the borrowings have been assessed taking into account their effective interest rates and maturity periods. None of the fair 
values differ materially from the corresponding carrying values.

For an analysis of the maturity of these borrowings, please refer to note 37.
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21.  Deferred vendor payments  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

The amount due to vendors represents the balance of the purchase 
consideration owing in respect of acquisitions. The loans are settled 
through the issue of shares and cash resources upon achievement of profit 
warranties. 534 789 534 789 
Less: Amount payables within 12 months included in current liabilities (534) (789) (534) (789)
 - -  -  -  
  
Amounts to be settled:  
Through the issue of shares 534 534 534 534 
Through the distribution of cash resources -  255 -  255 
 534 789 534 789 
  
Deferred vendor payments are recognised when there is a reasonable expectation that the predetermined profit warranties will be achieved.

22.  Trade and other payables  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Trade and other payables 57 753 51 803 6 373 2 834 
VAT payable 6 061 2 935 1 817 258 
Income received in advance 4 181 4 324 180 2 538 
Leave pay accrual 5 170 4 610 1 772 232 
Payroll accruals 25 901 18 614 1 518 1 974 
 99 066 82 286 11 660 7 836 

23.  Amounts owing to subsidiary companies  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 
Beatrix Events (Proprietary) Limited -  -  180 -  
GIM Holdings (Proprietary) Limited -  -  5 381 -  
Intermap (Proprietary) Limited -  -  350 4 970 
Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) Limited -  -  -  1 599 
MICROmega National Certification Authority (Proprietary) Limited -  -  18 330 2 195 
MICROmega Financial Services (Proprietary) Limited -  -  3 486 3 873 
MICROmega Revenue Management Solutions (Proprietary) Limited -  -  5 668 -  
NOSA (Proprietary) Limited -  -  -  11 213 
SA International Capital & Market Brokers (Proprietary) Limited -  -  20 380 18 824 
Sebata Municipal Solutions (Proprietary) Limited -  -  -  19 165 
Swazi Occupational Safety & Health (Proprietary) Limited -  -  71 71 
 -  -  53 846 61 910 
  
Amounts owing to subsidiary companies are carried at amortised cost.  
  
The loans are unsecured and bear interest at rates determined periodically by the board of MICROmega Holdings Limited. The loans are 
repayable at the discretion of the board of MICROmega Holdings Limited. In the absence of a contractually agreed repayment date, the fair 
values and carrying values of these loans are deemed to be similar.  
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24.  Provisions  
 
  Carrying 
  amount    Carrying
  at the  Additional Used value
  beginning  provisions during at end
  of the year  raised year of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
  
GROUP  
  
2011  
Provision for loyalty payment 203  -   (201) 2
Provision for onerous leases 2 399  -   (2 399) - 
Provision for severance packages 5 904  -   -   5 904
 8 506  -   (2 600) 5 906
  
  Carrying 
  amount    Carrying
  at the  Additional Used value
  beginning  provisions during at end
  of the year  raised year of year
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
  
GROUP  
  
2010  
Provision for loyalty payment 36  167  -   203
Provision for onerous leases -   2 399  -   2 399
Provision for severance packages -   5 904  -   5 904
 36  8 470  -   8 506
  
Loyalty payments  
The group makes provision for accumulated payments due to specific employees in terms of loyalty programs which become payable after 
five years from the granting date. The balance represents amounts payable to individuals still in the employment of the group as per amounts 
agreed in their employment contracts.  
  
Onerous leases  
The group recognises an onerous contract as a contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the 
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. The group recognises 
the present obligation under the contract as a provision.  
  
Severance packages  
The group makes provision for severance packages payable to ex-employees of the discontinued operation, Kolbenco (Proprietary) 
Limited.   
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25.  Revenue  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 
The amounts attributable to the different categories are as follows:  

Sale of goods 242 447 244 705 -  -  
Rendering of services 533 036 437 609 28 301 16 850 
 775 483 682 314 28 301 16 850 
  
Revenue from continuing operations 690 985 547 781 28 301 16 850 
Revenue from discontinued operations 84 498 134 533 -  -  
 775 483 682 314 28 301 16 850 
  
Revenue comprises turnover, which excludes value added tax (VAT) and represents the invoiced value of goods and services less any 
settlement discounts granted.  
 

  

26.  Other income    

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Bad debts recovered 1 519 753 -  -
Conference income 5 806 4 552 -  -
Government grant income 928 469 -  -
Membership fee income -  11 -  -
Other income 280 758 36 -
Profit / (loss) on foreign currency translation 1 540 (3 032) -  -
(Loss) / profit on disposals of property, plant and equipment (1 098) 34 (471) 32 
Profit / (loss) on disposal of intangible assets 1 247 -  -  -
Rent received 12 -  -  -
Warranty income 554 460 -  -  
 10 788 4 005 (435) 32
 

  

27.  Other (expenses) / income  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Impairment of investment in subsidiary -  -  1 312 15 367 
Reversal of prior year impairment of investment in subsidiary -  -  -  (24 793)
(Profit) / loss on disposal of investment in subsidiaries (847) -  39 387 -  
Impairment of other investments 3 695 -  3 630 -  
 2 848 -  44 329 (9 426)
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28.  Auditors remuneration  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Auditor remuneration 2 321 3 391 206 654 
Adjustment for previous year 210 124 144 44 
Tax and secretarial services 179 115 45 3 
 2 710 3 630 395 701 
  
  
  

29.  Administration expenses  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Included in administrative expenses are the following expenses:  
  
Movements in allowance for credit losses (119) 1 040 -  -  
Bad debt expense 4 820 1 522 -  -  
Consulting fees 961 1 415 37 143 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 948 10 698 1 486 618 
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale 1 738 3 500 -  -  
Amortisation of intangible assets 1 283 790 -  -  
Impairment of intangible assets 6 818 1 701 -  -  
Impairment of goodwill 8 473 6 057 -  -  
Operating lease charges 11 729 20 235 7 485 4 385 
  
-  Premises 9 829 17 811 7 485 4 385 
-  Motor vehicles 248 1 105 -  -  
-  Equipment 1 652 1 319 -  -  
  
  
   

30.  Personnel expenses  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Salaries and wages – senior management 30 419 27 239 6 718 6 385 
Salaries and wages – other 89 471 85 195 1 816 2 853 
Contributions to pension and provident funds 7 212 6 381 350 228 
Contributions to medical aids 4 367 2 518 285 189 
Contributions to life cover 1 673 1 465 86 81 
Share-based payments expense 543 826 326 517 
Severance package provision -  5 904 -  -  
Loss / (income) recognised on defined benefit fund – refer note 14 5 454 (7 967) -  -  
 139 139 121 561 9 581 10 253 
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31.  Directors emoluments
     Provident Directors Total Total
 Basic salary Allowances Bonuses fund fees 2011 2010
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2011
DC King 1 804  -   280  -   -   2 084  - 
IG Morris 1 487  120  -   -   -   1 607  1 639
DSE Carlisle 1 194  54  250  82  -   1 580  1 324
DJ Case 909  24  85  106  -   1 124  899
PV Henwood -   -   -   -   108 108 110
RC Lewin -   -   -   -   108  108  55
 5 394  198  615  188  216  6 611  4 027
   
The following options have been granted in terms of MICROmega Share Incentive Trust to directors and are still outstanding:

                               Number of ordinary share options
   2011  2010

DSE Carlisle  
Options granted at beginning of year 600 000  530 000
Movement during year: 
- Options granted prior to appointment to the board -   - 
- New options granted during the year -   70 000

- Options granted at end of year 600 000  600 000
  
Comprising: 
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.00 per share, exercisable in 
equal instalments on the 31 March 2012, 2013 and 2014 280 000  280 000
Share options available at an issue price of R 2.00 per share, exercisable in 
equal instalments on the 31 March 2008, 2009 and 2010 70 000  70 000
Share options available at an issue price of R 3.70 per share, exercisable in 
equal instalments on the 1 January 2010, 2011 and 2012 250 000  250 000
 600 000  600 000
  
DJ Case 
Options granted at beginning of year 500 000 -
Movement during year: 
- Options granted prior to appointment to the board -   350 000
- New options granted during the year -   150 000
  
- Options granted at end of year 500 000  500 000
  
Comprising: 
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.00 per share, exercisable in 
equal instalments on the 31 March 2012, 2013 and 2014 100 000  100 000
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.45 per share, exercisable in 
equal instalments on the 31 March 2013, 2014 and 2015 150 000  150 000
Share options available at an issue price of R 3.70 per share, exercisable in 
equal instalments on the 1 January 2010, 2011 and 2012 250 000  250 000
 500 000  500 000
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32.  Net finance (expense) / income  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Interest income on bank deposits 852 1 417 19 5 
Interest income on loans receivable 4 019 3 666 -  -  
Interest income from subsidiary companies -  -  2 150 2 576 
Interest income from associates 856 1 616 -  -  
Dividend income from subsidiary companies -  -  787 -  
Dividend income from listed investments 4 4 -  -  
  
Finance income 5 731 6 703 2 956 2 581 
  
Interest expense on bank deposits (1 648) (2 779)  (2)
Interest expense on instalment sale liabilities (1 784) (2 188) (114) (37)
Interest expense on finance lease liabilities (10) (16) -  -  
Interest expense on other borrowings (3 634) (1 014) -  -  
Interest expense on loans from subsidiary companies -  -  -  (42)
  
Finance costs (7 076) (5 997) (114) (81)
  
Net finance (expense) / income (1 345) 706 2 842 2 500 
  

  
  

33.  Income tax expense  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

South African normal tax  
- Current tax 14 157 12 676 -  -  

Current year 14 319 13 111 -  -  
Adjustments to prior year estimates (162) (435) -  -  

- Secondary tax on dividends 159 156 -  -  
Current year 159 156 -  -  

- Deferred tax (17 729) (8 896) (7 307) (296)
Current year (17 729) (8 896) (7 307) (296)

Tax for the year (3 413) 3 936 (7 307) (296)
  
Reconciliation of rate of tax % % % %
South African normal tax rate  28.00  28.00  28.00  28.00 

Adjusted for:  
Disallowable expenditure 4.12 2.45 (0.37) 2.05 
Exempt income (3.10) (1.23) 0.47 -  
Utilisation of assessed losses 0.87 0.07 -  -  
Investment and other allowances 21.90 (11.59) -  -  
Impairment charges and other capital profits (35.77) 18.39 (12.53) (33.84)
Change in deferred tax rate on temporary differences on land and buildings (56.45) -  -  -  
Secondary tax on dividends 1.87 1.33 -  -  
Adjustments to prior year estimates (1.96) (3.91) -  -  

Net increase (68.52) 5.51 (12.43) (31.79)

Effective rate (40.52) 33.51 15.57 (3.79)
  
Refer to the statement of comprehensive income for taxes recognised directly in equity.
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34.  Discontinued operation

On 15 December 2008 management of the group committed to ceasing the manufacture of pistons in Kolbenco (Proprietary) Limited due 
to the downturn in the automotive sector. The plan to cease local manufacturing was communicated to employees in December 2008. 
Management have commenced with a formal structured plan to dispose of the assets and settle outstanding liabilities.

The group disposed of its entire interest in BTM Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited on 30 September 2011. As part of the transaction it 
sold the business and assets of ARDA Professional Machining Services (Proprietary) Limited into BTM Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited.

The group disposed of 90% of its interest in Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) Limited on 31 October 2011.

The group disposed of the business and assets of Automobile Radio Dealers Association 1989 (Proprietary) Limited on the 15 November 2011.

Comparatives have been restated.

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Results of discontinued operation   
Revenue 84 498 134 533 -  - 
Cost of sales (70 628) (114 854) -  - 
Gross profit 13 870 19 679 -  - 
Operating expenses (53 269) (43 695) -  - 
Loss before tax (39 399) (24 016) -  - 
Taxation credit 10 261 6 508 -  - 
Loss after tax (29 138) (17 508) -  - 
   
Cash flows from / (used) in discontinued operation   
Net cash used in operating activities (6 983) (6 026) -  - 
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities 19 416 (457) -  - 
Net cash used in financing activities (17 080) (1 444) -  - 
Net cash from discontinued operation (4 647) (7 927) -  - 

35.  Earnings per share 
 
GROUP 
The calculation of earnings per ordinary share of 7.72 cents (2010: 5.86 cents) is based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of R7 386 243 (2010: R5 673 332) and a weighted average of 95 736 164 (2010: 96 783 034) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year.  
 
The calculation of diluted earnings per ordinary share of 7.64 cents (2010: 5.83 cents) is based on earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of R7 386 243 (2010: R5 673 332) and a diluted weighted average of 96 674 065 (2010: 97 265 958) ordinary shares in issue throughout the 
year. 
 
Reconciliation between weighted average ordinary shares and diluted weighted average ordinary shares:  
 
   2011  2010 
 
 
Weighted average ordinary shares 95 736 164  96 783 034 
Share options 937 901  482 924 
Weighted average diluted ordinary shares 96 674 065  97 265 958 
 
The weighted average number of shares is the number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the year adjusted for any additional shares 
issued during the period appropriately weighted for the time the shares are outstanding. Furthermore, any treasury shares held by the group 
are deducted from this amount. 
 
The calculation of headline earnings per share of 20.94 cents (2010: 16.46 cents) is based on earnings of R20 044 955 (2010: R15 926 839) and 
a weighted average of 95 736 164 (2010: 96 783 034) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year. 
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35.  Earnings per share (continued)

Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings: 
 
 Profit before   Non-controlling Net
 taxation Taxation   interest profit
    2011  2010 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 
Per the statement of comprehensive income 8 424  3 413  (4 451) 7 386  5 673 
Loss / (profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 098  (226) -   872  (25)
Profit on disposal of intangible assets (1 247) 174  -   (1 073) -  
Impairment of intangible assets 15 291  -   -   15 291  7 758 
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale 1 738  (487) -   1 251  2 520 
Profit on disposal of investments in subsidiaries (847) (5 514) -   (6 361) -  
Impairment of other investments 3 695  (1 016) -   2 679  -  
 28 152  (3 656) (4 451) 20 045  15 926 
 
The calculation of loss per ordinary share of discontinued operations of 30.44 cents (2010: 18.09 cents loss) is based on the loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders of R29 137 723 (2010: R17 507 591) and a weighted average of 95 736 164 (2010: 96 783 034) ordinary shares in issue 
throughout the year.  
 
COMPANY 
The calculation of loss per ordinary share of 41.39 cents (2010: 8.36 cents earnings) is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of R39 625 824 (2010: R8 095 406 profit) and a weighted average of 95 736 164 (2010: 96 783 034) ordinary shares in issue throughout the 
year. 
 
The calculation of diluted loss per ordinary share of 40.99 cents (2010: 8.32 cents earnings) is based on a loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of R39 625 824 (2010: R8 095 406 profit) and a diluted weighted average of 96 674 065 (2010: 97 265 958) ordinary shares in issue 
throughout the year. 
 
Reconciliation between weighted average ordinary shares and diluted weighted average ordinary shares:  
 
   2011  2010 
 
Weighted average ordinary shares 95 736 164  96 783 034 
Share options 937 901  482 924 
Weighted average diluted ordinary shares 96 674 065  97 265 958 
 
The weighted average number of shares is the number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the year adjusted for any additional shares 
issued during the period appropriately weighted for the time the shares are outstanding. Furthermore, any treasury shares held by the group 
are deducted from this amount. 
 
The calculation of headline loss per share of 1.55 cents (2010: 1.40 cents earnings) is based on a loss of R1 488 565 (2010: R1 353 727 profit) 
and a weighted average of 95 736 164 (2010: 96 783 034) ordinary shares in issue throughout the year. 
 
Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings: 

  Profit before
  taxation Taxation Net profit 
    2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
 
Per the statement of comprehensive income (46 934) 7 307  (39 627) 8 096 
(Profit) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 471  (132) 339  (24)
Impairment of investment in subsidiary 1 312  -   1 312  15 367 
Reversal of prior year impairment of investment in subsidiary -   -   -   (24 793)
Loss on disposal of investments in subsidiaries 39 387  (5 514) 33 873  -  
Impairment of other investments 3 630  (1 016) 2 614  -  
 (2 134) 645  (1 489) (1 354)
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36.  Share-based payments  
  
The group established the MICROmega Share Incentive Trust in 2001 together with a detailed share incentive scheme. The purpose of this 
scheme is to provide employees of the group with the opportunity to acquire an interest in the equity of the group, thereby providing such 
employees with a further incentive to advance the group’s interests and promoting an identity of interests between such employees and the 
shareholders of the group. This trust is not owned by MICROmega Limited and has no assets and liabilities nor are any shares held by the 
trust. Therefore, the trust has not been consolidated as a part of the group annual financial statements.  
  
In terms of the scheme, share options may not be exercised until after the period, provided that the employee remains in the employment of 
the group, calculated from the acceptance date, of:  
•  more than 3 years shall have elapsed, in which event not more than one third thereof;  
• more than 4 years shall have elapsed, in which event not more than a further one third thereof representing two thirds thereof 

cumulatively;  
• more than 5 years shall have elapsed, in which event not more than a further one third thereof representing 100% thereof 

cumulatively.  
  
The share options lapse if employment terminates before the share options have vested. 
 
The share options expire upon the expiry of the option period, being 8 years from the grant date.  
  
Outstanding options  
The following options have been granted in terms of MICROmega Share Incentive Trust to employees and are still outstanding:  
 
 Number of ordinary share options 
 Group Company 
 2011  2010  2011  2010 
  
Options granted at beginning of year 5 615 081 4 858 414 3 250 000 2 405 000 
Movement during year:  
- New options granted during the year -  1 045 000 -  1 045 000 
- Options exercised during the year (60 000) (3 333) -  -  
- Options lapsed during the year (240 000) (285 000) (200 000) (200 000)
- Options granted at end of year 5 315 081 5 615 081 3 050 000 3 250 000 
  
Comprising:  
Share options available at an issue price of R 0.45 per share 414 841 414 841 -  -  
Share options available at an issue price of R 0.85 per share 368 200 428 200 -  -  
Share options available at an issue price of R 0.90 per share 250 000 250 000 -  -  
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.00 per share 906 540 981 540 880 000 955 000 
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.25 per share 225 000 225 000 -  -  
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.45 per share 850 000 975 000 850 000 975 000 
Share options available at an issue price of R 1.80 per share -  -  -  -  
Share options available at an issue price of R 2.00 per share 1 200 500 1 240 500 220 000 220 000 
Share options available at an issue price of R 3.70 per share 1 100 000 1 100 000 1 100 000 1 100 000 
 5 315 081 5 615 081 3 050 000 3 250 000 
  
Group share-based payment expenditure amounting to R507 701 (2010: R825 378) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions 
were recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.  
  
Company share-based payment expenditure amounting to R325 984 (2010: R517 272) related to equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions was recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.  
  
No options were granted during the year ended 31 December 2011.  
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37.  Financial risk management

37.1 Overview

 The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:  
• credit risk  
• liquidity risk  
• currency risk  

   
This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.  
   
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight for the group’s risk management framework. The 
Board is responsible for developing and monitoring the group’s risk management policies.  
   
The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risk faced by the group, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the group’s activities.  
   
The Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the group.  

   
37.2 Credit risk
  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the group’s trade receivables from customers, instalment sale debtors and deposits with 
banks. 

Credit risk is managed by the application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. Where appropriate, the group obtains 
security in the form of suretyships and retention of title to mitigate risk. Counterparty credit limits are in place and are reviewed and 
approved by the respective subsidiary management. 
   
Trade and other receivables  
The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics of the 
group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country, in which customers operate, has less of an influence on 
credit risk. There is no concentration of credit risk in a single customer.  
   
The Board of Directors has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness 
before the group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Customers that fail to meet the group’s benchmark 
creditworthiness may transact with the group only on a prepayment basis.  
   
The group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 
receivables and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually 
significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been 
incurred but not yet identified.   
   

37.3  Liquidity risk
  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient cash/ liquid assets to meet its liabilities when 
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the group’s reputation. 
 
Typically the group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, 
including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably 
be predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, the group’s statement of financial position remains lowly geared and thus the 
Directors are comfortable with the ability to receive lines of credit.  
   

37.4  Currency risk 
 

The group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional 
currency of the group. The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are the US Dollar and the Euro. 
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37.  Financial risk management (continued) 

37.4  Currency risk (continued)  

The group hedges foreign purchases against its exports. No forward exchange contracts are currently used whilst the group retains its 
natural hedge.   

There were foreign receivables and payables outstanding at 31 December 2011. Refer to note 37.8 - Financial risk management - 
Exposure to credit risk.  

37.5  Capital management 
 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and shareholder confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the group defines as net operating income 
divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders. There were 
no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year. The group is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.  

37.6  Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amounts of financial assets represent the maximum exposure to credit risk as shown below:  
   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Loans receivable 23 606 24 677 4 000 -  
Trade and other receivables 134 467 113 330 639 1 389 
Cash and cash equivalents 23 742 20 963 3 571 885 
Loans to subsidiaries -  -  33 755 128 697 
Loans to associates 3 742 3 552 -  -  

 185 557 162 522 41 965 130 971 
   

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:  
   
 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Domestic 77 671 82 590 359 305 
Foreign 42 638 22 738 -  -  

 120 309 105 328 359 305 

Other receivables 14 158 8 002 280 1 084 
Total trade and other receivables 134 467 113 330 639 1 389 

   
Due to the wide spectrum of industries in which the group operates, information on the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade 
receivables at the reporting date by type of customer has not been disclosed.  
   
Refer to note 18 – Cash and cash equivalents, for trade receivable offered as security for banking facilities.  
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37.  Financial risk management (continued)

37.6  Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

The ageing of trade and other receivables at reporting date was:  

 2011 2011 
 Group Company 

  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Not past due 78 151 -  359 -
Past due 30 days 8 204 -  -  -
Past due 30 – 120 days 42 953 (8 999) -  -

 129 308 (8 999) 359 -  

 2010 2010
 Group Company 

  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Not past due 39 542 -  305 -
Past due 30 days 27 281 -  -  -
Past due 30 – 120 days 47 623 (9 118) -  -

 114 446 (9 118) 305 -  

None of the other financial assets are past due or impaired.

37.7  Liquidity risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

 Group Company
    Greater    Greater
 Carrying    than Carrying   than 
 amount 1 year 2-5 years 5 years amount 1 year 2-5 years 5 years
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2011
Non-derivative liabilities   
Interest bearing borrowings 71 670  6 478  39 304  25 888  2 545  770  1 775  -  
Non-interest bearing borrowings 7 940  7 940  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Trade and other payables 99 066  99 066  -   -   11 660  11 660  -   -  
Deferred vendor payments 534  534  -   -   534  534  -   -  
Bank overdraft 9 065  9 065  -   -   -   -   -   -  
Loans owing to subsidiary companies -   -   -   -   53 846  53 846  -   -
 188 275  123 083  39 304  25 888  68 585  66 810  1 775  -
  
2010
Non-derivative liabilities   
Interest bearing borrowings 79 022  22 446  22 493  34 083  550  233  317  -
Non-interest bearing borrowings 9 440  9 440  -   -   -   -   -   -
Trade and other payables 82 286  82 286  -   -   7 836  7 836  -   -
Deferred vendor payments 789  789  -   -   789  789  -   -
Bank overdraft 11 844  11 844  -   -   -   -   -   -
Loans owing to subsidiary companies -   -   -   -   61 910  61 910  -   -
 183 381  126 805  22 493  34 083  71 085  70 768  317  -  
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37.  Financial risk management (continued)

37.7  Liquidity risk (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade payables at the reporting date by geographic region was:  
   
 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Domestic 43 577 42 126 6 373 2 834 
Foreign 14 176 9 678 -  -  

 57 753 51 804 6 373 2 834 

Other payables (refer note 22 – Trade and other payables) 41 313 30 482 5 287 5 002 
   
Total trade and other payables 99 066 82 286 11 660 7 836 

37.8  Exposure to currency risk
  
   Group 2011 
 Rand Euro US Dollar Other Total

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
  

Trade receivables 77 671  1  42 116  521  120 309
Trade payables 43 577  3 711  10 465  -   57 753

Sensitivity Analysis  
The group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that trade receivable and trade payable foreign currency balances would fluctuate. 
A 10 percent movement in currencies held on the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) profit or loss as follows: 
 
    10 percent 10 percent 
    strengthening  weakening

   R’000 R’000
  

Euro (Decrease) / increase in profit (371) 371
US Dollar (Decrease) / increase in profit 3 165 (3 165)
Other (GBP) (Decrease) / increase in profit 52 (52)

 
   Group 2010 
 Rand Euro US Dollar Other Total 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
  

Trade receivables 82 590  -   22 131  607  105 328
Trade payables 42 126  4 305  5 373  -   51 804

  
  

Sensitivity Analysis  
 The group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that trade receivable and trade payable foreign currency balances would fluctuate. 
A 10 percent movement in currencies held on the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) profit or loss as follows: 
 
    10 percent 10 percent 
    strengthening  weakening

   R’000 R’000
  

Euro (Decrease) / increase in profit (431) 431
US Dollar (Decrease) / increase in profit 1 676 (1 676)
Other (GBP) (Decrease) / increase in profit 61 (61)
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37.  Financial risk management (continued)

37.8  Exposure to currency risk (continued)

The exchange rates applied at year end were as follows:

   2011 2010
  

Euro  10.8237  9.0480 
US Dollar  8.3417  6.7780 
Other (GBP)  12.8889  10.4901 

37.9  Interest rate risk    

Profile    
The interest rate profile of the interest bearing financial instruments was:

 Interest Group  Company
 rate 2011  2010  2011  2010
   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Variable rate instruments    
-  Bank overdraft 9.00% 9 065 11 844 -  - 
- Interest bearing liabilities   71 670 79 022 2 545 550

- Instalment sales agreements 7.75% - 10.00% 12 703 19 550 2 545 550
- Finance lease liabilities 10.50% 5 43 -  - 
- Mortgage bond 7.00% 58 962 44 372 -  - 
- Daimler 7.00% -  14 946 -  - 
- J Newbury Investments (Proprietary) Limited 9.00% -  111 -  - 
    
Sensitivity analysis    
 The group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. Therefore a change in 
interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit and loss.

 A change in 100 basis points in interest rates on the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) profit or loss as follows:

    10 percent 10 percent 
    strengthening  weakening

   R’000 R’000

2011 Decrease / (increase) in profit (807) 807 
2010 Decrease / (increase) in profit (909) 909 
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37.  Financial risk management (continued)

37.10  Financial risk management  
   

 Fair value analysis 
  2011  2010 
  Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

Assets  
Other investments 1 573 1 573 6 695 6 695 
Loan to associate company 3 742 3 742 3 552 3 552 
Loans receivable 37 145 37 145 28 216 28 216 
Trade and other receivables 134 467 134 467 113 330 113 330 
Cash and cash equivalents  23 742 23 742 20 963 20 963 
   
Liabilities  
Interest bearing borrowings 71 670 71 670 79 022 79 022 
Non-interest bearing borrowings 7 940 7 940 9 440 9 440 
Trade and other payables 99 066 99 066 82 286 82 286 
Deferred vendor payments 543 543 789 789 
Bank overdraft  9 065 9 065 11 844 11 844 

   
Estimation of fair values  
 The method of estimation of fair values has been detailed in note 4 – Determination of fair values.  
  
 No disclosure has been done on the hierarchy of the fair values reached as the group only has listed investments to the value of 
R73 000.  

   
  Fair value analysis 
  2011  2010 
  Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

COMPANY

Assets  
Other investments 1 500 1 500 6 594 6 594 
Amounts owing by subsidiary companies 101 922 101 922 128 697 128 697 
Trade and other receivables 639 639 1 389 1 389 
Cash and cash equivalents  3 571 3 571 885 885 
   
Liabilities  
Interest bearing borrowings 2 545 2 545 550 550 
Amounts owing to subsidiary companies 53 846 53 846 61 910 61 910 
Trade and other payables 11 660 11 660 7 836 7 836 
Deferred vendor payments  534 534 789 789 

37.11 Equity price risk  
 

The group is not materially exposed to equity price risk.
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38.  Acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

On 31 August 2011, the group acquired the remaining 15% of the shares of MICROmega Technologies (Proprietary) Limited for R60 904 
payable in cash. MICROmega Technologies (Proprietary) Limited contributed a profit of R938 404 for 2011. As the group already had control 
of MICROmega Technologies (Proprietary) Limited the acquisition was accounted for directly in equity.

   Fair value of
 Acquired identifiable
  assets and assets and
 liabilities liabilities
   R’000 R’000

Retained earnings 1 161 1 161 
Outside shareholders (1 101) (1 101)
Total net assets acquired 60 60 
Goodwill  -  
Consideration paid  60 
Cash  -  

Total consideration  60
   
Cash acquired  -  
Cash portion of consideration  -  
   
Net cash outflow  60 
   
No statement of comprehensive income effect has been provided as the results are already fully consolidated.

On 15 November 2011, the group acquired newly issued shares in MICROmega Securities (Proprietary) Limited from vendors as part of a 
loyalty scheme.

   Fair value of
 Acquired identifiable
  assets and assets and
 liabilities liabilities
   R’000 R’000

Total net assets acquired - - 
Goodwill  2 897 
Consideration paid  2 897 
Cash  -  
   
Total consideration  2 695 
   
Cash acquired  -  
Cash portion of consideration  -  
   
Net cash outflow  2 695 
   
No statement of comprehensive income effect has been provided as the results are already fully consolidated.
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39.  Disposals of subsidiaries

The group disposed of its entire interest in BTM Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited on 30 September 2011. 

   Fair value of
 Disposed identifiable
  assets and assets and
 liabilities liabilities
   R’000 R’000

Property, plant and equipment   (1 475) (1 475)
Goodwill   (4) (4)
Deferred tax asset / liabilities   (8 492) (8 492)
Inventories   (6 418) (6 418)
Trade and other receivables   (5 448) (5 448)
Trade and other payables   2 896 2 896 
Borrowings   4 448 4 448 
Cash   853 853 
Total net assets disposed (13 640) (13 640)
Loss on disposal    4 114 
Consideration received  (9 526)
Cash    (853)
   
Total consideration  (10 379)
   
Gross cash inflow on disposal     (10 379)
Less: Retention of other investment     -  
Less: Term loan for settlement of transaction     -  
   
Net cash inflow on disposal  (10 379)

The group disposed of 90% of its interest in Lubrication Equipment (Proprietary) Limited on 31 October 2011.

   Fair value of
 Disposed identifiable
  assets and assets and
 liabilities liabilities
   R’000 R’000

Property, plant and equipment (901) (901)
Deferred tax asset / liabilities (37) (37)
Inventories (4 456) (4 456)
Trade and other receivables (7 462) (7 462)
Trade and other payables 2 848 2 848 
Tax payable 156 156 
Cash (2 319) (2 319)
Total net assets disposed (12 171) (12 171)
Loss on disposal     (4 961)
Consideration received  (17 132)
Cash     2 319 
   
Total consideration  (14 813)
   
Gross cash inflow on disposal     (14 813)
Less: Retention of other investment     5 097 
Less: Term loan for settlement of transaction     4 000 
   
Net cash inflow on disposal  (5 716)
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40. Comparative figures
 
The comparative figures have been restated in the statement of comprehensive income as the group previously classified profit and losses 
on conversion of foreign exchange transactions in finance income and finance costs. Due to the confusion that this treatment caused around 
group cost of capital the profit or loss on foreign exchange transactions has been reclassified as part of other income.

The effect of the restatement is as follows:

 Group Company
  Current  As previously Current   As previously
  disclosure disclosed disclosure disclosed
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Items in the statements of comprehensive income 
  
Other income  4 005   7 037   32   32 
Finance income  6 703   8 468   2 581   2 581 
Finance expenses  (5 997)  (10 794)  (81)  (81)
  4 711   4 711   2 532      2 532 

 

41. Commitments  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Operating lease commitments  
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating 
leases are as follows: 
  
Premises and office equipment  
Not later than 1 year 6 945 8 879 7 853 6 442 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 9 759 16 793 50 152 32 110 
Later than 5 years -  -  158 142 55 588 
 16 704 25 672 216 147 94 140 
  
Finance lease liability on office equipment  
Not later than 1 year 5 38 -  -  
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years -  5 -  -  
 5 43 -  -  
  
Capital commitments  
The group had made no capital commitments as at date of the annual financial statements.

 

42. Related Parties
 
During the year there were transactions amongst group companies. These companies are described in the director’s report. All intercompany 
transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

All related party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions that are made.
 
Management fees allocated to the subsidiary companies were as follows:  
  

    2011  2010 
   R’000 R’000
  
Management fees 28 301  16 850 
  
A dividend was received from Ocneblok Properties (Proprietary) Limited during the year for an amount of R787 610.
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42. Related Parties (continued)

Amounts owing to and from related parties were as follows:

    2011  2010 
   R’000 R’000
  
Amounts owing by subsidiary companies (see note 16)    101 922  128 697 
Amounts owing to subsidiary companies (see note 23)     (53 846)  (61 910)
  48 076   66 787 

 

43. Notes to the cash flow 
  

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

43.1  Cash generated by operating activities  
   

Profit / (loss) before taxation 8 424 11 744 (46 934) 7 800 
Adjustments for:  
Depreciation and amortisation 12 231 11 488 1 486 618 
Profit on disposals of property, plant and equipment 1 098 (34) 471 (32)
(Loss) / profit on disposal of intangible assets (1 247) -  -  -  
(Loss) / profit on disposals of subsidiaries (847) -  39 387 -  
Impairment of goodwill 8 473 6 057 -  -  
Impairment of intangible assets 6 818 1 701 -  -  
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries -  -  1 312 (9 426)
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale 1 738 3 500 -  -  
Impairment of other investments 3 695 -  3 630 -  
Finance income (5 731) (6 703) (2 956) (2 581)
Finance expenses 7 076 5 997 114 81 
Movement in retirement benefit assets and liabilities 5 463 (7 967) -  -  
Movement in provisions (2 600) 8 470 -  -  
Realisation of non-distributable reserves 90 (49) -  -  
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve (4) 12 -  -  
Share of loss of equity accounted associates 628 724 -  -  
Movement in share-based payments reserve 543 827 361 518 

 45 848 35 767 (3 129) (3 022)
   

Movements in working capital (14 559) 446 4 536 780 

Increase in inventories (3 036) (6 431) (38) (737)
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (34 047) 10 646 750 (689)
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 22 524 (3 769) 3 824 2 206 

 31 289 36 213 1 407 (2 242)
   
43.2  Taxation paid  
   

Balance owing at beginning of the year 1 043 (942) 1 076 (1 122)
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (14 316) (12 832) -  -  
Adjustment in respect of subsidiaries disposed during the year 156 -  -  -  
Balance (prepaid) / owing at end of the year (642) (1 043) (1 030) (1 076)

 (13 759) (14 817) 46 (2 198)
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43. Notes to the cash flow (continued)

43.3  Acquisition of subsidiaries  
   
 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Fair value of assets acquired  
Property, plant and equipment -  9 500 -  -  
Loans receivable -  2 038 -  -  
Deferred taxation -  (1 120) -  -  
Investment in subsidiaries -  -  3 034 832 
Other investments -  48 -  -  
Borrowings -  (2 086) -  -  
Non-controlling interest 60 (860) -  -  
  
Assets (acquired) / disposed 60 7 520 3 034 832 
Goodwill 2 897 547 -  -  
  
Purchase consideration 2 957 8 067 3 034 832 
Add: Bank and cash (net overdraft) -  -  -  -  
   
Gross cash outflow on acquisition 2 957 8 067 3 034 832 
Less: Equity to be issued -  -  -  -  
Less: Cession of loan account -  -  -  -  
Less: Amounts to be paid based on profit targets -  (255) -  (255)
  
Net cash outflow on acquisition  2 957 7 812 3 034 577 

43.4  Disposal of subsidiaries  
   

 Group Company
  2011  2010  2011  2010 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Fair value of assets disposed  
Property, plant and equipment (2 376) -  -  -  
Goodwill (4) -  -  -  
Deferred taxation (8 529) -  -  -  
Investment in subsidiaries -  -  (29 185) -  
Amounts owing by group companies -  -  (53 176) -  
Inventories (10 874) -  -  -  
Trade and other receivables (12 910) -  -  -  
Trade and other payables 5 744 -  -  -  
Tax payable 156 -  -  -  
Borrowings 4 448 -  -  -  
Cash and cash equivalents (1 466) -  -  -  
   
Assets (acquired) / disposed (25 811) -  (82 361) -  
Profit / loss on disposal (847) -  39 387 -  
   
Purchase consideration (26 658) -  (42 974) -  
Add: Bank and cash (net overdraft) 1 466 -  -  -  
   
Gross cash inflow on disposal (25 192) -  (42 974) -  
Less: Retention of other investment 5 097 -  5 097 -  
Less: Term loan for settlement of transaction 4 000 -  4 000 -  
 
Net cash inflow on disposal  (16 095) -  (33 877) -
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44. Segmental analysis (continued)    
    

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit, assets and liabilities and other material items   
    

    2011  2010 
   R’000 R’000
    
Revenue    
Total revenue for reportable segments   793 755 703 296 
Consolidated adjustments   -18 272 -20 982 
    
Consolidated revenue 775 483 682 314 
    
Profit    
Total profit for reportable segments   24 522 47 302 
Share of (loss)/ profit of associates   -628 -724 
Consolidation adjustments   -15 470 -34 834 
    
Consolidated profit before income tax 8 424 11 744 
    
Assets    
Total assets for reportable segments   725 058 862 415 
Intangible assets arising on consolidation   23 080 34 154 
Investments in associates   2 038 2 746 
Consolidation adjustments   -230 818 -394 451 
    
Consolidated total assets 519 358 504 864 
    
Liabilities    
Total liabilities for reportable segments   285 666 433 532 
Consolidation adjustments   -80 197 -228 344 
    
 205 469 205 188 
    
    

  Reportable   Consolidated
  segment totals Adjustments totals

  R’000 R’000 R’000

Other material items 2011    
    
Finance income  11 345 (5 614) 5 731 
Finance expenses  (11 903) 4 827 (7 076)
    
Capital expenditure  17 485 -  17 485 
Depreciation and amortisation  10 639 1 592 12 231 
    

  Reportable   Consolidated
  segment totals Adjustments totals

  R’000 R’000 R’000

Other material items 2010    
    
Finance income  12 072 (5 369) 6 703 
Finance expenses  (11 365) 5 768 (5 597)
    
Capital expenditure  68 820 -  68 820 
Depreciation and amortisation  10 757 497 11 254 
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45.  Shareholder’s information    
    

Analysis of the share register at 31 December 2011    
    
  Number of  Percentage of Number of Percentage of
Portfolio size shareholders shareholders shares share capital
    
1 to 50 000 1 030  95.02% 3 475 085 3.45%
50 001 to 250 000 35  3.23% 3 696 571  3.67%
Over 250 000 19  1.75% 93 631 021 92.89%
 1 084  100.00% 100 802 677  100.00%
    
     Number of Percentage of
Non-public & public shareholders   shares share capital
    
Non public shareholders    
HSBC Investment Management   21 939 699  21.76%
Insight Communications Limited   16 876 000 16.74%
Alpha Management Limited   14 300 000 14.19%
Insight Corp   12 625 921 12.53%
Subsidiary companies   6 502 823  6.45%
Directors (Direct & indirect beneficial interest)   1 507 713  1.50%
Directors – Subsidiary companies (Direct & indirect beneficial interest)   3 620 598  3.59%
Trustee of The MICROmega Share Incentive Scheme   25 000  0.02%
    
Total non-public shareholders   77 397 754  76.78%
Total public shareholders   23 404 923 23.22%
    
Total 100 802 677  100.00%
    
     Number of Percentage of
Major shareholders   shares share capital
    
HSBC Investment Management   21 939 699  21.76%
Insight Communications Limited   16 876 000 16.74%
Alpha Management Limited   14 300 000 14.19%
Insight Corp   12 625 921 12.53%
Robel Management Limited   9 000 000  8.93%
TTSA Securities (Proprietary) Limited   6 502 823  6.45%
Warren Friedland   3 556 281  3.53%
Enigma Investments Holdings Limited   3 000 000  2.98%
The Ross Lewin Family Trust   1 427 493 1.42%
Credit Suisse AG Zurich 1 002 100 0.99%
    

 2011  2010 
 Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect
    
DC King (Chairman) -  21 939 699 -  21 939 699 
IG Morris -  -  -  -  
RC Lewin -  1 427 493 -  1 427 493 
DSE Carlisle 37 500 -  37 500 -  
PV Henwood -  -  -  -  
DJ Case 42 720 -  42 720 -  
    
There was no change in these shareholdings to the date of the notice of the annual general meeting.
    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011
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MICROmega HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 1998/003821/06)
(Share code: MMG ISIN: ZAE000034435)

(“MICROmega” or “the Company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of MICROmega Holdings Limited will be held in the MICROmega boardroom, 
66 Park Lane, Sandton, at 10h00 on Tuesday, 31 July 2012 (the “annual general meeting”) for the purposes of transacting the following business, 
with or without amendment:

1. to consider, receive and adopt the Annual Financial Statements of the Company and the group as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2011, together with the reports of directors, the audit committee and auditors thereon;

2. transacting such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting of a company including the re-appointment of the 
auditors and re-election of retiring directors; and

3. to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions set out herein.

Important dates to note: 2012
Record date for receipt of notice purposes Friday, 15 June
Last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote Friday, 13 July
Record date for voting purposes (“voting record date”) Friday, 20 July

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:
“Resolved to  receive, consider and adopt the Annual Financial Statements of the Company and the group as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2011, together with the reports of directors, the audit committee and auditors thereon.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 1 to be passed, the majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2:
“Resolved to re-elect each of the following directors, by way of a separate vote, who in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation, retire as directors but being eligible to do so, offer themselves for re-election:

2.1 PV Henwood; and
2.2 RC Lewin”.

In order for ordinary resolution number 2 to be passed, the majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution.

A brief CV of each director can be found on page 24 of the annual integrated report of which this notice of annual general meeting forms part (“the 
annual integrated report”).

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3:
“Resolved that Messrs PV Henwood and RC Lewin be and are hereby appointed as members of the audit committee until the next annual general 
meeting. The proposed members have the necessary qualifications and experience required to attend to their duties and their independence, in 
terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended (the “Companies Act”or “Act”), has been confirmed by the board of directors.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 3 to be passed, the majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution.

A brief CV of each audit committee member can be found on page 24 of the annual integrated report.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4:
“Resolved that, on the recommendation of the audit committee, Nexia SAB&T, together with Bashier Adam as individual registered auditor 

NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

f



102   MICROmega Holdings Limited – Annual Integrated Report 2011

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

for the Company, be re-appointed as auditors of the Company and the audit committee be authorised to determine the remuneration of the 
auditors.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 4 to be passed, the majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5:
“Resolved that in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation the entire authorised but unissued share capital of the Company, 
from time to time, be placed under the control of the directors of the Company until the next annual general meeting with the authority to allot and 
issue all or part thereof in their discretion, at such time or times, to such person or persons, and upon such terms an conditions as the directors of 
the Company may determine, subject to section 38 of the Companies Act and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 5 to be passed, the majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6:
“Resolved that, pursuant to the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised until this 
authority lapses at the next annual general meeting of the Company, provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 15 months, to allot and 
issue shares for cash subject to the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and the Companies Act, on the following bases:

a)  the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, must be limited to such 
shares or rights as are convertible into a class already in issue;

b) the allotment and issue of shares for cash shall be made only to persons qualifying as “public shareholders”, as defined in the JSE Limited 
Listings Requirements, and not to “related parties”;

c)  shares which are the subject of general issues for cash:
(i) in aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 15% of the Company’s shares in issue of that class (for purposes of determining 

the shares comprising the 15% number in any one year, account must be taken of the dilution effect, in the year of issue of options or 
convertible securities, by including the number of any equity securities which may be issued in future arising out of the issue of such 
options/convertible securities);

(ii) of a particular class will be aggregated with any securities that are compulsorily convertible into securities of that class and, in the 
case of the issue of compulsorily convertible securities, aggregated with the securities of that class into which they are compulsorily 
convertible;

(iii) as regards the number of shares which may be issued (the 15% number), same shall be based on the number of shares of that class in 
issue added to those that may be issued in future (arising from the conversion of options/convertible securities), at the date of such 
application:
(1) less any shares of the class issued, or to be issued in future arising from options/convertible securities issued, during the current 

financial year (which commenced 1 January 2012);
(2) plus any shares of that class to be issued pursuant to:

(aa) a rights issue which has been announced, is irrevocable and is fully underwritten; or
(bb) an acquisition (in respect of which final terms have been announced) which acquisition issue securities may be included 

as though they were securities in issue at the date of application;
d)  the maximum discount at which shares may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded of such shares measured over the 30 business 

days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the Company and the party subscribing for the shares;
e)  after the Company has issued shares in terms of this general authority to issue shares for cash representing on a cumulative basis within a 

financial year, 5% or more of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an announcement containing full 
details of that issue, including
(i) the number of shares issued;
(ii) the average discount to the weighted average traded price of the shares over the 30 business days prior to the date that the issue is 

agreed in writing between the Company and the party/ies subscribing for the shares; and
(iii)  the effects of the issue on the net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per share, earnings per share, headline earnings per 

share, and if applicable diluted earnings and diluted headline earnings per share.”

In terms of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, in order for this ordinary resolution to be passed, a 75% majority of the votes of all shareholders 
present or represented by proxy must be cast in favour of the resolution.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7:
“Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy as set out in the remuneration committee report on pages 28 and 29 of the annual integrated 
report be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.”

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:
General authority to repurchase shares
 “Resolved that the directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries be and they hereby are authorised by a way of general authority contemplated 
in Sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act up to and including the date of the following annual general meeting, to approve the repurchase of the 
Company’s shares, subject to the provisions of the Act and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and provided that:
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1. the general authority shall only be valid until the next annual general meeting, but in any event shall not extend beyond 15 months from the 
date of the passing of this resolution;

2. any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any 
prior understanding or arrangement;

3. authorisation has been given in terms of the Company’s (or a subsidiary’s) Memorandum of Incorporation;
4. the general authority to repurchase be limited to maximum of 20% (or 10% where the acquisition is effected by a subsidiary) of the Company’s 

issued share capital in any financial year;
5. repurchases in any one financial year shall not be made at a price of more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value at which 

such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction is agreed;
6. an announcement will be published as soon as the Company has acquired ordinary shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the 

number of ordinary shares in issue at the time the general authority is granted, which announcement shall contain full details of such 
acquisition;

7. a resolution by the board of directors of the Company must be passed that the board of directors of the Company authorises the repurchase, 
that the Company and its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity test as set out in section 4 of the Companies Act and that since 
the repurchase was performed, there have been no material changes to the position of the group;

8. the Company may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase on the Company’s behalf; 
9. the Company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase shares during a prohibited period, as defined by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements 

unless it has in place a repurchase programme where the dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed 
and full details of the programme have been disclosed in an announcement over SENS prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.”

In order for this special resolution number 1 to be passed, a 75% majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be 
cast in favour of the resolution.

REASON FOR AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:
The reason for this special resolution number 1 is to grant the directors of the Company a general authority in terms of the Act and the JSE Limited 
Listings Requirements for the repurchase the Company’s shares by the Company and/or a subsidiary of the Company. The effect of this special 
resolution will be to allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to acquire the Company shares.

The directors of MICROmega have no specific intention, at present, for the Company to repurchase any of its shares but consider that such a 
general authority should be put in place should an opportunity present itself to do so in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In 
considering this, the directors must be of the opinion that for a period of 12 months following the decision to use this authority:

1. the Company and the group will be able, in the ordinary course of business, to pay its debts;
2. the assets of the Company and group, fairly valued in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, will be in excess of the 

liabilities of the Company and the group, fairly valued after the repurchase;
3. the Company and the group will have adequate capital and reserves for purposes of their business for the foreseeable future; and
4. the working capital of the Company and the group will be adequate.

Attention is drawn to the JSE Limited Listings Requirements that require the following disclosures prior to voting on this particular resolution:
• Directors    page 100
• Major shareholders   page 100
• Director’s interests in securities  page 100
• Share capital of the Company  page 100
 
Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual integrated report, there have been no material changes in the affairs or financial 
position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of this notice.

Director’s responsibility statement
The directors, whose names are provided on page 37 of the annual integrated report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for 
the accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief no facts have been 
omitted, which would make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 
the special resolution contains all information required by law and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

Litigation statement
In terms of section 11.26 of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings, 
including proceedings pending or threatened, that may have or have had in the recent past, being at least the previous 12 months, a material effect 
on the group’s financial position.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2:
Adoption of a new memorandum of incorporation 
“Resolved that the current Memorandum of Incorporation of MICROmega Holdings Limited be and is hereby substituted in its entirety with the 
replacement Memorandum of Incorporation, tabled at this meeting, initialled by the chairman for identification purposes and attached to this 
notice as Annexure 1.”
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The replacement Memorandum of Incorporation will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company for a period of 14 days prior 
to the date of the annual general meeting called in terms of this notice.

In order for this special resolution number 2 to be passed, a 75% majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution. The replacement Memorandum of Incorporation will take effect from the date of filing the replacement Memorandum 
of Incorporation with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission.

REASON FOR AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2:
The reason for and the effect of special resolution number 2 is to comply with the provisions of section 16 (c)(ii) of the Companies Act and Schedule 
10 of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3: 
To consider and if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following special resolutions by way of separate resolutions:

3.1  “Resolved, as a special resolution, in accordance with section 66 of the Act, that the fees payable by the Company to the non-executive 
directors for their services as directors be and are hereby approved for a period of two years from the passing of this resolution or until its 
renewal, whichever is the earliest, as follows:

 Fees for the 2012 financial year
• R5 000 per month as a base fee;
• R10 000 for chairing an audit committee meeting;
• R5 000 for chairing a remuneration committee meeting;
• R10 000 for attendance at each board meeting;
• R5 000 for attendance at each audit committee meeting; 
• R5 000 for attendance at each remuneration committee meeting; and
• R5 000 for attendance at each risk committee meeting.

3.2 “Resolved, as a special resolution, that an annual increase, in line with the annual Consumer Price Index inflation rate, as published by the 
Central Statistical Services of South Africa, of the fees payable by the Company to the non-executive directors for their services as directors 
be and is hereby approved for a period of two years from the passing of this resolution or until its renewal, whichever is the earliest.”

REASON FOR AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3.1:
To obtain shareholder approval by way of a special resolution in accordance with section 66 of the Act for the increase in the fees paid to the 
Chairman of the audit committee from R5 000 per meeting to R10 000 per meeting. The remaining fees payable to each of the non-executive 
directors of the Company remains the same as approved during the preceding financial year.  

REASON FOR AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3.2:
The fees payable to non-executive directors are, from time to time, benchmarked to other companies with a similar market capitalisation and 
adjusted for inflationary increases. Special resolution 3.2 proposes the increase of the fees paid to non-executive directors of the Company in 
accordance with the Consumer Price Index inflation rate.

In order for special resolutions 3.1 and 3.2 to be passed, a 75% majority of votes of all members present or represented by proxy must be cast in 
favour of the resolutions.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8:
“Resolved that any director or the Company Secretary of the Company be and is hereby authorised to sign all such documentation and do all such 
things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of special resolution numbers 1, 2 and 3, and ordinary resolution numbers 1, 2, 
3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 which are passed by the shareholders in accordance with and subject to the terms thereof.”

In order for ordinary resolution number 8 to be passed, the majority of the votes of all shareholders present or represented by proxy must be cast 
in favour of the resolution.

QUORUM
A quorum for the purposes of considering the resolutions above shall consist of three shareholders of the Company personally present (and if the 
shareholder is a body corporate, must be represented) and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting.  In addition, a quorum shall comprise 
25% of all voting rights entitled to be exercised by shareholders in respect of the resolutions above.  

The date on which shareholders must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (P.O. Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), for the purposes of being entitled to attend, 
participate in and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 20 July 2012.

VOTING AND PROXIES
A shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a 
shareholder of the Company) to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead.
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On a show of hands, every shareholder of the Company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only.  On a poll, every 
shareholder of the Company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held in the Company by such shareholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any MICROmega shareholder who cannot attend the annual general meeting but who wishes 
to be represented thereat. Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the Company’s registered office.  The completed forms of proxy 
must be deposited at or posted to the office of the transfer secretaries of the Company, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (P.O. Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) to be received no later than 10h00 on Friday, 27 July 2012.  Any 
shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the general meeting should the 
shareholder subsequently decide to do so.

Shareholders who have already dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker rather than 
through own-name registration and who wish to attend the annual general meeting must instruct their CSDP or broker to issue them with the 
necessary authority to attend.

Dematerialised shareholders, who have elected own-name registration in the sub-register through a CSDP and who are unable to attend but 
wish to vote at the annual general meeting, must complete and lodge the attached form of proxy with the transfer secretaries of the Company, 
Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (P.O. Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) to be received 
no later than 10h00 on Friday, 27 July 2012.

All beneficial owners whose shares have been dematerialised through a CSDP or broker other than with own name registration, must provide 
the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of their custody agreement should they wish to vote at the annual general meeting. 
Alternatively, they may request the CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of representation, in terms of their custody agreements, should 
they wish to attend the annual general meeting. Such shareholder must not complete the attached form of proxy.

In terms of section 63(1) of the Act meeting participants will be required to provide identification to the reasonable satisfaction of the chairman 
of the annual general meeting and the chairman must be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote (whether as a 
Shareholder or as a proxy for a shareholder has been reasonably satisfied. 
 
ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION BY SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders or their proxies who wish to participate in the meeting electronically are required to deliver a written notice to the Company Secretary 
of MICROmega requesting attendance at the meeting by way of electronic participation. Such written notice must include, a certified copy of the 
identity document of the person or if the shareholder is not an individual, a certified copy of the resolution adopted by the entity authorising the 
person to represent the shareholder at the meeting, together with a certified copy of the individual’s identity document. A valid email address must 
also be provided in order for the person to receive further details on the manner of electronic participation.

Electronic participation at the meeting will only be made available to shareholders who have notified the Company by 10:00 on Monday, 23 July 
2012 and the cost of electronic participation will be at the expense of the shareholder.

Shareholders participating in the meeting by way of electronic communication will not be able to vote during the annual general meeting.  
Accordingly, such shareholders must act in accordance with the proxy and voting procedures detailed above in order to ensure that their vote is 
taken into account.

By order of the board

TS de Mendonca
Company Secretary
23 March 2012
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THE COMPANIES ACT, NO. 71 OF 2008
(AS AMENDED)

MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

of

MICROmega HOLDINGS LIMITED
a public company 

Registration Number: 1998/003821/06
 

WHEREBY IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS :

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1. In this Memorandum of Incorporation, unless the context clearly indicates a contrary intention, the following words and 
expressions bear the meanings assigned to them and cognate expressions bear corresponding meanings –
1.1.1. “Act” means the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended, consolidated or re-enacted from time to time, and 

includes all schedules to such Act;
1.1.2. “the Board” means the board of Directors from time to time of the Company;
1.1.3. “Certificated Securities” means Securities issued by the Company that are not Uncertificated Securities;
1.1.4. “Central Securities Depositary” has the meaning set out in section 1 of the Securities Services Act;
1.1.5. “Commission” means the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission established by section 185 of the Act;
1.1.6.  “Company” means the company named on the first page of this document, duly incorporated under the registration 

number endorsed thereon;
1.1.7.  “Director” means a member of the Board as contemplated in section 66 of the Act, or an alternate director, and 

includes any person occupying the position of a director or alternate director, by whatever name designated;
1.1.8. “Electronic Communication” has the meaning set out in section 1 of the Electronic Communications and Transactions 

Act, No 25 of 2002;
1.1.9. “IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted from time to time by the International 

Accounting Standards Board, or its successor body, and approved for use in South Africa from time to time by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council established in terms of section 203 of the Act;

1.1.10. “JSE” means the exchange, licensed under the Securities Services Act, operated by JSE Limited (Registration number 
2005/022939/06), a public company duly incorporated in South Africa;

1.1.11. “JSE Limited Listings Requirements” means the Listings Requirements of the JSE applicable from time to time;
1.1.12. “Participant” has the meaning set out in section 1 of the Securities Services Act;
1.1.13. “Prescribed Officer” means a person who, within the Company, performs any function that has been designated by 

the Minister in terms of section 66(10) of the Act, as defined in the Act;
1.1.14. “Regulations” means the regulations published in terms of the Act from time to time;
1.1.15. “Republic” means the Republic of South Africa;
1.1.16.  “Securities” means -

1.1.16.1. any shares, notes, bonds, debentures or other instruments, irrespective of their form or title, issued, or 
authorised to be issued, by the Company; or

1.1.16.2. anything falling within the meaning of “securities” as set out in section 1 of the Securities Services Act, and 
includes shares held in a private company;

1.1.17. “Securities Register” means the register of issued Securities of the Company required to be established in terms of 
section 50(1) of the Act and referred to in clause  11 hereof;

1.1.18. “Securities Services Act” means the Securities Services Act, No 36 of 2004, including any amendment, consolidation 
or re-enactment thereof;

1.1.19. “SENS” means the Securities Exchange News Service established and operated by the Listings Division of the JSE;
1.1.20. “Share” means one of the units into which the proprietary interest in the Company is divided;
1.1.21. “Shareholder” means the holder of a Share who is entered as such in the Securities Register, subject to the provisions 

of section 57 of the Act;
1.1.22.  “Solvency and Liquidity Test” has the meaning attributed thereto in section 4 of the Act;
1.1.23. “Sub-register” means the record of Uncertificated Securities administered and maintained by a Participant, which 

forms part of the Securities Register in terms of the Act;
1.1.24. “Uncertificated Securities” means any “securities” defined as such in section 29 of the Securities Services Act; and
1.1.25. “Uncertificated Securities Register” means the record of uncertificated securities administered and maintained by 

a Participant or Central Securities Depositary, as determined in accordance with the rules of the Central Securities 
Depositary.

1.2. In this Memorandum of Incorporation, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise –
1.2.1. words and expressions defined in the Act and which are not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in 

the Act;

ANNEXURE 1
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1.2.2. a reference to the Act shall include reference to the Regulations;
1.2.3. a reference to a section by number refers to the corresponding section of the Act;
1.2.4. a reference to a clause by number refers to a corresponding provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation;
1.2.5. in any instance where there is a conflict between a provision (be it expressed, implied or tacit) of this Memorandum of 

Incorporation and –
1.2.5.1. an alterable or elective provision of the Act, the provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation shall prevail 

to the extent of the conflict; and
1.2.5.2. an unalterable or non-elective provision of the Act, the unalterable or non-elective provision of the Act shall 

prevail to the extent of the conflict unless the Memorandum of Incorporation imposes on the Company a 
higher standard, greater restriction, longer period of time or similarly more onerous requirement, in which 
event the relevant provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation shall prevail to the extent of the conflict;

1.2.6. clause headings are for convenience only and are not to be used in its interpretation;
1.2.7. an expression which denotes -

1.2.7.1. any gender includes the other genders;
1.2.7.2. a natural person includes a juristic person and vice versa; and
1.2.7.3. the singular includes the plural and vice versa;

1.2.8. if the due date for performance of any obligation in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation is a day which is not 
a business day then (unless otherwise stipulated), the due date for performance of the relevant obligation shall be the 
immediately succeeding business day;

1.2.9. any words or expressions defined in any clause shall, unless the application of any such word or expression is 
specifically limited to that clause, bear the meaning assigned to such word or expression throughout the whole of this 
Memorandum of Incorporation;

1.2.10. any reference to a notice shall be construed as a reference to a written notice, and shall include a notice which is 
transmitted electronically in a manner and form permitted in terms of the Act and/or the Regulations.

1.3. Any reference in this Memorandum of Incorporation to –
1.3.1. “days” shall be construed as calendar days unless qualified by the word “business”, in which instance a “business day” 

will be any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday as gazetted by the government of the Republic from 
time to time;

1.3.2. “law” means any law of general application, as amended and re-enacted from time to time, and includes the common 
law and any statute, constitution, decree, treaty, regulation, directive, ordinance, by-law, order or any other enactment 
of legislative measure of government (including local and provincial government) statutory or regulatory body which 
has the force of law; and

1.3.3. “writing” means legible writing and in English and includes printing, typewriting, lithography or any other mechanical 
process, as well as any electronic communication in a manner and a form permitted in terms of the Act and/or the 
Regulations.

1.4. The words “include” and “including” mean “include without limitation” and “including without limitation”.  The use of the 
words “include” and “including” followed by a specific example or examples shall not be construed as limiting the meaning of 
the general wording preceding it.

1.5. Unless otherwise provided, defined terms appearing in this Memorandum of Incorporation in title case shall be given their 
meaning as defined, while the same terms appearing in lower case shall be interpreted in accordance with their plain English 
meaning.

1.6. Unless specifically otherwise provided, any number of days prescribed shall be determined by excluding the first and including 
the last day or, where the last day falls on a day that is not a business day, the next succeeding business day.

1.7. Where figures are referred to in numerals and in words, and there is any conflict between the two, the words shall prevail, unless 
the context indicates a contrary intention.

1.8. Any reference herein to “this Memorandum of Incorporation” shall be construed as a reference to this Memorandum of 
Incorporation as amended from time to time.

1.9. Whenever any person is required to act “as an expert and not as an arbitrator” in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation, 
then –
1.9.1. the determination of the expert shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding;
1.9.2. subject to any express provision to the contrary, the expert shall determine the liability for his or its charges, which shall 

be paid accordingly;
1.9.3. the expert shall be entitled to determine such methods and processes as he or it may, in his or its sole discretion, deem 

appropriate in the circumstances provided that the expert may not adopt any process which is manifestly biased, 
unfair or unreasonable;

1.9.4. the expert shall consult with the relevant Parties (provided that the extent of the expert’s consultation shall be in his or 
its sole discretion) prior to rendering a determination; and

1.9.5. having regard to the sensitivity of any confidential information, the expert shall be entitled to take advice from any 
person considered by him or it to have expert knowledge with reference to the matter in question.

2. JURISTIC PERSONALITY
2.1. The Company is a pre-existing company as defined in the Act and, as such, continues to exist as a public company as if it 

had been incorporated and registered in terms of the Act, as contemplated in item 2 of the Fifth Schedule to the Act, and 
this Memorandum of Incorporation replaces and supersedes the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company 
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applicable immediately prior to the filing hereof.
2.2. The Company is incorporated in accordance with and governed by –

2.2.1. the unalterable provisions of the Act, save to the extent that this Memorandum of Incorporation imposes on the 
Company a higher standard, greater restriction, longer period of time or similarly more onerous requirement; and

2.2.2. the alterable provisions of the Act, subject to the limitations, extensions, variations or substitutions set out in this 
Memorandum of Incorporation; and

2.2.3. the other provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation.

3. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
No person shall, solely by reason of being an incorporator, Shareholder or Director of the Company, be liable for any liabilities or 
obligations of the Company.

4. POWERS OF THE COMPANY
4.1. The Company has all of the legal powers and capacity contemplated in the Act, and no provision contained in this Memorandum 

of Incorporation should be interpreted or construed as negating, limiting, or restricting those powers in any way whatsoever.
4.2.  The legal powers and capacity of the Company are not subject to any restrictions, limitations or qualifications, as contemplated 

in section 19(1)(b)(ii) of the Act.

5. SPECIAL CONDITIONS
This Memorandum of Incorporation does not contain any special conditions applicable to the Company as contemplated in section 15(2)
(b) or (c) of the Act.

6. CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE
The Board shall be responsible for assessing if and when a person should be provided with a copy of a document relating to the Company 
notwithstanding that such document has been filed or is made available for inspection at an office of the Company, so that such person 
must be regarded as having received actual notice or knowledge of the contents of such document.

7. ACQUISITION AND CESSATION OF RIGHTS
A person – 
7.1. acquires the rights associated with any particular securities of the company when that person’s name is entered in the Company’s 

Securities Register as a person to whom those securities have been issued; and
7.2. ceases to have the rights associated with any particular securities of the company when the transfer to another person, re-

acquisition by the Company of those Securities has been entered in the Company’s Securities Register.

8. ISSUE OF SHARES AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS
8.1. The Company is authorised to issue –

8.1.1. 200 000 000 ordinary par value Shares, of the same class, each of which ranks pari passu in respect of all rights and 
entitles the holder to –  
8.1.1.1. vote on any matter to be decided by the Shareholders of the Company and to 1 (one) vote in respect of each 

Share held by a Shareholder in the case of a vote by means of a poll and to vote at every general meeting or 
annual general meeting, in person or by proxy; 

8.1.1.2. participate proportionally in any distribution made by the Company; and
8.1.1.3. receive proportionally the net assets of the Company upon its liquidation;

8.2.  The Board shall not have the power to –
8.2.1. increase or decrease the number of authorised Shares of any class of the Company’s Shares; or 
8.2.2. consolidate and reduce the number of the Company’s issued and authorised Shares of any class; 
8.2.3. subdivide its Shares of any class by increasing the number of its issued and authorised Shares of that class without an 

increase of its capital; 
8.2.4. reclassify any classified Shares that have been authorised but not issued; or
8.2.5. classify any unclassified Shares that have been authorised but not issued; or
8.2.6. determine the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any Shares, 

 and such powers shall only be capable of being exercised by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution of the Shareholders 
and amendment to the Memorandum of Incorporation. 

8.3.  The Company may from time to time by special resolution and amendment to the Memorandum of Incorporation, and in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act, convert all of its ordinary Share capital consisting of Shares having a par value into 
stated capital constituted by Shares of no par value. 

8.4.  Each Share issued by the Company has associated with it an irrevocable right of the Shareholder to vote on any proposal to 
amend the preferences, rights, limitations and other terms associated with that Share.  The variation of any preferences, rights, 
limitations and other terms associated with any class of Shares as set out in this Memorandum of Incorporation may be enacted 
only by an amendment of this Memorandum of Incorporation approved by special resolution of the ordinary Shareholders.  If 
any amendment of the Memorandum of Incorporation relates to the variation of any preferences, rights, limitation and other 
Share terms attaching to any other class of Shares already in issue, that amendment must not be implemented without a special 
resolution, taken by the holders of Shares in that class at a separate meeting.  In such instances, the holders of such Shares will 
be allowed to vote at the meeting of ordinary Shareholders subject to clause 23.2.  No resolution of Shareholders of the company 
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shall be proposed or passed, unless a special resolution of the holders of the Shares in that class approve the amendment.  
8.5. The authorisation and classification of shares, the creation of any class of shares, the conversion of one class of shares into one 

or more other classes, the consolidation of securities, the sub-division of securities, the change of the name of the company, 
the increase of number of Shares, and, subject to clause 8.4, the variation of any preferences, rights, limitations and other terms 
associated with each class of Shares as set out in this Memorandum of Incorporation may be changed only by an amendment of 
this Memorandum of Incorporation by special resolution of the ordinary Shareholders and in accordance with the JSE Limited 
Listings Requirements, to the extent required, save if such an amendment is ordered by a court in terms of sections 16(1)(a) and 
16(4) of the Act. 

8.6. No Shares may be authorised in respect of which the preferences, rights, limitations or any other terms of any class of Shares may 
be varied in response to any objectively ascertainable external fact or facts as provided for in sections 37(6) and 37(7) of the Act. 

8.7.  The Company may only issue Shares which are fully paid up and freely transferable and only within the classes and to the extent 
that those Shares have been authorised by or in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation. 

8.8.  The Board may, subject to clau se 8.13 and the further provisions of this clause 8.8, resolve to issue Shares of the Company at any 
time, but –
8.8.1. only within the classes and to the extent that those Shares have been authorised by or in terms of this Memorandum of 

Incorporation; and
8.8.2. only to the extent that such issue has been approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, either by way of a general 

authority (which may be either conditional or unconditional) to issue Shares in its discretion or a specific authority in 
respect of any particular issue of Shares, in accordance with the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, provided that, if 
such approval is in the form of a general authority to the Directors, it shall be valid only until the next annual general 
meeting of the Company or for 15 (fifteen) months from the date of the ordinary resolution, whichever is the earlier, 
and it may be varied or revoked by any general meeting of the Shareholders prior to such annual general meeting. 

8.9.  Alterations of share capital, authorised shares and rights attaching to a class/es of Shares; all issues of Shares for cash and all 
issues of options and convertible securities granted or issued for cash must, in addition to the aforegoing provisions, be in 
accordance with the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. 

8.10. All Securities of the Company for which a listing is sought on the JSE and all Securities of the same class as Securities of the 
Company which are listed on the JSE must, notwithstanding the provisions of section 40(5) of the Act, but unless otherwise 
required by the Act, only be issued after the Company has received the consideration approved by the Board for the issuance of 
such Securities. 

8.11. Subject to section 40(5) to (7), when the Company has received the consideration approved by the Board for the issuance of any 
Shares –
8.11.1. those Shares are fully paid up (section 40(4)(a); and
8.11.2. the Company must issue those Shares and cause the name of the holder to be entered onto the Company’s Securities 

Register in accordance with sections 49 to 56 of the Act (section 40(4)(b).  For the sake of clarity, at the time when the 
Company has received the consideration approved by the Board for the issuance of Shares, such Shares shall at that 
time, in the absence of anything to the contrary specified in the resolution to issue such Shares as to the timing of the 
issue, be treated as having been issued by the Company. 

8.12.  Subject to what may be authorised by the Act, the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and at meetings of Shareholders in 
accordance with clause 8.14, and subject to clause 8.15, the Board may only issue unissued Shares if such Shares have first 
been offered to existing ordinary Shareholders in proportion to their shareholding on such terms and in accordance with such 
procedures as the Board may determine, unless such Shares are issued for the acquisition of assets by the Company. 

8.13.  Notwithstanding the provisions of clauses 8.2, 8.9, 8.14 and 8.15, any issue of Shares, Securities convertible into Shares, or rights 
exercisable for Shares in a transaction, or a series of integrated transactions shall, in accordance with the provisions of section 
41(3) of the Act, require the approval of the Shareholders by special resolution if the voting power of the class of Shares that are 
issued or are issuable as a result of the transaction or series of integrated transactions will be equal to or exceed 30% (thirty 
percent) of the voting power of all the Shares of that class held by Shareholders immediately before that transaction or series of 
integrated transactions.

8.14.  Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 8.12, the Shareholders may at a general meeting authorise the Directors to issue Shares 
of the Company at any time and/or grant options to subscribe for Shares as the Directors in their discretion think fit, provided 
that such transaction(s) has/have been approved by the JSE, if so required under the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, and 
comply with the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. 

8.15.  Except to the extent that any such right is specifically included as one of the rights, preferences or other terms upon which any 
class of Shares is issued or as may otherwise be provided in this Memorandum of Incorporation (as is set out in clause 8.12), no 
Shareholder shall have any pre-emptive or other similar preferential right to be offered or to subscribe for any additional Shares 
issued by the Company.

9.  FRACTIONS OF SHARES
If, on any capitalisation issue or consolidation of Shares, Shareholders would, but for the provisions of this clause 9, become entitled to 
fractions of Shares, the Board, shall be entitled to sell the Shares resulting from the aggregation of fractions on such terms and conditions 
as they deem fit, for the benefit of the relevant Shareholders, and any Director shall be empowered to sign any instrument of transfer or 
other instrument necessary to give effect to such sale.

10. CERTIFICATED AND UNCERTIFICATED SECURITIES
10.1. Securities of the Company are to be issued in certificated or uncertificated form, as shall be determined by the Board from 
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time to time. Except to the extent otherwise provided in the Act, the rights and obligations of Security holders shall not be 
different solely on the basis of their Securities being Certificated Securities or Uncertificated Securities and each provision of 
this Memorandum of Incorporation applies with respect to any Uncertificated Securities in the same manner as it applies to 
Certificated Securities, unless otherwise stated or indicated by the context.

10.2.  Any Certificated Securities may cease to be evidenced by certificates, and thereafter become Uncertificated Securities.
10.3. Any Uncertificated Securities may be withdrawn from the Uncertificated Securities Register, and certificates issued evidencing 

those Securities at the election of the holder of those Uncertificated Securities. A holder of Uncertificated Securities who elects 
to withdraw all or part of the Uncertificated Securities held by it in an Uncertificated Securities Register, and obtain a certificate 
in respect of those withdrawn Securities, may so notify the relevant Participant or Central Securities Depository as required by 
the rules of the Central Securities Depository.

10.4. After receiving notice from a Participant or Central Securities Depository, as the case may be, that the holder of Uncertificated 
Securities wishes to withdraw all or part of the Uncertificated Securities held by it in an Uncertificated Securities Register, and 
obtain a certificate in respect thereof, the Company shall –
10.4.1. immediately enter the relevant Security holder’s name and details of its holding of Securities in the Securities Register 

and indicate on the Securities Register that the securities so withdrawn are no longer held in uncertificated form; and
10.4.2. within 10 (ten) business days (or 20 (twenty) business days in the case of a holder of Securities who is not resident 

within the Republic) prepare and deliver to the relevant person a certificate in respect of the Securities and notify the 
Central Securities Depository that the Securities are no longer held in uncertificated form.

10.5. The Company may charge a holder of its Securities a reasonable fee to cover the actual cost of issuing any certificate as 
contemplated in this clause. 

10.6. At the request of the Company, and on payment of the fee prescribed in the Act or the Regulations, if any, a Participant or 
Central Securities Depository, as determined in accordance with the rules of the Central Securities Depository, must furnish the 
Company with all details of the Company’s uncertificated securities reflected in the uncertificated Securities Register.

11.   SECURITIES REGISTER
11.1. The Company must establish or cause to be established a Securities Register in the form prescribed by the Act and the Regulations 

and maintain the Securities Register in accordance with the prescribed standards.
11.2. As soon as practicable after issuing any Securities the Company must enter or cause to be entered in the Securities Register, in 

respect of every class of Securities it has issued –
11.2.1. the total number of Uncertificated Securities;
11.2.2.  with respect to Certificated Securities – 

11.2.2.1. the names and addresses of the persons to whom the Certificated Securities were issued;
11.2.2.2. the number of Certificated Securities issued to each of them;
11.2.2.3. in the case of Securities other than Shares as contemplated in section 43 of the Act, the number of those 

Securities issued and outstanding, and the names and addresses of the registered owners of the Securities 
and any holders of beneficial interests therein; and

11.2.2.4. any other prescribed information.
11.3. If the Company has issued Uncertificated Securities, or has issued Securities that have ceased to be Certificated Securities as 

contemplated in clause 10.2, a record must be administered and maintained by a Participant or Central Securities Depository, in 
the prescribed form, as the Uncertificated Securities Register, which –
11.3.1. forms part of the Securities Register; and
11.3.2. must contain, with respect to all Uncertificated Securities contemplated in this clause 11, any details referred to in clause 

11.2.2, read with the changes required by the context or as determined by the rules of the Central Securities Depository.
11.4. The Securities Register or Uncertificated Securities Register maintained in accordance with the Act shall be sufficient proof of 

the facts recorded in it, in the absence of evidence to the contrary.
11.5.  Unless all the Shares rank equally for all purposes, the Shares, or each class of Shares, and any other Securities, must be 

distinguished by an appropriate numbering system.
11.6.  A certificate evidencing any Certificated Securities of the Company –

11.6.1. must state on its face –
11.6.1.1. the name of the Company;
11.6.1.2. the name of the person to whom the Securities were issued; and
11.6.1.3. the number and class of Shares and designation of the series, if any, evidenced by that certificate;

11.6.2. must be signed by 2 (two) persons authorised by the Board, which signatures may be affixed or placed on the certificate 
by autographic, mechanical or electronic means; and

11.6.3. is proof that the named Security holder owns the Securities, in the absence of evidence to the contrary.
11.7. A certificate remains valid despite the subsequent departure from office of any person who signed it.
11.8.  If, as contemplated in clause 11.5, all of the Shares rank equally for all purposes, and are therefore not distinguished by a 

numbering system –
11.8.1. each certificate issued in respect of those Shares must be distinguished by a numbering system; and
11.8.2. if the Share has been transferred, the certificate must be endorsed with a reference number or similar device that will 

enable each preceding holder of the Share in succession to be identified,
 provided that in terms of Schedule 5 of the Act, if the Company is a pre-existing company (as defined in the Act), the 

failure of any Share certificate to satisfy the provisions of clauses 11.6 to 11.8 is not a contravention of the Act and does 
not invalidate that certificate.
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12. TRANSFER OF SECURITIES
12.1. The instrument of transfer of any Certificated Securities shall be signed by both the transferor and the transferee and the 

transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of such Certificated Securities until the name of the transferee is entered in the 
Securities Register.  The Directors may, however, in their discretion in such cases as they deem fit, dispense with requiring the 
signature of the transferee on the instrument of transfer.

12.2. Subject to such restrictions as may be applicable (whether by virtue of the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms 
associated with the Securities in question) but in no way derogating from the pr ovision s of clauses 8.7 and 13 regarding Shares 
and Securities being freely transferable, any Shareholder or holder of other Securities may transfer all or any of its Certificated 
Securities by instrument in writing in any usual or common form or any other form which the Directors may approve.

12.3. Every instrument of transfer shall be delivered to the principal place of business of the Company, accompanied by –
12.3.1. the certificate issued in respect of the Certificated Securities to be transferred; and/or 
12.3.2. such other evidence as the Company may require to prove the title of the transferor, or his or her right to transfer the 

Certificated Securities.
12.4. All authorities to sign transfer deeds or other instruments of transfer granted by holders of Securities for the purpose of 

transferring Certificated Securities which may be lodged, produced or exhibited with or to the Company at its registered office 
shall, as between the Company and the grantor of such authorities, be taken and deemed to continue and remain in full force 
and effect, and the Company may allow the same to be acted upon until such time as express notice in writing of the revocation 
of the same shall have been given and lodged at such of the Company’s offices at which the authority was first lodged, produced 
or exhibited.  Even after the giving and lodging of such notice, the Company shall be entitled to give effect to any instruments 
signed under the authority to sign and certified by any officer of the Company as being in order before the giving and lodging of 
such notice. 

12.5. All instruments of transfer, when registered, shall either be retained by the Company or disposed of in such manner as the 
Directors shall from time to time decide.  Any instrument of transfer which the Directors may decline to register shall (unless the 
Directors shall resolve otherwise) be returned on demand to the person who lodged it.

12.6. The transfer of Uncertificated Securities may be effected only –
12.6.1. by a Participant or Central Securities Depository;
12.6.2. on receipt of an instruction to transfer sent and properly authenticated in terms of the rules of a Central Securities 

Depository or an order of a Court; and
12.6.3. in accordance with section 53 of the Act and the rules of the Central Securities Depository.

12.7. Transfer of ownership in any Uncertificated Securities must be effected by debiting the account in the Uncertificated Securities 
Register from which the transfer is effected and crediting the account in the Uncertificated Securities Register to which the 
transfer is effected, in accordance with the rules of the Central Securities Depository.

12.8. Securities transfer tax and other legal costs payable in respect of any transfer of Securities pursuant to this Memorandum of 
Incorporation will be paid by the Company to the extent that the Company is liable therefor in law, but shall, to that extent, be 
recoverable from the person acquiring such Securities.

13.  NO LIEN
It is recorded for the avoidance of doubt that fully paid Securities shall not be subject to any lien in favour of the Company and shall be 
freely transferable. 

14. TRANSMISSION OF SECURITIES
14.1.  The executor of the estate of a deceased sole holder of a Security shall be the only person recognised by the Company as having 

any title to such Security.  In the case of a Security registered in the names of 2 (two) or more holders, the survivor or survivors, or 
the executor of the estate of any deceased Shareholder, as determined by the Board, shall be the only person recognised by the 
Company as having any title to the Security.  Any person who submits proof of his appointment as the executor, administrator, 
trustee, curator, or guardian in respect of the estate of a deceased Shareholder or holder of other Securities (“Security Holder”) 
of the Company, or of a Security Holder whose estate has been sequestrated or of a Security Holder who is otherwise under a 
disability or as the liquidator of any body corporate which is a Security Holder of the Company, shall be entered in the Securities 
Register nomine officii, and shall thereafter, for all purposes, be deemed to be a Security Holder. 

14.2. If when called upon by the Directors to do so the executor fails to register the deceased’s Securities in its name or the names of 
the heir or legatees, the Securities shall not be capable of being forfeited, but shall continue to be registered in the names of the 
deceased or the executor’s name nomine officio.

14.3. Subject to the  provisions of clause 14.1, any person becoming entitled to any Security by virtue of the death of a Security Holder 
shall, upon producing such evidence that he has such title or rights as the Directors think sufficient, have the right either to have 
such Security transferred to himself or to make such other transfer of the Security as such Security Holder could have made, 
provided that in respect of a transfer other than to himself –
14.3.1. the Directors shall have the same right to refuse or suspend registration as they would have had in the case of a 

proposed transfer of such Security by such Security Holder before his death; and
14.3.2. a person becoming entitled to any Security shall not, unless and until he is himself registered as a Security Holder in 

respect of such Security, be entitled to exercise any voting or other right attaching to such Security or any other right 
relating to meetings of the Company.

15. DEBT INSTRUMENTS
The Board may authorise the Company to issue secured or unsecured debt instruments as set out in section 43(2) of the Act, but no special 
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privileges associated with any such debt instruments as contemplated in section 43(3) of the Act may be granted, and the authority of the 
Board in such regard is limited by this Memorandum of Incorporation. 

16. CAPITALISATION SHARES 
16.1. Provided such transaction(s) has/have been approved by the JSE, if so required under the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, 

(and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements have been complied with), the Board shall, in accordance with section 47 of the Act,  
have the power or authority to –
16.1.1. approve the issue of any authorised Shares, as capitalisation Shares, on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders of one or 

more classes of Shares; or
16.1.2. to issue Shares of one class as capitalisation Shares in respect of Shares of another class; or
16.1.3.  to resolve to permit Shareholders, that are entitled, to elect to receive a cash payment in lieu of a capitalisation Share.

16.2. The Board may not resolve to offer a cash payment in lieu of awarding a capitalisation Share, as  contemplated in clause 16.1.3, 
unless the Board –
16.2.1. has considered the Solvency and Liquidity Test as required by section 46, on the assumption that every such Shareholder 

would elect to receive cash; and
16.2.2. is satisfied that the Company would satisfy the Solvency and Liquidity Test immediately upon the completion of the 

distribution. 

17. BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
The Company’s issued Securities may be held by, and registered in the name of, one person for the beneficial interest of another person 
as set out in section 56(1) of the Act.

18. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
The Board may authorise the Company to provide financial assistance by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise 
to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any Securities, issued or to be issued by the 
Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any such Securities, as set out in section 44 of the Act, and the 
authority of the Board in this regard is not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

19. ACQUISITION BY THE COMPANY OF ITS OWN SHARES
19.1. Subject to the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the provisions of section 48 of the Act and the further pr ovisions of this clause 

19 –
19.1.1.  the Board may determine that the Company acquire a number of its own Shares; and
19.1.2. the board of any subsidiary of the Company may determine that such subsidiary acquire Shares of the Company, but –

19.1.2.1. not more than 10% (ten percent), in aggregate, of the number of issued Shares of any class may be held by, or 
for the benefit of, all of the subsidiaries of the Company, taken together; and

19.1.2.2. no voting rights attached to those Shares may be exercised while the Shares are held by that subsidiary and it 
remains a subsidiary of the Company.

19.2. Any decision by the Company to acquire its own Shares must satisfy the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and the requirements 
of section 46 of the Act and, accordingly, the Company may not acquire its own Shares unless –
19.2.1. for as long as it is required in terms of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the acquisition has been approved by 

a special resolution of the Shareholders in terms of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, whether in respect of a 
particular repurchase or generally approved by Shareholders and unless such acquisition otherwise complies with 
sections 5.67 to 5.69 of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements (or such other sections as may be applicable from time 
to time); 

19.2.2. the acquisition –
19.2.2.1. is pursuant to an existing legal obligation of the Company, or a court order; or
19.2.2.2. the Board, by resolution, has authorised the acquisition;

19.2.3. it reasonably appears that the Company will satisfy the Solvency and Liquidity Test immediately after completing the 
proposed acquisition; and

19.2.4. the Board, by resolution, has acknowledged that it has applied the Solvency and Liquidity Test and reasonably 
concluded that the Company will satisfy the Solvency and Liquidity Test immediately after completing the proposed 
acquisition.

19.3. A decision of the Boa rd referred to in clause 19.1.1 –
19.3.1. must be approved by a special resolution of the Shareholders if any Shares are to be acquired by the Company from a 

Director or prescribed officer of the Company, or a person related to a Director or prescribed officer of the Company; 
and

19.3.2. is subject to the requirements of sections 114 and 115 of the Act if considered alone, or together with other transactions 
in an integrated series of transactions, it involves the acquisition by the Company of more than 5% (five percent) of the 
issued Shares of any particular class of the Company’s Shares.

19.4. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation, the Company may not acquire its own Shares, and 
no subsidiary of the Company may acquire Shares of the Company if, as a result of that acquisition, there would no longer be 
any Shares of the Company in issue other than –
19.4.1. Shares held by one or more subsidiaries of the Company; or
19.4.2. convertible or redeemable Shares.
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20. RECORD DATE FOR EXERCISE OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
20.1. The record date for the purpose of determining which Shareholders are entitled to –

20.1.1. receive notice of a Shareholders’ meeting;
20.1.2. participate in and vote at a Shareholders’ meeting;
20.1.3. decide any matter by written consent or by Electronic Communication;
20.1.4. receive a distribution; or
20.1.5. be allotted or exercise other rights,

 shall be determined by the Board, provided that, for as long as the JSE Limited Listings Requirements apply to the Company, 
such record date shall be the record date as required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. 

20.2. Such record date must be published to the Shareholders in a manner that satisfies the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and 
any other prescribed requirements.

21. SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
21.1. The Board, or any prescribed officer of the Company authorised by the Board, is entitled to call a Shareholders’ meeting at any 

time.
21.2. Subject to the provisions of section 60 of the Act, dealing with the passing of resolutions of Shareholders otherwise than at a meeting 

of  Shareholders, and clause 26.4 of this Memorandum of Incorporation, the Company shall hold a Shareholders’ meeting –
21.2.1. at any time, that the Board is required by –

21.2.1.1. the Act, to hold a meeting;
21.2.1.2. the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, to refer a matter to Shareholders for decision; or 
21.2.1.3. this Memorandum of Incorporation, to hold a meeting; or 

21.2.2. whenever required in terms of the Act to fill a vacancy on the Board; or
21.2.3. when r equired in terms of clause 21.3 or by any other provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation.

21.3.  The Board shall call a meeting of Shareholders if 1 (one) or more written and signed demands by Shareholders calling for such a 
meeting are delivered to the Company and–
21.3.1. each such demand describes the specific purpose for which the meeting is proposed; and
21.3.2. in aggregate, demands for substantially the same purpose are made and signed by the holders, as of the earliest time 

specified in any of those demands, of at least 10% (ten percent) of the voting rights entitled to be exercised in relation 
to the matter proposed to be considered at the meeting.

21.4.  In addition to other meetings of the Company that may be convened from time to time, the Company shall convene an annual 
general meeting of its Shareholders once in each calendar year, but no more than 15 (fifteen) months after the date of the 
previous annual general meeting.

21.5. Subject to the provisions of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, any such annual general meeting –
21.5.1. shall be capable of being held by Electronic Communication in accordance with the further provisions of this 

Memorandum of Incorporation; and
21.5.2. shall not be capable of being held in accordance with the provisions of section 60 o f the Act set out in clause 26.

21.6. Each annual general meeting of the Co mpany contemplated in clause 21.4 shall provide for at least the following business to be 
transacted –
21.6.1. the presentation of the directors’ report, audited financial statements for the immediately preceding financial year of 

the Company and an audit committee report;
21.6.2. the election of Directors, to the extent requ ired by the Act and by clause 27.8 of this Memorandum of Incorporation;
21.6.3. the appointment of an auditor and an audit committee for the following financial year;
21.6.4. the sanctioning or declaration of distributions; and 
21.6.5. any matters raised by the Shareholders, with or without advance notice to the Company.

21.7. Each annual general meeting of the  Company contemplated in clause 21.4 or any special general meeting of the Company may 
provide for the passing and adoption of special resol utions,  contemplated in clauses 30.1 and 30.4 of this Memorandum of 
Incorporation, relating to the following business –
21.7.1. the settling of Directors’ remuneration for the 2 (two) year period following the annual general meeting or special 

general meeting at which the resolution is approved; and
21.7.2. the granting of financial assistance in terms of section 45 of the Act.

21.8. Save as otherwise provided herein, the Company is not required to hold any other Shareholders’ meetings other than those 
specifically required by the Act and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

21.9. The Board may determine the location of any Shareholders’ meeting, and the Company may hold any such meeting in the 
Republic or in any foreign country, and the authority of the Board and the Company in this regard is not limited or restricted by 
this Memorandum of Incorporation.

21.10. Every Shareholder’s meeting shall be reasonably accessible within the Republic for electronic participation by Shareholders, 
irrespective of whether the meeting is held in the Republic or elsewhere.

21.11. All meetings (whether called for the passing of special or ordinary resolutions) shall be called on not less than 15 (fifteen) 
business days’ notice.

21.12.  The quorum for a Shareholders’ meeting to begin or for a matter to be considered, shall be at least 3 (three) Shareholders entitled 
to attend and vote and present in person. In addition –
21.12.1. a Shareholders’ meeting may not begin until sufficient persons are present at the meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at 

least 25% (twenty five percent) of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised in respect of at least one matter to 
be decided at the meeting; and
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21.12.2. a matter to be decided at a Shareholders’ meeting may not begin to be considered unless sufficient persons are present 
at the meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% (twenty five percent) of all of the voting rights that are entitled to 
be exercised in respect of that matter at the time the matter is called on the agenda. 

21.13.  The time periods specified in sections 64(4) and (5) of the Act apply to the Company without variation and, accordingly, if within 
1 (one) hour after the appointed time for a meeting to  begin, the requirements of clause 21.12 –
21.13.1. for that meeting to begin have not been satisfied, the meeting may be postponed, without any motion, vote or further 

notice, for 1 (one) week;
21.13.2. for consideration of a particular matter to begin have not been satisfied –

21.13.2.1. if there is other business on the agenda of the meeting, consideration of that matter may be postponed to a 
later time in the meeting without any motion or vote; or

21.13.2.2. if there is no other business on the agenda of the meeting, the meeting may be adjourned, without any 
motion or vote, for 1 (one) week, 

 provided that the person intended to chair a meeting that cannot begin due to the operation of clause 21.12 may 
extend the 1 (one) hour limit allowed in clause 21.13 for a reasonable period on the grounds that –
21.13.2.3. exceptional circumstances affecting weather, transportation or Electronic Communication have generally 

impeded or are generally impeding the ability of Shareholders to be present at the meeting; or
21.13.2.4. one or more particular Shareholders, having been delayed, have communicated an intention to attend the 

meeting, and those Shareholders, together with others in attendance, would satisfy the requirements of 
clause 21.12.

21.14. The accidental omission to give notice of any meeting to any particular Shareholder or Shareholders shall not invalidate any 
resolution passed at any such meeting.

21.15. The Company shall not be required to give further notice of a meeting that has been postponed or adjourned in terms of clause 
21.13 unless the location for the meeting is different from –
21.15.1. the location of the postponed or adjourned meeting; or
21.15.2. the location announced at the time of adjournment, in the case of an adjourned meeting.

21.16.  If at the time appointed in terms of clause 21.13 for a postponed meeting to begin, or for an adjourned meeting to resume, 
the requirements of clause 21.12 have not been satisfied, the Shareholders present in person or by proxy will be deemed to 
constitute a quorum.

21.17. No business shall be transacted at the resumption of any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the 
meeting from which the adjournment took place. 

21.18. After a quorum has been established for a meeting, or for a matter to be considered at a meeting, all the Shareholders forming 
part of the quorum must be present at the meeting for the matter to be considered at the meeting. 

21.19. The maximum period allowable for an adjournment of a Shareholders’ meeting is as set out in section 64(12) of the Act, without 
variation.

21.20. The chairperson, if any, of the Board shall preside as chairperson at every Shareholder’s meeting.
21.21.  If there is no such chairperson, or if at any meeting he or she is not present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the time appointed 

for holding the meeting or is unwilling to act as chairperson, the deputy chairman of the Board (or if more than one of them 
is present and willing to act, the most senior of them) shall preside as chairperson, or if no deputy chairperson is present and 
willing to act, the Directors present shall choose 1 (one) of their number to be chairperson.  If no Director is willing to act as 
chairperson or if no Director is present within 15 (fifteen) minutes after the time appointed for commencement of the meeting, 
the Shareholders present shall choose one of their number to be chairperson of the meeting.

21.22. The chairperson of a Shareholders’ meeting may –
21.22.1. appoint any firm or persons to act as scrutineers for the purpose of checking any powers of attorney received and for 

counting the votes at the meeting;
21.22.2. act on a certificate given by any such scrutineers without requiring production at the meeting of the forms of proxy or 

himself counting the votes.
21.23. If any votes were counted which ought not to have been counted or if any votes were not counted which ought to have been 

counted, the error shall not vitiate the resolution, unless –
21.23.1. it is brought to the attention of the chairperson at the meeting; and
21.23.2. in the opinion of the chairperson of the meeting, it is of sufficient magnitude to vitiate the resolution.

21.24. Any objection to the admissibility of any vote (whether on a show of hands or on a poll) shall be raised -
21.24.1. at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to was recorded; or
21.24.2. at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the result of the poll was announced,

 and every vote not then disallowed shall be valid for all purposes.  Any objection made timeously shall be referred to the 
chairperson of the meeting, whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

21.25. Even if he is not a Shareholder –
21.25.1. any Director; or
21.25.2. the company’s attorney  and/or advisors (or where the company’s attorneys and/or advisors are a firm, any partner or 

director thereof),
 may attend and speak at any Shareholders’ meeting, but may not vote, unless he is a Shareholder or the proxy or representative 

of a Shareholder.
21.26. Every shareholder shall be entitled to vote at every general meeting or annual general meeting in person or by proxy.
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22. SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS BY ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION
22.1. Subject to the provisions of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the Company may conduct a Shareholders’ meeting entirely 

by Electronic Communication or provide for participation in a meeting by Electronic Communication, as set out in section 63 of 
the Act, and the power of the Company to do so is not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.  Accordingly –
22.1.1. any Shareholders’ meeting may be conducted entirely by Electronic Communication; or
22.1.2. one or more Shareholders, or proxies for Shareholders, may participate by Electronic Communication in all or part of 

any Shareholders’ meeting that is being held in person,
 so long as the Electronic Communication employed ordinarily enables all persons participating in that meeting to communicate 

concurrently with each other and without an intermediary, and to participate reasonably effectively in the meeting.
22.2. Any notice of any meeting of Shareholders at which it will be possible for Shareholders to participate by way of Electronic 

Communication shall inform Shareholders of the ability to so participate and shall provide any necessary information to enable 
Shareholders or their proxies to access the available medium or means of Electronic Communication, provided that such access 
shall be at the expense of the Shareholder or proxy concerned.

23. VOTES OF SHAREHOLDERS
23.1.  Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached to any Shares by or in accordance with this Memorandum of 

Incorporation, at a meeting of the Company –
23.1.1. every person present and entitled to exercise voting rights shall be entitled to 1 (one) vote on a show of hands, 

irrespective of the number of voting rights that person would otherwise be entitled to exercise;
23.1.2. where the Share capital of the Company has no par value, on a poll any person who is present at the meeting, whether 

as a Shareholder or as proxy for a Shareholder, has the number of votes determined in accordance with the voting 
rights associated with the Securities held by that Shareholder; and

23.1.3. the holders of Securities other than ordinary Shares shall not be entitled to vote on any resolution at a meeting of 
Shareholders, except as provided in clause 23.2.

23.2.  If any resolution is proposed as contemplated in clause 8.4, the holders of such Shares (“Affected Shareholders”) shall be 
entitled to vote at the meeting of ordin ary Shareholders as contemplated in clause 23.1, provided that –
23.2.1. the votes of the Shares of that class held by the Affected Shareholders (“Affected Shares”) shall not carry any special 

rights or privileges and the Affected Shareholder shall be entitled to 1 (one) vote for every Affected Share held; and
23.2.2. the total voting rights of the Affected Shareholders in respect of the Affected Shares shall not be more than 24 99% 

(twenty four coma ninety nine percent) of the total votes (including the votes of the ordinary Shareholders) exercisable 
at that meeting (with any cumulative fraction of a vote in respect of any Affected Shares held by an Affected Shareholder 
rounded down to the nearest whole number). 

23.3.  Voting shall be conducted by means of a polled vote in respect of any matter to be voted on at a meeting of Shareholders if a 
demand is made for such a vote by –
23.3.1. at least 5 (five) persons having the right to vote on that matter, either as Shareholders or as proxies representing 

Shareholders, as set out in section 63(7)(a) of the Act; or
23.3.2. a Shareholder who is, or Shareholders who together are, entitled, as Shareholders or proxies representing Shareholders, 

to exercise at least 10% (ten percent) of the voting rights entitled to be voted on that matter, as set out in section 63(7)
(b) of the Act; or

23.3.3. the chairperson of the meeting.
23.4. At any meeting of the Company a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, unless a poll 

is (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded in accordance with the provisions of clause 23.3, 
and unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or 
carried unanimously or by a particular majority or defeated, and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of the 
proceedings of the Company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes 
recorded in favour of or against such resolution.  The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

23.5. If a poll is duly demanded, it shall be taken in such manner as the chairperson directs, and the result of the poll shall be deemed 
to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.  In computing the majority on the poll, regard shall be had 
to the number of votes to which each Shareholder is entitled.

23.6. In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairperson of the meeting at which the show of 
hands takes place, or at which the poll is demanded, shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote.

23.7. A poll demanded on the election of a chairperson (as contemplated in clause 21.21) or on a question of adjournment shall be 
taken forthwith.  A poll demanded on any other question shall be taken at such time as the chairperson of the meeting directs.  
The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuation of a meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question 
upon which the poll has been demanded.

23.8. Where there are joint registered holders of any Share, any 1 (one) of such persons may exercise all of the voting rights attached to 
that Share at any meeting, either personally or by proxy, as if he or she were solely entitled thereto.  If more than 1 (one) of such 
joint holders is present at any meeting, personally or by proxy, the person so present whose name stands first in the Securities 
Register in respect of such Share shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.

23.9. The board of any company or the controlling body of any other entity or person that holds any Securities of the Company may 
authorise any person to act as its representative at any meeting of Shareholders of the Company, in which event the following 
provisions will apply –
23.9.1. the person so authorised may exercise the same powers of the authorising company, entity or person as it could have 

exercised if it were an individual holder of Shares; and
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23.9.2. the authorising company, entity or person shall lodge a resolution of the directors of such company or controlling 
body of such other entity or person confirming the granting of such authority, and certified under the hand of the 
chairperson or secretary thereof, with the Company before the commencement of any Shareholders’ meeting at which 
such person intends to exercise any rights of such Shareholder, unless excused from doing so by the chairperson of 
such meeting.

24. PROXIES AND REPRESENTATIVES
24.1. Any Shareholder may at any time appoint any natural person (or two or more natural persons concurrently), including a natural 

person who is not a Shareholder, as a proxy to –
24.1.1. participate in, and speak and vote at, a Shareholders’ meeting on behalf of that Shareholder; or
24.1.2. give or withhold written consent on behalf of that Shareholder to a decision contemplated in section 60 of the Act,

 provided that a Shareholder may appoint more than 1 (one) proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different Securities held 
by the Shareholder.

24.2. A proxy appointment –
24.2.1. must be in writing, dated and signed by the Shareholder; and
24.2.2. remains valid for –

24.2.2.1. 2 (two) months after the date on which it was signed; or
24.2.2.2. any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment,

 unless it is revoked in a manner contemplated in the Act or expires earlier as contemplated in the Act.
24.3. The holder of a power of attorney or other written authority from a Shareholder may, if so authorised thereby, represent such 

Shareholder at any meeting of the Company and such holder shall deliver the power of attorney or other written authority (if 
any), or a copy thereof, to the Company before such holder exercises any rights of the Shareholder at a Shareholders’ meeting.

24.4. All of the remaining provisions of the Act relating to the appointment and revocation of proxies and the rights of proxies generally 
shall apply and, in particular –
24.4.1. a Shareholder’s proxy may delegate the proxy’s powers to another person as set out in section 58(3)(b) of the Act;
24.4.2. a Shareholder or his proxy must deliver to the Company a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy not later than 48 

(forty eight) hours excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays in the Republic  before the commencement of the 
meeting at which the proxy intends to exercise that Shareholder’s rights; and

24.4.3. unless the instrument appointing a proxy provides otherwise, a Shareholder’s proxy may decide, without direction 
from the Shareholder, whether to exercise or abstain from exercising any voting right of the Shareholder, as set out in 
section 58(7) of the Act,

 and none of such rights or powers are limited, restricted or varied by this Memorandum of Incorporation.
24.5. Every instrument of proxy shall, as far as circumstances permit, be substantially in the following form, or in such other form as 

the Directors may approve from time to time –

“I/We ......................................................................... being a shareholder of ............................................................Limited do hereby 
appoint .................................................................. or failing him/her ........................................................ or failing him/her, the 
chairperson of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote or abstain from voting on my/our behalf at the meeting of the Company to 
be held at .................................................................... on  ................................................. and at any adjournment thereof as follows:-

 In favour of Against Abstain

Special resolution ............................. ............................. .............................

Ordinary resolution ............................. ............................. .............................

 (Indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in space provided above).  Except as instructed above or if no instructions are 
inserted above, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

SIGNED this ...................... day of ...................................................... in the year of 2012

.....................................................
SHAREHOLDER’S SIGNATURE

(Note – A shareholder entitled to attend, speak and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead, 
and such proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company).”

25. SHAREHOLDERS’ RESOLUTIONS
25.1. For an ordinary resolution to be approved it must be supported by more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights of 

Shareholders exercised on the resolution, as provided in section 65(7) of the Act.
25.2. For a special resolution to be approved it must be supported by the holders of at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the voting 

rights exercised on the resolution, as provided in section 65(9) of the Act. 
25.3. No matters, except –

25.3.1. those matters set out in section 65(11) of the Act; or



MICROmega Holdings Limited – Annual Integrated Report 2011   117

ANNEXURE 1

25.3.2. any other matter required by the Act or this Memorandum of Incorporation to be resolved by means of a special 
resolution; or

25.3.3. for so long as the Company’s securities are listed on the JSE, any other matter required by the JSE Limited Listings 
Requirements to be resolved by means of a special resolution in terms of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements,

 require a special resolution adopted at a Shareholders’ meeting of the Company.
25.4. In the event that any Shareholder abstains from voting in respect of any resolution, such Shareholder will, for the purposes of 

determining the number of votes exercised in respect of that resolution, be deemed not to have exercised a vote in respect thereof.

26. SHAREHOLDERS ACTING OTHER THAN AT     A MEETING
26.1. In accordance with the provisions  of section 60 of the Act, but subject to clause 26.4, a resolution that could be  voted on at a 

Shareholders’ meeting (other than in respect of the election of Directors) may instead be – 
26.1.1. submitted by the Board for consideration to the Shareholders entitled to exercise the voting rights in relation to the 

resolution; and
26.1.2. voted on in writing by such Shareholders within a period of 20 (twenty) business days after the resolution was submitted 

to them.
26.2. A resolution contemplated in clause 26.1–

26.2.1. will have been adopted if  it is supported by persons entitled to exercise sufficient voting rights for it to have been 
adopted as an ordinary or special resolution, as the case may be, at a properly constituted Shareholders’ meeting; and

26.2.2. if adopted, will have the same effect as if it had been approved by voting at a meeting.
26.3. Within 10 (ten) business days after adopting a resolution in accordance with the procedures provided in this clause 26, the 

Company shall deliver a  statement describing the results of the vote, consent process, or election to every Shareholder who was 
entitled to vote on or consent to the resolution.

26.4. The provisions of this clause 26  shall not apply to any Shar eholder meetings that are called for in terms of the JSE Limited 
Listings Requirements (which for the avoidance of any doubt, must be held in person) or the passing of any resolution in terms 
of clause 27.2 or to any annual general  meeting of the Company. 

27. COMPOSITION AND POWERS OF THE BOA RD OF DIRECTORS
27.1. The Board must comprise at least 4 (four) Directors (which shall include the minimum number of directors that the Company 

must have to satisfy any requirement in terms of the Act, to appoint an audit committee and a social and ethics committee (to 
the extent that an exemption has not been granted by the Tribunal as contemplated in clause 34.3)) and shall not compris e more 
than 20 (twenty) Directors. 

27.2. Subject to clause 27.10.1, all Di rectors shal l be elected by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at a general or annual 
general meeting of the Company and no appointment of a Director in accordance with a resolution passed in terms of section 
60 of the Act shall be competent. 

27.3. Every person holding office as a Director, prescribed officer, company secretary or auditor of the Company immediately before 
the effective date of the Act will, as contemplated in item 7(1) of Schedule 5 to the Act, continue to hold that office.

27.4. In any election of Directors –
27.4.1. the election is to be conducted as a series of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of a single individual to fill a single 

vacancy, with the series of votes continuing until all vacancies on the Board have been filled; and
27.4.2. in each vote to fill a vacancy –

27.4.2.1. each vote entitled to be exercised may be exercised once; and
27.4.2.2. the vacancy is filled only if a majority of the votes exercised support the candidate.

27.5. The Company shall only have elected Directors and there shall be no appointed or ex offıcio Directors as contemplated in section 
66(4) of the Act.

27.6. Apart from satisfying the qualification and eligibility requirements set out in section 69 of the Act, a person need not satisfy any 
eligibility requirements or qualifications to become or remain a Director or a prescribed officer of the Company.

27.7. A Director shall cease to hold office as such if he:
27.7.1. is prohibited from being, is removed as or is disqualified from acting as a director of a company in terms of the Act;
27.7.2. absents himself from meetings of the Board for six consecutive months without the leave of the other Directors, and 

they resolve that his office shall be vacated, provided that this provision shall not apply to a Director who is represented 
by an alternate Director who does not so absent himself; or

27.7.3. is removed by an ordinary resolution adopted at a general meeting by persons entitled to exercise voting rights in an 
election of that director, in accordance with the provisions of section 71 of the Act.

27.8. No Director shall be appointed fo r life or for an indefinite period and the Directors shall rotate in accordance with the following 
provisions of this clause 27.8 – 
27.8.1. at each annual gen eral meeting referred to in clause 21.4, 1/3 (one third) of  the Directors for the time being, or if their 

number is not 3 (three) or a multiple of 3 (three), the number nearest to 1/3 (one third), but not less than 1/3 (one 
third), shall retire from office, provided that if a Director is appointed as managing Director or as an employee of the 
Company in any other capacity, he or she shall not, while he or she continues to hold that position or office, be subject 
to retirement by rotation and he or she shall not, in such case, be taken into account in determining the rotation or 
retirement of Directors; 

27.8.2. the Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election, but as 
between persons who were elected as Directors on the same day, those to retire shall, unless they otherwise agree 
among themselves, be determined by lot;
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27.8.3. a retiring Director may be re-elected, provided he is eligible for election; 
27.8.4. the Company, at the general meeting at which a Director retires in the above manner, or at any other general meeting, 

may fill the vacancy by electing a person thereto, provided that the Company shall not be entitled to fill the vacancy by 
means of a resolution passed in accordance with clause 26; 

27.8.5. if at any meeting at which an election of Directors ought to take place the offices of the retiring Directors are not filled, 
unless it is expressly resolved not to fill such vacancies, the meeting shall stand adjourned and the further provisions 
of this Memorandum of Incorporation, including clauses 21.13 to 21.16 (inclusi ve) will  apply mutatis mutandis to such 
adjournment, and if at such adjourned meeting the vacancies are not filled, the retiring Directors, or such of them as 
have not had their offices filled, shall be deemed to have been re-elected at such adjourned meeting.

27.9. The Board shall, through its nomination committee( if so constituted in terms of clause 34), provide the Shar eholders with a 
recommendation in the notice of the meeting at which the re-election of a retiring Director is proposed, as to which retiring 
Directors are eligible for re-election, taking into account that Director’s past performance and contribution. Sufficient time 
shall be allowed between the date of such notice and the date of the general meeting or annual general meeting at which the 
re-election of the Director is to be proposed to allow nominations to reach the Company’s office from any part in the Republic. 

27.10. The Board has the power to –
27.10.1. fill any vacancy on the Board on  a temporary basis, as set out in section 68(3) of the Act, provided that such appointment 

must be confirmed by the Shareholders, in accordance with clause 24.2, at the next annual general meeting of the 
Company, as required in terms of section 70(3)(b)(i) of the Act; and 

27.10.2. exercise all of the powers and perform any of the functions of the Company, as set out in section 66(1) of the Act,
 and the powers of the Board in this regard are only limited and restricted as contemplated in this clause 27.
27.11. The Directors may at any time and from time to time by power of attorney appoint any person or persons to be the attorney 

or attorneys and agent(s) of the Company for such purposes and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding 
those vested in or exercisable by the Directors in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation) and for such period and subject 
to such conditions as the Directors may from time to time think fit.  Any such appointment may, if the Directors think fit, 
be made in favour of any company, the shareholders, directors, nominees or managers of any company or firm, or otherwise 
in favour of any fluctuating body of persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Directors.  Any such power of 
attorney may contain such provisions for the protection or convenience of persons dealing with such attorneys and agents as 
the Directors think fit.  Any such attorneys or agents as aforesaid may be authorised by the Directors to sub-delegate all or any 
of the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in them.

27.12. Save as otherwise expressly provided herein, all cheques, promissory notes, bills of exchange and other negotiable or transferable 
instruments, and all documents to be executed by the Company, shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or executed, as the 
case may be, in such manner as the Directors shall from time to time determine.

27.13. All acts performed by the Directors or by a committee of Directors or by any person acting as a Director or a member of a 
committee shall, notwithstanding that it shall afterwards be discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of the 
Directors or persons acting as aforesaid, or that any of them were disqualified from or had vacated office, be as valid as if every 
such person had been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a Director or member of such committee.

27.14. If the number of Directors falls  below the minimum number fixed in accordance with this Memorandum of Incorporation, the 
remaining Directors must as soon as possible and in any event not later than 3 (three) months from the date that the number 
falls below such minimum, fill the vacancy/ies in accordance with clause 27.10.1 or convene  a general meeting for the purpose 
of filling the vacancies, and the failure by the Company to have the minimum number of Directors during the said 3 (three) 
month period does not limit or negate the authority of the board of Directors or invalidate anything done by the board of 
Directors while their number is below the minimum number fixed in accordance with this Memorandum of Incorporation. 

27.15. The Directors in office may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but if after the expiry of the 3 (three) month period 
contemplated in clause 27.14, their numbe r remains below the minimum number fixed in accordance with this Memorandum 
of Incorporation, they may, for as long as their number is reduced below such minimum, act only for the purpose of filling 
vacancies in their body in terms of section 68(3) of the Act or of summoning general meetings of the Company, but not for any 
other purpose. 

27.16. A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (except that of auditor) or any subsidiary of the 
Company in conjunction with the office of Director, for such period and on such terms as to remuneration (in addition to the 
remuneration to which he may be entitled as a Director) and otherwise as a disinterested quorum of the Directors may determine. 

27.17. A Director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise interested in, any company promoted 
by the Company or in which the Company may be interested as shareholder or otherwise, provided that the appointment and 
remuneration in respect of such other office must be determined by a disinterested quorum of Directors. 

27.18. No Director or alternate Director shall be obliged to hold any qualification shares.
27.19. Each Director and each alternate Director, prescribed officer and member of any committee of the Board (whether or not such 

latter persons are also members of the Board) shall, subject to the exemptions contained in section 75(2) of the Act and the 
qualifications contained in section 75(3) of the Act, comply with all of the provisions of section 75 of the Act in the event that they 
(or any person who is a related person to them) has a personal financial interest in any matter to be considered by the Board.

27.20. Each Director may by notice to the Company nominate any one or more other person in the alternative (including any of his 
co-Directors) to be his alternate, subject to the approval of the other Directors of that alternate, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  Each Director may at any time terminate the appointment of such alternate by notice to the Company.

27.21. The appointment of an alternate Director shall terminate:
27.21.1. when the Director to whom he is an alternate Director ceases to be a Director or terminates his appointment; or
27.21.2. if the Directors reasonably withdraw their approval to his appointment.
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27.22. An alternate Director shall:
27.22.1. only be entitled to attend, act or vote at a meeting of the Board if the Director to whom he is an alternate is not present, 

provided that:
27.22.1.1. he may attend a meeting of the Board at which the Director to whom he is an alternate is present if the other 

Directors agree thereto; 
27.22.1.2. any person attending any meeting of the Board as a Director in his own right and/or as an alternate for one or 

more of the Directors shall have one vote in respect of each Director whom he represents, including himself 
if he is a Director;

27.22.2. only be entitled to sign a resolution passed otherwise than at a meeting of the Board in terms of the Memorandum 
of Incorporation if the Director to whom he is an alternate is then absent from the town in which the offices of the 
Company are situate or is incapacitated;

27.22.3. subject to the aforegoing, generally exercise all the rights of the Director to whom he is an alternate in the absence or 
incapacity of that Director; and

27.22.4. in all respects be subject to the terms and conditions existing with reference to the appointment, rights, duties and 
holding of office of the Director to whom he is an alternate, but shall not have any claim of any nature whatever against 
the Company for any remuneration of any nature whatsoever.

28. POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS
28.1. Subject to any limitation imposed by the Memorandum of Incorporation, the management of the Company shall be vested 

in the directors who, in addition to and without limitation of the powers expressly conferred upon them by the Act or the 
Memorandum of Incorporation, may exercise or delegate to any one or more persons all such powers and do or delegate to any 
one or more persons the doing of all such acts (including the right to sub-delegate) as may be exercised or done by the Company 
and are not in terms of the Act or the Memorandum of Incorporation expressly directed ore required to be exercised or done by 
a general meeting, subject nevertheless , to that management or control not being inconsistent with, and being in compliance 
with any resolution passed by a general meeting.  No such resolution passed by a general meeting shall invalidate any prior act 
of the Directors or delegatee.

29. DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
29.1. Save as may be provided otherwise herein, the Directors may meet together for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise 

regulate their meetings as they think fit.
29.2. The Directors may elect a chairperson and a deputy chairperson and determine the period for which each is to hold office.  

The chairperson, or in his absence the deputy chairperson, shall be entitled to preside over all meetings of Directors.  If no 
chairperson or deputy chairperson is elected, or if at any meeting neither is present or willing to act as chairperson thereof 
within 10 (ten) minutes of the time appointed for holding the meeting, the Directors present shall choose 1 (one) of their number 
to be chairperson of such meeting.  

29.3. In addition to the provisions of section 73(1) of the Act, any Director shall at any time be entitled to call a meeting of the Directors.
29.4. The Board has the power to –

29.4.1. consider any matter and/or adopt any resolution other than at a meeting contemplated in section 74 of the Act and, 
accordingly, any decision that could be voted on at a meeting of the Board may instead be adopted by the written 
consent of a majority of the Directors, given in person or by Electronic Communication, provided that each Director 
has received notice of the matter to be decided.  Such resolution, inserted in the minute book, shall be as valid and 
effective as if it has been passed at a meeting of directors.  Any such resolution may consist of several documents and 
shall be deemed to have been passed on the date on which it was signed by the last director who signed it (unless a 
statement to the contrary is made in that resolution); 

29.4.2. conduct a meeting entirely by Electronic Communication, or to provide for participation in a meeting by Electronic 
Communication, as set out in section 73(3) of the Act, provided that, as required by such section, the Electronic 
Communication facility employed ordinarily enables all persons participating in the meeting to communicate 
concurrently with each other without an intermediary and to participate reasonably effectively in the meeting; 

29.4.3. determine the manner and form of providing notice of its meetings contemplated in section 73(4) of the Act, provided 
that –
29.4.3.1. the notice period for the conveni ng of any meeting of the Board will be at least 7 (seven) days unless the 

decision of the Directors is required on an urgent basis which justifies a shorter period of notice, in which 
event the meeting may be called on shorter notice.  The decision of the chairperson of the Board, or failing 
the chairperson for any reason, the decision of any (two) directors as to whether a matter should be decided 
on an urgent basis, and the period of notice to be given, shall be final and binding on the directors;

29.4.3.2. an agenda of the matters to be di scussed at the meeting shall be given to each Director, together with the 
notice referred to in clause 29.4.3.1; 

29.4.4. proceed with a meeting despite a failure or defect in giving notice of the meeting, as provided in section 73(5) of the 
Act, 

and the powers of the Board in respect of the above matters are not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.
29.5. The quorum requirement for a Directors’ meeting (including an adjourned meeting), the voting rights at such a meeting, and the 

requirements for approval of a resolution at such a meeting are as set out in section 73(5) of the Act, subject only to clause 29.5.5, 
and accordingly –
29.5.1. if all of the Directors of the Company –
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29.5.1.1. acknowledge actual receipt of the notice convening a meeting; or
29.5.1.2. are present at a meeting; or
29.5.1.3. waive notice of a meeting,

 the meeting may proceed even if the Company failed to give the required notice of that meeting or there was a defect 
in the giving of the notice;

29.5.2. a majority of the Directors must be present at a meeting before a vote may be called at any meeting of the Directors;
29.5.3. each Director has 1 (one) vote on a matter before the Board;
29.5.4. a majority of the votes cast in favour of a resolution is sufficient to approve that resolution;
29.5.5. in the case of a tied vote –

29.5.5.1. the  chairperson may not cast a deciding vote in addition to any deliberative vote; and
29.5.5.2. the matter being voted on fails. 

29.6. Resolutions adopted by the Board –
29.6.1. must be dated and sequentially numbered; and
29.6.2. are effective as of the date of the resolution, unless any resolution states otherwise.

29.7. Any minutes of a meeting, or a resolution, signed by the chairperson of the meeting, or by the chairperson of the next meeting 
of the Board, are evidence of the proceedings of that meeting, or the adoption of that resolution, as the case may be.

29.8. Minutes of all board meetings, resolutions and directors’ declarations shall be kept in accordance with the provisions of section 
24 of the Act.

30. DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
30.1. The Company may pay remuneration  to the Directors for their services as Directors in accordance with a special resolution 

approved by the Shareholders within the previous 2 (two) years, as set out in sections 66(8) and (9) of the Act, and the power of 
the Company in this regard is not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

30.2. Any Director who –
30.2.1. serves on any executive or other committee; or
30.2.2. devotes special attention to the business of the Company; or
30.2.3. goes or resides outside South Africa for the purpose of the Company; or
30.2.4. otherwise performs or binds himself to perform services which, in the opinion of the Directors, are outside the scope 

of the ordinary duties of a Director,
 may be paid such extra remuneration or allowances in addition to or in substitution of the remuneration to which he may be 

entitled as a Director, as a disinterested quorum of the Directors may from time to time determine. 
30.3. The Directors may also be paid all their travelling and other expenses necessarily incurred by them in connection with –

30.3.1. the business of the Company; and
30.3.2. attending meetings of the Directors or of committees of the Directors of the Company. 

30.4. The Board may, as contemplated in  and subject to the requirements of section 45 of the Act, authorise the Company to provide 
financial assistance to a Director, prescribed officer or other person referred to in section 45(2) of the Act, and the power of the 
Board in this regard is not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

31. MANAGING DIRECTOR
31.1. The Directors may from time to time appoint 1 (one) or more of their body to the office of managing Director for such term and 

at such remuneration as they may think fit (subject only to the requirements of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Act, and may revoke 
such appointment subject to the terms of any agreement entered into in any particular case, provided that the period of office 
of a managing Director appointed in terms of an agreement shall be for a maximum period of 5 (five) years at any one time.  A 
Director so appointed shall be subject to retirement in the same manner as the other Directors except during the period of his 
agreement, and his appointment shall terminate if he ceases for any reason to be a Director.

31.2. Subject to the provisions of any contract between himself and the Company, a managing Director shall be subject to the same 
provisions as to disqualification and removal as the other Directors of the Company.

31.3. The Directors may from time to time entrust to and confer upon a managing Director for the time being such of the powers 
exercisable in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation by the Directors as they may think fit, and may confer such powers 
for such time and to be exercised for such objects and purposes, and upon such terms and conditions, and with such restrictions, 
as they think expedient; and they may confer such powers either collaterally with or to the exclusion of and in substitution for all 
or any of the powers of the Directors in that behalf, and may from time to time revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of such 
powers.

32. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
32.1. The Company may –

32.1.1. advance expense s to a Director or directly or indirectly indemnify a Director in respect of the defence of legal 
proceedings, as set out in section 78(4) of the Act;

32.1.2. indemnify a Director in respect of liability as set out in section 78(5) of the Act; and/or
32.1.3. purchase insurance to protect the Company or a Director as set out in section 78(7) of the Act,
 and the power of the Company in this regard is not limited, restricted or extended by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

32.2. The provisions of clause 32.1 shall apply mutatis mutandis in respect of any former Director, prescribed officer or member of any 
committee of the Board, including the audit committee.
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33. BORROWING POWERS
33.1. The Directors may from time to ti me exercise all of the powers of the Company to –

33.1.1. borrow for the purposes of the Company such sums as they think fit; and
33.1.2. secure the payment or repayment of any such sums, or any other sum, as they think fit, whether by the creation and 

issue of Securities, mortgage or charge upon all or any of the property or assets of the Company.
33.2. For the purposes of clause 33.1, the borr owing powers of the Company shall be unlimited.

34. COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
34.1. The Board  may –

34.1.1. appoint committees of Directors and delegate to any such committee any of the authority of the Board as contemplated 
in section 72(1) of the Act; and/or

34.1.2. include in any such committee persons who are not Directors, as contemplated in section 72(2)(a) of the Act,
 and the power of the Board in this regard is not limited or restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.
34.2. The authority of a committee appointed by the Board as contemplated in sections 72(2)(b) and (c) of the Act is not limited or 

restricted by this Memorandum of Incorporation.
34.3. If and for as long as it is requi red to do so in terms of the Act or the Regulations and unless the Company is exempted from doing 

so by the Tribunal in terms of section 72(5) of the Act, the Board must appoint a social and ethics committee having the powers 
and functions prescribed in terms of section 72 of the Act and the Regulations.

34.4. If and for as long as any of the Company’s Securities are listed on the JSE, the Board shall appoint such Board committees as are 
required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, having such functions and powers as are prescribed by or in terms of the JSE 
Limited Listings Requirements.

34.5. The Company must further appoint an audit committee in the manner and for the purposes set out in Part D of Chapter 3 of the 
Act.

35. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
35.1. The Company shall keep all such accurate and complete accounting records, in English, as are necessary to enable the Company 

to satisfy its obligations in terms of –
35.1.1. the Act;
35.1.2. the Regulations;
35.1.3. any other law with respect to the preparation of financial statements to which the Company may be subject; and
35.1.4. this Memorandum of Incorporation.

35.2. The Company shall each year prepare annual financial statements within 6 (six) months after the end of its financial year, or 
such shorter period as may be appropriate to provide the required notice of an annual general meeting in terms of section 61(7) 
of the Act.

35.3. The Company shall appoint an auditor each year at its annual general meeting.  If the Company appoints a firm as its auditor, 
any change in the composition of the members of that firm shall not by itself create a vacancy in the office of auditor.

35.4. The annual financial statements of the Company must be prepared and audited in accordance with the provisions of section 30 
of the Act.

35.5. A copy of the annual financial statements must be sent to Shareholders, alternatively a notice of the publication of the annual 
financial statements setting out the required steps to obtain a copy of the annual financial statements may be sent to Shareholders 
by Electronic Communication at least 15 (fifteen) business days before the date of the annual general meeting of the Company 
at which such annual financial statements will be considered. 

35.6. The annual financial statements shall be prepared on a basis that is not inconsistent with any unalterable or non-elective 
provision of the Act and shall –
35.6.1. satisfy, as to form and content, the financial reporting standards of IFRS; and
35.6.2. subject to and in accordance with IFRS –

35.6.2.1. present fairly the state of affairs and business of the Company and explain the transactions and financial 
position of the business of the Company;

35.6.2.2. show the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity, as well as its income and expenses;
35.6.2.3. set out the date on which the statements were produced and the accounting period to which they apply; and
35.6.2.4. bear on the first page thereof a prominent notice indicating that the annual financial statements have been 

audited and the name and professional designation of the person who prepared them.

36. COMPANY SECRETARY
36.1. The Company must appoint a company secretary.
36.2. The company secretary must have the requisite knowledge of, or experience with, relevant laws and be a permanent resident of 

the Republic.
36.3. The Board must fill any vacancy in the office of company secretary within 60 (sixty) business days after such vacancy arises by a 

person whom the Directors consider to have the requisite knowledge and experience.

37. DISTRIBUTIONS
37.1. Subject to the provisions of the Act, and particularly section 46, the Company may make a proposed distribution if such 

distribution –
37.1.1. is pursuant to an existing legal obligation of the Company, or a court order; or
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37.1.2. is authorised by resolution of the Board, 
 and in compliance with the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. 
37.2. No payments to Shareholders may be made on the basis that the payment may be called up again by the Company.  
37.3. No distribution shall bear interest against the Company, except as otherwise provided under the conditions of issue of the Shares 

in respect of which such distribution is payable.
37.4. Distributions may be declared either free of or subject to the deduction of income tax and any other tax or duty in respect of 

which the Company may be chargeable.
37.5. The Directors may from time to time declare and pay to the Shareholders such interim distributions as the Directors consider to 

be appropriate.
37.6. No larger distribution shall be declared by the Company in general meeting than is recommended by the Directors, but the 

Company in general meeting may declare a smaller distribution. 
37.7. All unclaimed distributions will be held by or on behalf of the Company for the benefit of the Shareholder concerned until 

claimed, provided that distributions unclaimed for a period of 3 (three) years from the date on which they were declared may be 
declared forfeited by the Board for the benefit of the Company.  The Directors may at any time annul such forfeiture upon such 
conditions (if any) as they think fit. All unclaimed monies, other than distributions, that are due to any Shareholder/s shall be 
held by the Company in trust for an indefinite period until lawfully claimed by such Shareholder/s. 

37.8. Any distribution, interest or other sum payable in cash to the holder of a Share may be paid by cheque or warrant sent by post 
and addressed to –
37.8.1. the holder at his registered address; or
37.8.2. in the case of joint holders, the holder whose name appears first in the Securities Register in respect of the share, at his 

registered address; or
37.8.3. such person and at such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct.

37.9. Every such cheque or warrant shall -
37.9.1. be made payable to the order of the person to whom it is addressed; and
37.9.2. be sent at the risk of the holder or joint holders.

37.10. The Company shall not be responsible for the loss in transmission of any cheque or warrant or of any document (whether similar 
to a cheque or warrant or not) sent by post as aforesaid.

37.11. A holder or any one of two or more joint holders, or his or their agent duly appointed in writing, may give valid receipts for any 
distributions or other moneys paid in respect of a Share held by such holder or joint holders.

37.12. When such cheque or warrant is paid, it shall discharge the Company of any further liability in respect of the amount concerned.
37.13. A distribution may also be paid in any other way determined by the Directors, and if the directives of the Directors in that regard 

are complied with, the Company shall not be liable for any loss or damage which a Shareholder may suffer as a result thereof.
37.14. Without detracting from the ability of the Company to issue capitalisation Shares, any distribution may be paid wholly or in 

part –
37.14.1. by the distribution of specific assets; or
37.14.2. by the issue of Shares, debentures or securities of the Company or of any other company; or
37.14.3. in cash; or
37.14.4. in any other way which the Directors or the Company in general meeting may at the time of declaring the distribution 

determine.
37.15. Where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution, the Directors may settle that difficulty as they think expedient, and in 

particular may fix the value which shall be placed on such specific assets on distribution.
37.16. The Directors may –

37.16.1. determine that cash payments shall be made to any Shareholder on the basis of the value so fixed in order to secure 
equality of distribution; and

37.16.2. vest any such assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the persons entitled to the distribution as the 
Directors deem expedient.

37.17. Any distribution must be made payable to Shareholders registered as at a date subsequent to the date of declaration thereof or 
the date of confirmation thereof, whichever is the later date. 

38. RESERVES
38.1. Prior to authorising any  dividends, the Board may set aside out of the amount available for distribution as dividends such sum 

as it deems proper as a reserve fund or as an addition thereto.
38.2. The Board may divide reserve funds into special funds as it deems fit, with the full power to employ the assets constituting such 

reserve funds in the business of the company, or may invest the assets upon such investments as they deem fit (other than shares 
in the company) without being liable to the Company for any loss or depreciation as a consequence of such investment whether 
the same be usual or authorised investments for trust funds or not.  

38.3. The reserve funds contemplated in this clause 38 shall, at  the discretion of the Board, be available for the equalisation of 
dividends, making provision for exceptional losses, expenses or contingencies, the extension or development of the Company’s 
business, writing down the value of any assets of the Company, repairing, maintaining or improving any buildings, plant or 
equipment connected with the business of the Company, or to cover any loss or depreciation in the value of any property owned 
by the Company as a result of fair wear and tear or any other reasonable depreciation, or any other purpose for which the profits 
of the business of the Company may reasonably be applied.  The Board may at any time divide among the Shareholders any 
part of the reserve funds which, in its discretion, is not required for such purposes, by way of bonus, special dividends and/or 
distributions.  
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39. COMPANY AND ACCOUNTING RECORDS
All records of the company contemplated in section 24 of the Act and all accounting records contemplated in section 28 of the Act, shall 
be kept and maintained, and shall be accessible at or from the registered office of the Company (sections 25 and 28(2)).

40. ACCESS TO COMPANY RECORDS
40.1. Each person who holds or has a be neficial interest in any Securities issued by the Company is entitled to inspect and copy, 

without any charge for any such inspection or upon payment of no more than the prescribed maximum charge for any such 
copy, the information contained in the records of the Company referred to in section 26(1) of the Act, being –
40.1.1. this Memorandum of Incorporation, and any amendments or alterations thereof;
40.1.2. a record of the Directors, including the details of any person who has served as a Director, for a period of 7 (seven) years 

after that person has ceased to serve as a Director, and any information relating to such persons referred to in section 
24(5) of the Act;

40.1.3. all –
40.1.3.1. reports presented at an annual general meeting of the Company for a period of 7 (seven) years after the date 

of any such meeting; and
40.1.3.2. annual financial statements required by the Act for a period of 7 (seven) years after the date on which each 

such particular statements were issued;
40.1.4. notice and minutes of all Shareholders’ meetings, including –

40.1.4.1. all resolutions adopted by them, for 7 (seven) years after the date each such resolution was adopted; and
40.1.4.2. any document that was made available by the Company to the holders of Securities in relation to each such 

resolution;
40.1.5. any written communications sent generally by the Company to all holders of any class of the Company’s Securities, for 

a period of 7 (seven) years after the date on which each of such communications was issued; and
40.1.6. the Securities Register.

40.2. A person not contemplated in clause 40.1 has a r ight to inspect the Securities Register and the register of Directors of the 
Company upon payment of an amount not exceeding the prescribed maximum fee, as set out in the Act, for any such inspection.

40.3. A person who wishes to inspect the Uncertificated Securities Register may do so only through the Company in terms of section 
26 of the Act, and in accordance with the rules of the Central Securities Depository. Within 5 (five) business days after the date of 
a request for inspection, the Company must produce a record of the Uncertificated Securities Register, which record must reflect 
at least the details referred to in section 50(3)(b) of the Act at the close of business on the day on which the request for inspection 
was made.

41. RATIFICATION OF ULTRA VIRES ACTS
Unless otherwise agreed with the JSE, the ratification of the Company’s actions as provided for in sections 20(2) and 20(6) of the Act is 
prohibited to the extent that such ratification is contrary to the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.  

42. PAYMENT OF COMMISSION
42.1. The Company may pay a commission at a rate not exceeding 10% (ten percent) of the issue price of a Share to any person in 

consideration of his subscribing or agreeing to subscribe, whether absolutely or conditionally, for any Shares of the Company or 
for procuring or agreeing to procure, whether absolutely or conditionally, subscriptions for any Shares of the Company. 

42.2. Commission may be paid out of capital or profits, whether current or accumulated, or partly out of the one and partly out of the 
other.

42.3. Such commission may be paid in cash or, if authorised by the Company in general meeting, by the allotment of fully or partly 
paid-up Shares, or partly in one way and partly in the other.

42.4. The Company may, subject to the provisions of the Act, pay interest on any shares issued for the purposes of raising money to 
defray the expenses of works or buildings or for the provision of a plant.

42.5. The Company may, on any issue of Shares, pay such brokerage as may be lawful.

43. NOTICES
43.1. All notices shall be given by the Company to each Shareholder of the Company and simultaneously to the Issuer Services 

Division of the JSE, and shall be given in writing in any manner authorised by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and the 
Regulations, and particularly Table CR 3 annexed to the Regulations.  All notices shall, in addition to the above, be released 
through SENS provided that, in the event that the Shares or other Securities of the Company are not listed on the JSE, all the 
provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation relating to the publication of notices via SENS shall no longer apply and such 
notices shall thereafter only be published in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

43.2. Any notice of a general meeting shall state the place, day and hour of, and the nature of the business to be transacted at the 
general meeting.

43.3. The notice period required prior to a general meeting convened for the purpose of appointing a new Director must be such 
to provide sufficient time after receipt of the notice, for nominations to reach the offices of the Company from any part of the 
Republic.  

43.4. Each Shareholder of the Company –
43.4.1. shall notify in writing to the Company an address, which address shall be his registered address for the purposes of 

receiving written notices from the Company by post and if he has not named such an address he shall be deemed to 
have waived his right to be so served with notices; and
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43.4.2. may notify in writing to the Company an email address and/or facsimile number, which address shall be his address 
for the purposes of receiving notices by way of Electronic Communication. 

43.5. Any Shareholder whose address in the Securities Register is an address not within South Africa shall be entitled to have notices 
served upon him at such address. 

43.6. In the case of joint holders of a Share, all notices shall, unless such holders otherwise in writing request and the Directors agree, 
be given to that Shareholder whose name appears first in the Securities Register and a notice so given shall be deemed sufficient 
notice to all the joint holders.

43.7. Any notice sent by any means permitted in Table CR 3 annexed to the Regulations shall be deemed to have been delivered as 
provided for that method of delivery in such Table.

43.8. Every person who by operation of law, transfer or other means whatsoever becomes entitled to any Share, shall be bound by 
every notice in respect of that Share which, previously to his name and address being entered in the Securities Register, was 
given to the person from whom he derives his title to such Share.

43.9. Any notice or document delivered or sent by post to or left at the registered address of any Shareholder in pursuance of this 
Memorandum of Incorporation shall, notwithstanding that such Shareholder was then deceased, and whether or not the 
Company has notice of his death, be deemed to have been duly served in respect of any Shares, whether held solely or jointly 
with other persons by such Shareholder, until some other person be registered in his stead as the sole or joint holder thereof, 
and such service shall for all purposes of this Memorandum of Incorporation be deemed a sufficient service of such notice or 
document on his heirs, executors or administrators, and all persons (if any) jointly interested with him in any such Shares.

44. AMENDMENT OF THE MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION
44.1. Every provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation is capable of amendment in accordance with sections 16, 17 and 

152(6)(b) of the Act.  There is accordingly no provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation which may not be amended as 
contemplated in sections 15(2)(b) and (c) of the Act.

44.2. This Memorandum of Incorporation  may only be altered or amended-
44.2.1. in compliance with a court order as contemplated in section 16(1)(c) of the Act and in the manner set out in section 

16(4) of the Act; or
44.2.2. by way of special resolution of the Shareholders in compliance with the provisions of section 16(1)(c) of the Act, read 

with the provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation and the remaining provisions of the Act. 
44.3. In the circumstances where the Memorandum of Incorporation is proposed to be amended to remove or eliminate a specific 

inconsistency or contravention of – 
44.3.1. the Act, which provision of this Memorandum of Incorporation is void in terms of section 15(1)(b) or could be declared 

void by a court of law in terms of section 218(1); and/or
44.3.2. any shareholders agreement;

 the shareholders undertake not to object to that amendment on the grounds contemplated in section 164(2)(a) or demand that 
the company pay the shareholder fair value for all of the shares held by that person, in terms of section 164 of the Act.  

44.4. Save as set out in clauses 44.2 above,  this Memorandum of Incorporation is not capable of amendment by any other method.  The 
provisions of section 16(1)(b) shall accordingly not apply to this Memorandum of Incorporation, nor shall any other alterable 
provisions of the Act which permit a method of altering or amending the Memorandum of Incorporation not set out in clause 
44.2 above , apply to this Memorandum of Incorporation.

44.5. An amendment of this Memorandum of Incorporation will take effect from the later of –
44.5.1. the date on, and time at, which the Commission accepts the filing of the notice of amendment contemplated in section 

16(7) of the Act; and
44.5.2. the date, if any, set out in the said notice of amendment,

 save in the case of an amendment that changes the name of the Company, which will take effect from the date set out in the 
amended registration certificate issued by the Commission.

44.6. Notices of general meetings and annual general meetings shall be delivered to all Shareholders in compliance with section 62(1) 
of the Act.

45. COMPANY RULES
The Board is prohibited from making, amending or repealing any rules as contemplated in section 15(3) of the Act and the Board’s capacity 
to make, amend or repeal such rules is hereby excluded. 
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